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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (THE “GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, include particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Creative
China Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024.

OVERVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Year 2024”), the
Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB151.1
million. Revenue decreased by 18.2% over approximately
RMB184.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(“Year 2023”). The Group recorded profit attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately RMB24.4
million, representing a decrease of approximately 44.4% as
comparing to approximately RMB43.9 million in Year 2023.
The profit in Year 2024 was primarily attributable to sales of
script copyrights.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s equity attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately
RMB307.7 million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
RMB261.8 million).

REVIEW

In 2024, the world continues to be turbulent, and
regional conflicts continue. Facing the complex external
environment, China’s economy has made steady progress
and continues to improve.

The Group continues to utilize its own resources to develop
original creation, planning, licensing and other related
businesses in the film and television industry chain, and
successfully sold the copyrights of multiple film and serial
program scripts. The Group also completed fans meetings
with Korean stars in Taipei during the period. During the
year, the Group’s live streaming e-commerce business
continues to launch a number of live streaming e-commerce
broadcasting on Douyin with in-depth cooperation with
merchant. In terms of artist management business, income
from promotion and endorsement activities was being
generated during the period.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRS

OUTLOOK

Our Group’s businesses mainly focuses on the
entertainment and media market of Mainland China.
The Group had been producing television and online
broadcasting program content in Mainland China since
its establishment and has extensive experience in content
creation. We currently provide one-stop production services
within the entire program production process according
to customers’ needs, including overall management and
coordination on pre-production planning, creativity, editing,
and promotion.

The Group has worked closely with experienced
professionals in the film and television industry as well as
leveraging our experience and related resources, in order to
obtain more potential resources and reserves of television
programs, online dramas and fims.

The Group has been providing planning, hosting,
organising and/or managing events services, including
organising numerous celebrity concerts in Hong Kong,
Taipei, Bangkok and other Southeast Asian regions for
artists including Wilber Pan (3£ 17), BTOB (Born to Beat),
SEVENTEEN, NU’EST W, APINK, Jessica Jung, Lee Joon-
gi, NU’EST, Jay Park, Kim Seon Ho, Lee Seung-Yoon,
Kwon Jin Ah, Paul Kim, Kim Myung Soo and Jeong Eun Ji.
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In recent years, with the advancement of technology
together with the development of 5G, and the growing
demand for cultural experience among consumers amid
the cultural digitalization accelerates, immersive projects
have sprung up and revitalized strong vitality and creativity
into the development of the cultural tourism industry.
According to the China Summary of the Global
Entertainment and Media Industry Outlook 2024-2028
released by PwC in October 2024, the compound annual
growth rate of China’s entertainment and media industry
market from 2023 to 2028 is 5.5%, higher than the global
3.9%. Among them, movies, virtual reality (VR), Internet
advertising, video games and e-sports still maintain a high
growth rate. The Group started the operation of “Three
Body Four Dimensional Space*” (The world’s first innovative
offline experience space inspired by “The Three-Body
Problem”) immersive experience centre in Beijing in early
2025. The project makes use of the current popular visual
effects (VFX) and mixed reality (MR) technologies of the
metaverse, including real-time rendering, motion capture
and ultra-high-definition wireless transmission, breaking
above the boundaries of virtual and reality. Audiences can
step into the world they have imagined countless times,
delve deeply into the characters’ inner worlds and life
trajectories, and enhance their emotional resonance and
identification with the original work through interactions with
familiar figures. “The Three-Body Problem” is a science-
fiction novel serialized by Chinese mainland writer Liu Cixin
in Science Fiction World magazine in 2006. It has now
become a Chinese science fiction IP with top-tier global
influence.

Under the changes of post-pandemic consumption
patterns, and together with the apparent changes in family
structure and lifestyle convenience, the Group will continue
to innovate new live streaming e-commerce delivery models
that are more competitive and larger in quantity, including
in-depth cooperation with well-known celebrities and
artists, actively train broadcast anchor, expand cooperation
with brands and merchants for brand on-demand. The
Group is still assessing the opportunity of introducing virtual
human anchors.

*

For identification purposes only. If there is any inconsistency,
the Chinese names shall prevail.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRS

The Group consistently leverages its own wealth of
experience and resources, based on its integrated sales
model, in content creation, promotion, planning, contracted
artists and live streaming e-commerce broadcasting,
continues to strive to explore business opportunities to
expand its operations and further develop sustainable
businesses, including (1) pre-production and licensing of
movies, serial programs, online drama, variety programs
and etc; (2) develop original film and television content in
collaboration with various film and television production
companies and studios; (3) introduce more immersive
experience events by integrating new technologies to
promote traditional events; (4) cooperation with brands
and merchants for brand on-demand live streaming
e-commerce broadcasting; and (5) develop a more
comprehensive artists team.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our
appreciation to the Group’s employees for their hard work
and contributions during the past year.

Under the influence of macroeconomics, Year 2025 will
be an even more challenging year. With a solid business
foundation and through the efforts of our entire staff, |
believe that the Group will overcome these tough times,
working even harder to create greater value and benefits
for shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Unless otherwise specified, the figures stated in the
following review are extracted from the audited financial
figures of the continuing operations of the Group:

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Year 2024”),
the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB151.1
million, representing a decrease of approximately 18.2%
over approximately RMB184.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (“Year 2023”). The decrease was due
to challenging industry environment and complex market
competition.

Gross profit

For Year 2024, the Group recorded gross profit of
RMB47.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately
35.5% over RMB74.1 million recorded in Year 2023. The
decrease in gross profit was mainly attributable to decrease
of gross profit from the segment of serial program/film
production and film rights investment.

Other income

Other income of the Group increased from approximately
RMBO0.04 million in Year 2023 to approximately RMBO0.4
million in Year 2024, mainly due to the government subsidy
and loan interest subsidies.

Expenses

For Year 2024, selling and distribution costs amounted
to approximately RMB2.3 million, as comparing to
approximately RMB3.4 million (decreased by approximately
32.4%) from Year 2023, mainly due to lower of staff cost.
For Year 2024, administrative expenses amounted to
approximately RMB19.8 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 5.26%, as comparing to approximately
RMB20.9 million in 2023. The decrease mainly due to
decrease of legal and professional fee in Year 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E s am M

Income tax expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses amounted to
approximately RMBO0.6 million for Year 2024, and
approximately RMB1.9 million for Year 2023. Income
tax expenses for Year 2024 were due to profits arising
from the sale of several script copyrights. The provision
of profit tax made for Hong Kong profits tax and PRC
enterprise income tax in Year 2024 were RMB9,000 and
RMBO0.6 million respectively. PRC enterprise income tax for
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is calculated at 25%
on assessable profits during the year.

As stipulated in Cai Shui [2011] No. [112], Cai Shui [2021]
No. [27] and Cai Shui [2021] No. [42], enterprises newly
established in Khorgas special economic areas and
engaged in the encouraged industries as defined under the
ChisN#En SRS EREXCEMSHEZTAHE)
(Catalogue of Key Encouraged Developing Industries for
Enterprise Income Tax Benefits in Difficult Areas of Xinjiang
(for identification purpose only)) could enjoy EIT exemption
for five years starting from its first operation income-
generating year during the period from 2011 to 2020, from
2021 to 2030 and from 2021 to 2030 respectively. Horgos
Zongheng Infinite Cultural Media Co. Ltd. and Horgos
Feichi Cultural Media Co. Ltd., subsidiaries of the Group
are eligible for entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2024 and from 1 January 2024 to
31 December 2028, respectively.

Hong Kong profit tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profit and 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit above HK$2 million
during the year. The income tax expenses recognised in
the relevant periods are in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the
year

The Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB24.4 million, while for
Year 2023 the Group’s profit attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately RMB43.9 million. The
decrease in profit attributable to owners of the Company
was mainly due to the decrease of segments revenue
amid the unfavorable economic environment, challenging
industry environment and complex market competition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial resources, liquidity and capital structure

For Year 2024, the Group continued to finance its
working capital through cash flows generated from
operating activities, loans and shareholders’ equity. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets
of approximately RMB304.2 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately RMB255.3 million) including cash and
cash equivalents of approximately RMB11.8 million (as
at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB25.7 million).
The increase in net current assets was mainly due to the
increase in trade receivables and prepayment. The current
ratio, calculated as the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 3.94 times as at 31 December
2024 (as at 31 December 2023: approximately 3.5 times).
The capital of the Group comprises solely of ordinary
shares. Total equity attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB307.7 million as at 31
December 2024 (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
RMB261.8 million). The gearing ratio for Year 2024 was
6.5%, increased from Year 2023 being negative (for
details, please refer to note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements being published in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of (i)
serial program/film production and related services and film
rights investment; (ii) concert and event organisation and
related services; (i) mobile application development and
operation and related services; and (iv) artist management.

Serial program/film production and related services
and film rights investment

The Group’s revenue from serial program/film production
and related services and film rights investment amounted
to approximately RMB148.2 million for Year 2024 and
approximately RMB170.9 million for the corresponding
period last year. The decrease was mainly due to no
production service income being generated.

The Group actively collaborates with film and television
production companies in the PRC engaging in the creation
of film and television intellectual property, in order to
obtain more potential resources and reserves of television
programs, online dramas and movies. The Group continues
to leverage its own production experience and related
resources to expand the program production segment
to original script creation, adaptation, pre-production,
licensing, and related services, in order to create more self-
developed film and serial program script copyrights.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Concert and event organisation

Revenue from the event organisation segment decreased
from Year 2023 of approximately RMB8.7 million to
approximately RMB2.2 million for Year 2024. The decrease
was mainly due to less concerts being organised.

In early January 2025, the Group officially launched the
immersive science fiction experience centre of “Three-Body
Beyond Gravity Four Dimensional Space”, an adaptation of
the science fiction IP “Three-Body”. The Group is exploring
business opportunities to launch more experience centers
outside mainland such as Hong Kong and/or Macau.

Mobile application development and operation

Revenue from the mobile application development
and operation segment amounted to approximately
RMBO0.3 million for Year 2024, representing a decrease
of approximately 91.4% as comparing to approximately
RMB3.5 million being recorded for Year 2023. Revenue
are mainly from livestreaming e-commerce. The decrease
in revenue was mainly due to incapability to arrange
live broadcasts under the working schedule and time
arrangements of the ex-cooperating artists during the
period.

During the year, the Group’s live streaming e-commerce
business continues to launch live broadcasts on Douyin,
including in-depth cooperation with merchant under
broadcast studio. The Group will continue to innovate
new live streaming e-commerce delivery models that are
more competitive and larger in quantity, including in-depth
cooperation with well-known celebrities and artists, actively
train broadcast anchors, expand cooperation with brands
and merchants for brand on-demand and introduce virtual
human anchors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Artist management

Revenue amounted to approximately RMBO0.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and approximately
RMB1.7 million for the corresponding period last year,
representing a decrease of approximately 76.5%. The
decrease was mainly due to relevant contract of the period
was recognised in a net of cost basis.

In the future, the Group intends to replenish and develop a
more comprehensive entertainment and athlete stars team
to bring greater value to the Group.

Despite various external challenges facing the Group’s
businesses, the Group is confident that under the
leadership of our experienced management and the strong
teams formed by the seasoned staff, the Group will be able
to overcome any and all challenges. With various business
opportunities that the Group is currently exploring, the
Group believes that our business will continue to improve.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 35
employees (2023: 29). The increase was mainly due to
increase of staff in the concert and event organisation
businesses. The Group remunerates its employees based
on their performance, experience and the prevailing market
situation. Their remuneration packages are normally
renewed on an annual basis, based on performance
appraisals and other relevant factors. The Group may pay
discretionary bonuses to its employees based on individual
performance.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

Regular sales and purchases of the Group are mainly
conducted in RMB. The Group will review and monitor the
risk relating to foreign exchanges.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group paid approximately RMB32,000 for the addition
of property, plant and equipment during Year 2024 (Year
2023: approximately RMB24,000).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital
commitments of RMB41.8 million (Year 2023: RMB47.0
million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Referring to the announcement of the discloseable
transaction in relation to the provision of financial assistance
as of 14 November 2023, where an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company being entered into a corporate
guarantee (“Corporate Guarantee”), the Group has retained
the entitlement to the income from the project amounted to
approximately RMB15.0 million has been held by the Group
and included in “other payables” line item (being no change
comparing to Year 2023). The amount of other payables
would be able to mitigate any risk associated with the
provision of the Corporate Guarantee by the Group. Based
on the information currently available up to the date of this
report, the other payables held by the Group is sufficient to
cover any claims due to the litigation. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the fair value of the Corporate
Guarantee is considered insignificant.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There were no significant investments, material acquisitions
or disposals held as at 31 December 2024 and as at 31
December 2023, except for the reorganisation under the
continuing connected transaction under the termination of
the contractual arrangement (please refer to announcement
as of 15 January 2025).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Share subscription

U

TKA Subscription

On 19 June 20283, the Company and Tan
Koon Aik entered into the share subscription
agreement, pursuant to which Tan Koon Aik has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue 44,671,963 ordinary shares (with a nominal
value of HK$2,233,598.15) at a subscription price
of HK$0.214 per subscription share, a discount
of approximately 17.69% to the closing price of
HKS$0.26 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the date of the subscription agreement. The above
subscription was completed on 18 September 2023
(“TKA Subscription”).

The aggregate gross proceeds of the share
subscription was RMB8,460,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,559,800) and the aggregate net proceeds
of the share subscription, was approximately
HK$8,911,790 (equivalent to RMB7,886,540),
representing a net issue price of approximately
HK$0.1995 per subscription share.

The Board considered that the share subscription
represents an opportunity to raise additional
capital for the development of mobile application
development and operation and related services,
maintaining the Group’s working capital and business
operation and will also enlarge the shareholders and
capital base of the Company and strengthen the
financial position of the Group.

As at 30 June 2024, the net proceeds from the TKA
Subscription has been fully utilised as follows:

- approximately HK$297,367 (equivalent to
RMB263,157), has been utilised to finance
mobile application development and operation
and related services

- approximately HK$2,625,423 (equivalent to
RMB2,323,383), has been utilised for general
working capital of the Company

- approximately HK$5,989,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,300,000), has been utilised to finance
production of serial programs and films and
related services, and film rights investment
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(ii)

Creative China Holdings Limited

As at 20 March 2024, the Board has resolved that the
remaining of approximately HK$5,989,000 (equivalent
to RMB5,300,000), would be changed to use in
serial program/film production and related services
and film rights investment in year 2024 (please refer
to section under Change in use of proceeds in the
announcement dated 20 March 2024).

TYJ Subscription

On 19 June 20283, the Company and Tan
Yew Jing entered into the share subscription
agreement, pursuant to which Tan Yew Jing has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue 25,187,383 ordinary shares (with a nominal
value of HK$1,259,369.15) at a subscription price
of HK$0.214 per subscription share, a discount
of approximately 17.69% to the closing price of
HKS$0.26 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the date of the subscription agreement. The above
subscription was completed on 28 August 2023 (“TYJ
Subscription”).

The aggregate gross proceeds of the TYJ
Subscription was HK$5,390,100 (equivalent to
RMB4,770,000) and the aggregate net proceeds
of the share subscription, was approximately
HK$5,036,942 (equivalent to RMB4,457,471),
representing a net issue price of approximately
HKS$0.2 per subscription share.

The Board considered that the subscription
represents an opportunity to raise additional
capital for the development of mobile application
development and operation and related services,
maintaining the Group’s working capital and business
operation and will also enlarge the shareholders and
capital base of the Company and strengthen the
financial position of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 30 June 2024, the net proceeds from the TYJ
Subscription has been fully utilised as follows:

- approximately HK$728,029 (equivalent to
RMB644,273), has been utilised to finance
mobile application development and operation
and related services

- approximately HK$1,511,083 (equivalent to
RMB1,337,241), has been utilised for general
working capital of the Company

- approximately HK$2,797,831 (equivalent to
RMB2,475,956), has been utilised to finance
production of serial programs and films and
related services, and film rights investment

As at 20 March 2024, the Board has resolved that the
remaining of approximately HK$2,797,831 (equivalent
to RMB2,475,956), would be changed to use in
serial program/film production and related services
and film rights investment in year 2024 (please refer
to section under Change in use of proceeds in the
announcement dated 20 March 2024).

AYY Subscription

On 10 November 2023, the Company and Ang Yu
Yuan Shawn entered into the share subscription
agreement, pursuant to which Ang Yu Yuan Shawn
has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
35,990,566 ordinary shares (with a nominal value of
HK$1,799,528.30) at a subscription price of HK$0.53
per subscription share, a discount of approximately
10.17% to the closing price of HK$0.59 per share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of
the subscription agreement. The above subscription
was completed on 27 December 2023 (“AYY
Subscription”).

The aggregate gross proceeds of the AYY
Subscription was HK$19,075,000 (equivalent to
RMB17,500,000) and the aggregate net proceeds
of the share subscription, was approximately
HK$17,283,332 (equivalent to RMB15,856,268),
representing a net issue price of approximately
HK$0.48 per subscription share.
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(iv)

Creative China Holdings Limited

The Directors considered that the AYY Subscription
represents an opportunity to raise additional
capital for the production of serial programs and
films, provision of related services and film rights
investment.

As per announcement on 19 February 2024, the net
proceeds from the AYY Subscription has been fully
utilised as follows:

- approximately HK$12,098,332 (equivalent to
RMB11,099,388), has been utilised to finance
production of serial programs and films and
related services, and film rights investment

- approximately HK$5,185,000 (equivalent to
RMB4,756,881), has been utilised for general
working capital of the Company

SWS Subscription

On 10 November 2023, the Company and Sia
Wei Soon entered into the share subscription
agreement, pursuant to which Sia Wei Soon has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
19,188,679 ordinary shares (with a nominal value of
HK$959,433.95) at a subscription price of HK$0.53
per subscription share, a discount of approximately
10.17% to the closing price of HK$0.59 per share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of
the subscription agreement. The above subscription
was completed on 27 December 2023 (“SWS
Subscription”).

The aggregate gross proceeds of the SWS
Subscription was HK$10,170,000 (equivalent to
RMB9,330,275) and the aggregate net proceeds
of the share subscription, was approximately
HK$9,111,363 (equivalent to RMB8,359,049),
representing a net issue price of approximately
HK$0.47 per subscription share.

The Directors considered that the SWS Subscription
represents an opportunity to raise additional
capital for the production of serial programs and
films, provision of related services and film rights
investment.

Annual Report 2024

(iv)

EEZRR AYREFESEERREXEE - 1RH]
TR AR TS K *:%E‘ REEBEBIESHKE -

RE-_Z-_NF_A+NRAZAE
SREFRETZBEHAET

YYREEEIAN

- 53%5'712098332/37E($9%‘ AR
11,099,3887L) AN B EER - ERRER
MERARRTS - REEHRERE

— E@Jﬁﬁﬂjm%ooo,mc( ERNARK
4,756,881 7C) AN AR — R EEE S
SWSEZEEE

RZZEZ=F+—H+H8 ' KA FESia Wei Soon
RN TR RE W - B UL - Sia Wei SoonE2 &
KHEREREBEEARACE KGR B E KRBT
19,188,679% & @ A% (E18959,433.957%8 L) R
BEAERRERHB053ET - @%@Eﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%x
Ff BT 5 4 71 (B B AR AR 19 0.59 78 Je T iE £910.17%
FRBEEER - E-_=F+_A=-++tBH=K
([SWSREEETA]) °

SWSRIEEIES NIBAZE S £ 510,170,000
T (HENARBE,B30,2757T) * MM REFE
HIEFEA LG E111,363B T (HERARE
8,359,0497T) ' MHE N TR MHK0.47 8.2 %

ITERFRE -

EEXZRA SWSRBEHEREEBIMNEZRIF =
HEERERECRERESRFINESHHRS -



Management Discussion and Analysis

As per announcement on 19 February 2024, the net
proceeds from the SWS Subscription has been fully
utilised as follows:

- approximately HK$6,377,954 (equivalent to
RMB5,851,334), has been utilised to finance
production of serial programs and films and
related services, and film rights investment

- approximately HK$2,733,409 (equivalent to
RMB2,507,715) has been be used for general
working capital of the Company

Placing under General Mandate

On 19 February 2024, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with a placing agent, for the placing
of 49,410,000 ordinary shares (“Placing Shares”) to not
less than six placees at the placing price of HK$0.50 per
Placing Shares (the “Placing”), which was a discount of
approximately 18.03% to the closing price of HK$0.61 per
share on the date of the placing agreement. On 8 March
2024, a total of 49,410,000 Placing Shares (with a nominal
value of HK$2,470,500) have been successfully placed by
the placing agent to not less than six placees, who and
whose ultimate beneficial owners are (i) independent third
parties of the Company and its connected persons; and (ii)
none of the placees has become a substantial shareholder
of the Company, at placing price of HK$0.50 per Placing
Shares. The net issue price was approximately HK$0.472
per Placing Share.

As per the 2023 Annual Report published on 18 April
2024, the net proceeds (after deducting the placing fee
and other related expenses incurred in the placing) from
the placing are approximately HK$23,310,000 (equivalent
to RMB21,186,000) which has been fully utilized for serial
program/film production and related services and film rights
investment.

The Directors consider that the Placing represents an
opportunity to raise additional capital for the production of
serial programs and films, provision of related services and
film rights investment.
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Corporate Governance Report
rEERWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company believes that
good corporate governance provides a framework that is
essential for effective management, successful business
growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to
the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in part 2 of Appendix C1 to the
GEM Listing Rules. Continuous efforts are made to review
and enhance the Group’s risk management and internal
controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations
and developments in best practices. To us, maintaining
high standards of corporate governance practices is not
just complying with the provisions but also the intent of
the regulations to enhance corporate performance and
accountability.

The Board is pleased to report compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 December
2024, except where otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the directors (the “Required
Standard of Dealings”). The Company has confirmed,
having made specific enquiry of the directors, all the
directors have complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:

Executive directors:
Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Yong

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yang Shiyuan
Mr. Ge Xuyu

Independent non-executive directors:
Ms. Fu Yuehong

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen

Mr. Wang Xinghua
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An updated list of directors and their role and functions is
maintained at the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange, the executive directors, the non-executive

Corporate Governance Report
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directors and the independent non-executive directors
are identified by name in all corporate communications.
The Board confirms that no relationships exist among its
members, whether financial, business, familial, or any other
relationships.

Each independent non-executive director has given
an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the
Company, and the Company considers them to be
independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, four Board
meetings, one annual general meeting (2024 AGM”) were
held and the attendance of each director is set out as
follows:
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Attendance record for the

meetings during the year

ended 31 December 2024
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meetings 2024 AGM
—EMF

Name of director BEEER EESSeE RRBEEX®
Mr. Philip Jian Yang SR E 4/4 11
Mr. Yang Shiyuan BRE A 4/4 11
Mr. Ge Xuyu BRFLEE 4/4 11
Mr. Wang Yong ABEAE 4/4 1/1
Ms. Fu Yuehong E AT 224 4/4 11
Mr. Wang Xinghua FEEL A 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen EBRIRSE 4 4/4 1/1
One meeting each year had been held for the chairman BFEEAEE TR B TEE B T —
of the board and all independent non-executive directors KRG o
independently.
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD ExgEfE

All the Directors (including the non-executive directors and
the independent non-executive directors) have acquired
a proper understanding of the Company’s operation and
business and are fully aware of his/her functions and
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory
requirements. Every director has given the Company the
details on the number and nature of offices held in other
companies and significant commitments at the time of his/
her appointment.
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The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Group and be collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising the
Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on formulating the
Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating
performance; reviewing the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems; supervising
and managing management’s performance of the Group;
and setting the Group’s values and standards. Though
the Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to management,
all the directors continue to give sufficient time and
attention to the Company’s affairs. The delegated functions
are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure that they
accommodate the needs of the Group.

Apart from the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee (as defined below), an
Environment, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Committee
was established to deal with environmental, social
and governance matters in 2021. The ESG committee
comprising Mr. Philip Jian Yang, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Mr. Fu
Chung Yiu and Ms. Zhang Ying. The role and function of
the committee have been disclosed in the ESG report of
this report. The Company has established the Compliance
Committee, consisting of an executive director, an
independent non-executive director and the Chairman of
the Audit Committee, since 18 September 2023 under the
relevant terms of reference. The Compliance Committee
is charged with the power and duty to identify important
transactions and matters, serve as a front-line of the Board
judging the nature and extent of identified transactions and
matters and report to the Board for matters reserved for
the Board. Save as disclosed above, the Company did not
set up any other board committees for dealing with any
matters during the year.

The Company has in force appropriate insurance coverage
on Director’s and officer’s liabilities arising from the Group’s
business. The Company reviews the extent of insurance
coverage on an annual basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions such as developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, etc. The Board has reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and legal
and regulatory compliance, as well as the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code.
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The Board holds meetings from time to time whenever
necessary. At least 14 days notice of regular Board
meetings would be given to all directors and they can
include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think
fit. The agenda accompanying Board papers would be
sent to all directors at least 3 days before the date of every
Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the
directors to review the documents. The Chairman would
also ensure that all directors are properly briefed on matters
arising at board meetings.

Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to
all directors for their perusal and comments prior to
confirmation of the minutes. The duly signed minutes are
open for inspection by any director. The Board also ensures
that it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary
information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable
it to discharge its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and
services of the company secretary with a view to ensuring
that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. The Board members are enabled
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist them
to discharge their duties. They are also entitled to have full
access to Board papers and related materials so that they
are able to make an informed decision and to discharge
their duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Philip Jian Yang is the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is responsible
for the overall operations, management, business
development and strategy planning of the Group.

The Chairman also takes the lead to ensure that the
Board works effectively and acts in the best interest of the
Company by encouraging the directors to make active
contribution in Board’s affairs and promoting a culture of
openness and debate.

The Board is of the view that although Mr. Yang is both
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
Board, which comprises experienced individuals who
would meet from time to time to discuss issues affecting
operation of the Company. The Board will regularly review
the need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer separately.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The current Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”) provide that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation and that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at an annual general meeting at least
once every 3 years.

Each independent non-executive director is required to
inform the Company as soon as practicable if there is
any change that may affect his independence and must
provide an annual confirmation of his independence to the
Company. Up to the date of this report, no independent
non-executive director has served the Company more than
9 years.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist directors’ continuing professional development,
the Company recommends directors to attend relevant
seminars or webinars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors also participate in
continuous professional development programs such
as external seminars or webinars organised by qualified
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. Records
of the training received by the respective directors are kept
and updated by the company secretary of the Company.

The individual training record of each director received for
the year ended 31 December 2024 is summarised below:

EENRAEREE

ARRRITERAR(TERARDETHR - REERREF
ReL BER=ZNZ-WNEFARESE BASREFA
EVEIFERRBEREHESTE X °

WHREMAI R BB IFNTETHLENES) - &5
VIFRITESARREVEAITNER VEMAARTE
WARMARBREEBELEIMNFERRE - HEAR
SR BEELIFMITERREANRFBEF -

HXBE

RBPEZENRKBEERRR  ARFEZHESHEHEBE
KRELPERIN G NEERERRENANBNIEE - &
EN2HFEFEXERAE - OINASEREXALEMR
HISNEREEA B BRI S - UWIBERERREEHES
SEBOMB NI - SEZNEICEAARTAFMW
EREREH -

BE-F-ME+-A=+—RILTE - SUEFHEA
SR -

Reading professional journals and
updates and/or attending seminar(s) or
webinars relating to the economy, general
business, director’s duties and
responsibility etc.

RERRRE  —RXK  EBENRBER
ERSEEHTRBFERR R

Name of director EEpE HEAENEXRSIPRTNS
Mr. Philip Jian Yang BRIKE v
Mr. Yang Shiyuan SR A A v
Mr. Ge Xuyu BBRFEA v
Mr. Wang Yong FEEAE v
Ms. Fu Yuehong ERBAT 221 v/
Mr. Wang Xinghua FEELA v
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen EfRIR 72 A4 v
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The directors are provided with regular updates on our
performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. All directors also understand the importance of
continuous professional development and are committed
to participating in suitable training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills, ensuring that their contributions
to the Board remain informed and relevant.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) was established on 3 November 2015,
currently comprising 3 independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Ms. Fu Yuehong,
and Mr. Wang Xinghua. Mr. Yau Yan Yuen is the chairman
of the Audit Committee. No member of the Audit
Committee is a member of the former or existing auditor
of the Company. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available at the Company’s website and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
and to provide recommendations and advices to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor as well as their terms of appointment.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of
the Audit Committee shall be held at least four times a year.

Four audit committee meetings were held for the year

ended 31 December 2024. The attendance of each
member is set out as follows:

Name of members of
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Attendance record for the meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2024
RBE-T-_NFE+=-/A=+—H

Audit Committee ENEESRERS LtEEzERHERTE
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen EBRIR S A 4/4
Ms. Fu Yuehong HRAI 22+ 4/4
Mr. Wang Xinghua F RS A 4/4
PEAIZEZERERLAE T _UFFERE
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At the audit committee meetings during the year, in
performing its duties in accordance with its terms of
reference, the works performed by the Audit Committee
includes:

(@ review and supervise the financial reporting process
and internal control systems of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

(b) recommendation to the Board, for the approval by
shareholders at an annual general meeting, of the
re-appointment of external auditor and approval of
their remuneration;

(c) determination of the nature and scope of the audit;
and

(d) review the financial statements for relevant periods
and discuss corporate governance practice.

Draft and final versions of the minutes of the Audit
Committee meetings will be sent to all committee members
for their comment and records within a reasonable time
after the meetings and the full minutes will be kept by the
company secretary who is also the secretary of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties and is enabled to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense, to discharge its responsibilities.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established on
3 November 2015, which was modified on 30 December
2022, currently comprising three directors, namely, Ms.
Fu Yuehong, Mr. Wang Xinghua and Mr. Yau Yan Yuen.
Ms. Fu Yuehong is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available at the Company’s website and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.
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The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include to make recommendation to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
directors and senior management of the Group, having
the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors of the
Group and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment, and making recommendations to the
Board of the remuneration of the non-executive directors.

During the year, one remuneration committee meeting
was held and the remuneration of the directors and
senior management has been discussed. The members’
attendance is shown as follows:

Name of members of
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Number of meetings attended
during the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_E-_MNF+=A=+—H

Remuneration Committee FNEEERERS IEFEEzeRHERE
Ms. Fu Yuehong HRRAT 21 1/1
Mr. Wang Xinghua TR A 11
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen TR S A 11

The emolument payable to directors depends on their
respective contractual terms under the service contracts
and the appointment letters, and as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the directors’
emolument are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The remuneration of the members of the senior
management (including two Directors) by band for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

RNEEZHMEeBARKREEERRBEVLREZREETZ
BRBRRLHHFME B SHERS - EFMeZHBEN
AR MEI2

BE_Z_NMF+_A=1t—BLFE ZAFESNF

MERAB(BEMBES)NHHWT

Number of members of
senior management

RMB AR¥T EREEABAH
1 to 600,000 1%600,000 1
600,000 to 1,200,000 600,000% 1,200,000 2

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is enabled to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to discharge its
responsibilities.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established on 3 November
2015, currently comprising the five directors, namely, Mr.
Philip Jian Yang, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Ms. Fu Yuehong,
Mr. Wang Xinghua and Mr. Ge Xuyu. Mr. Philip Jian Yang
is currently the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available at the Company’s website and on the website of
the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board on regular basis, identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors. In considering
the nomination of new directors, the Board will take into
account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates,
especially their experience in program production and
event organisation and/or other professional areas and the
diversity criteria set out in the board diversity policy of the
Company.

Under the nomination policy, the committee may search
for candidates for directors on an extensive scale in the
Company, its subsidiaries and the job market, gather
information of the preliminary candidates and then shall
submit to the board of directors its recommendations on
candidates for directors and relevant materials prior to the
election of new directors.

One nomination committee meeting was held during
the year ended 31 December 2024. The committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
during the meeting and the Nomination Committee had
also confirmed all independence of independent non-
executive directors, and recommendation to the Board
of the those directors retired and offered themselves for
re-election at 2024 AGM and the diversity of the Board.
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The attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members of
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KRB ZBEERIIRIMT :

Number of meetings attended
during the year ended 31 December 2024
REBE-B-NF+=A=+—H

Nomination Committee REZEERENSE LtFEEzERHERTE
Mr. Philip Jian Yang ylbivtas 11
Mr. Ge Xuyu BRFEAE 11
Ms. Fu Yuehong ERRAT 224 1/1
Mr. Wang Xinghua FHEER A 11
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen ERFRIR I 171

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is enabled to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to discharge its
responsibilities.

Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also to enhance the
quality of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All board and senior management
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
directors. one of them is woman. Three of the directors are
independent non-executive directors and independent of
management, thereby promoting critical review and control
of the management process. Two of the directors, namely,
Mr. Yang Shiyuan and Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, are between
the age group of 30-49 while other Directors are between
the age group of 50-65. We have three male senior
management (including two Directors). The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered
in terms of professional background, gender and skills.
The Company targets to avoid a single gender Board
and will timely review the gender diversity of the Board in
accordance with the business development of the Group.
The Company believes the balance of gender in the Board
would bring more inspiration to the Board and enhance the
business development of the Group, thus gender diversity
is the essential factor for the Company to select suitable
candidate as a Director.

The Board acknowledges that the Company has achieved
its gender diversity, with a male-to-female ratio of 86%:14%
at the Board level and 100%:0% at the senior management
level. Same as the gender diversity of the Board, the
Company targets to avoid a single gender senior workforce
and will timely review the gender diversity of the senior
workforce in accordance with the business development of
the Group causing needs of senior workforce.

The Company has guidelines to remind the nomination
committee to consider the gender, age, culture and
education or professional background on nomination, but
not set any measurable objectives for implementation of
the diversity policy in relation to the Board members and
the workforce of the Group (including gender diversity).
However, the Company will consider and review from time
to time such diversity policy (including gender diversity) and
setting of any measurable objectives (if applicable).

Biographical details with the professional experience, skills
and knowledge of the Directors and Senior Management
are available in the section of “Biographical details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2024

RARERH] EFEmLEBEFAN - HF—REFR
T AR =ZREZRBIUFNTESTRBUEE - 1R
e BRI R E R EEBIE - APMEES - HiTE
Fe A MER R SE AR F T F30E495% - MEMERHNF
BRI FE0E6sE - RFIBEA=RBUESREEE (B
MEEE)  EREXES  MAILXETEEE  &F
SRBEENZHMEEH - ARANERRERRE—
HRMEFEE  THRBEARENEBERLINESES
ENMRIZ T - ARBRE  EFETHUERITFER R
EEeHRELER - REAKENEBRHER - AubiEh!
ZTLRANARERERENEFTHEANERERNR -

EZERRLRFEERERNZ L E2EN I L
586%:14%  mBEREN S L HA100%:0% © HE
=gMERIZTEAR - ARFRNEZERESE R8N
BHRET WRIBEASENERERESREIMHETRK
MEESSAE THMRIZTl -

ARFAESIREBRAZE@RREKFZEILR - F
B XIEMBEREEER  BAARRTEHEESK
BRNAEEE THRMNZ TTCBER(BIEMERZ )7L
ERIAIAENEIR - AT - ARBEIEHEBREESIHA
ZEBER (BRRMERIZ L) MR E LA AT At &/ B R (10
EA) e

EREEMEREEENEXLR  RERANBOEES
BERAFR EENSREEEEE | -



ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The management provides such explanation and
information to the Board and reports regularly to the Board
on financial position and prospects of the business of the
Company so as to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report) for preparing the
financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board was
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and the
Board has prepared the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. The responsibility of the external
auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their
audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared
by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders
of the Company. A statement by auditor about their
reporting responsibility is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

Risk Management and Internal Control systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group and endeavours to identify,
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risks and the relevant measures have been disclosed in
the report of the directors on page 84 to 120 of this annual
report. The risk management and internal control systems
of the Company are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The Board of Directors recognizes its responsibility for
overseeing the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems, including those related to ESG matters,
and ensuring their ongoing effectiveness.

Outlined below is a summary of the key processes and
measures implemented to support this responsibility:

1. Identification, Evaluation, and Management of
Significant Risks

The Company has established a structured and
systematic approach to identifying, evaluating,
and managing significant risks that may impact
its operations. This process includes regular
management meetings, with oversight provided by
the Board and its relevant committees. Risks are
categorized, prioritized, and addressed through
appropriate and proactive internal control measures.

2. Main Features of Risk Management and Internal

Control Systems

The Company’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to promote operational
efficiency, safeguard assets, ensure accurate financial
reporting, and maintain compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. These systems incorporate
established policies, clearly defined procedures,
segregation of duties (SOD) for key functions, and
robust reporting and monitoring mechanisms, such
as regular monthly management reports submitted to
the Board. Additionally, a whistle-blowing mechanism
is in place to ensure concerns are addressed
promptly and effectively.

To further strengthen governance, the Company
has formed a Compliance Committee (“Compliance
Committee”), comprising an executive director,
an independent non-executive director, and the
Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Compliance
Committee is tasked with the authority to identify
significant transactions and matters, assess their
nature and potential impact, and serve as a frontline
body providing recommendations to the Board on
matters requiring its attention or approval.
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3.  Procedures for Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

The Company has implemented robust procedures
for the handling, safeguarding, and dissemination
of inside information. An inside information policy
has been established, which outlines a structured
process whereby senior management is responsible
for the initial identification of such information. The
Compliance Committee conducts a preliminary
review, and final decisions are made by the Board.
Oversight of the process is provided by the Audit
Committee to ensure alignment with regulatory
requirements and adherence to best practices.

The Company does not presently maintain an internal
audit function and has determined, considering the size,
nature, and complexity of the Group’s operations, that
the establishment of such a function is not immediately
necessary at this time. As an alternative measure, the
Company has retained the services of an experienced
internal control consulting firm to perform an independent
internal control review for the review year. This review
encompasses key governance and business processes,
which the Board deems sufficient to meet the current
needs of the Group. The Management remains committed
to implementing the recommended improvements.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal
controls annually. The Board and the Audit Committee,
through their ongoing evaluations, which include daily
oversight of management activities, review of management
reports (including but not limited to monthly reports),
assessment of the whistleblowing mechanism and any
associated filings (if applicable), evaluation of actual
financial, operational, and compliance performance,
consideration of the findings from the internal control review
and corresponding management action plans, as well as
the auditor’s opinion, are of the considered view that the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective.
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Dividend Policy

The Board has approved and adopted a policy for the
Company’s dividend distribution (the “Dividend Policy”).

The Company targets to provide sustainable returns to our
shareholders with maintaining the flexibility of resources
to meet the financial and business requirements of the
Company. The Board shall consider the Group’s financial
results, cash flow status, investment and operational
requirements, prospects and other factors to decide
whether to propose a dividend and determine dividend
payout ratio.

The distribution of dividend is also subject to compliance
with applicable laws and regulations including the law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association.
Furthermore, the Company shall consider any banking or
other funding covenants by which the Company is bound
from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
pursuant to the Group’s financial and operational status
from time to time and there can be no assurance that a
dividend will be proposed or declared in any given year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees for the

services provided by to the Company’s auditor are set out
as follows:
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BB <
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REREBEREIILT

RMB’000
ARBTT

B RTS

Audit services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no non-audit
service provided by the Company’s auditor during the year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheung Hoi Fun was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 7 October 2022. The
selection, appointment or dismissal of the company
secretary is approved by the Board. Mr. Fu Chung Yiu,
one of senior management of the Company, is one of the
person whom the company secretary mainly contact.

For the year under review, Ms. Cheung has confirmed
that she has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. An annual general meeting of the Company
shall be held in each year and at the place as may be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than
an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary
general meeting (‘EGM”).

Right to convene EGM

Any one or more members holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s
principal office as set out in the manner below, to require
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building, 128 Connaught Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong, and such may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists.
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The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene
an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered members. On
the contrary, if the request which has been verified is not in
order, the shareholders will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to
the nature of the proposal, as follows:

(@  Atleast 14 clear days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company;

(b)  Atleast 21 clear days’ notice in writing if calling for an
annual general meeting or the proposal constitutes a
special resolution of the Company in EGM.

But if permitted by the rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange, a general meeting may be called by shorter
notice.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
for the attention of the company secretary.
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Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to purpose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (2011 Revision). However,
shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the
Company’s Articles for including a resolution at an EGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out above.
Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other than
a director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the directors for election, be eligible for election as a
director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by
a member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the registration office
provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least 7 days and
that (if the notices are submitted after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election)
the period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence
on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. The
written notice must state that person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. The
procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company’s
website.

Further Information to Shareholders

Details of the substantial shareholders and their capacity,
nature of interest and their aggregate interest of
shareholding of the Company are set out on page 93 to 95
of this annual report.

Details of number of shares and interests in shares of
the Company being held by each of the Directors of the
Company are set out on page 91 to 92 of this annual
report. The other one senior management does not
hold any shares, nor have any interests in shares of the
Company.

The percentage of public float as at the date of this annual
report is set out on page 98 of this annual report.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a shareholders’
communication policy and the Board shall review it on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company
communicates with the shareholders and/or potential
investors mainly by holding of annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings which shall be convened
for specific purposes (if any) which provide opportunities
for the shareholders to communicate with the Board, the
publication of announcements, annual reports, interim
reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing
Rules and the availability of information of the Group on
the Company’s website at www.creativechinahk.com.
Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the
Company’s website where contact details are available
on the Company’s website for enquiries. Shareholder
communication is effective during the year because
shareholders can raise questions to the management of
the Company at the general meetings during Year 2024
and contact details are available for shareholders and
stakeholders to contact the Company directly.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there had been
no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy as stated above
and concluded that it is effective, with meaningful shareholder
engagement observed through general meetings, direct
communications, and the timely dissemination of information.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We”) is engaged
in the businesses of serial program/film production and
related services and film rights investment, concert and
event organisation and related service, mobile application
development and operation related services and artist
management.

BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has
overall responsibility for the effectiveness of the Company’s
ESG strategy and reporting, in order to ensure the Group
is operating its serial program/film production and related
services and film rights investment, mobile application
development and operation related services, concert and
event organisation and artist management businesses in a
responsible and sustainable manner.

ESG related matters are incorporated in the agenda of
Board meetings. The Board will review the progress made
towards achieving the ESG-related goals related to the
Group’s businesses as well as the effectiveness of the
management approach and strategy based on the report
submitted by the ESG Committee.

The Board is also responsible for reviewing the material
ESG issues and the ESG risk register to ensure appropriate
risk mitigation plans and control measures are in place.
Goals and targets are derived from ESG issues which
have material impact on the business. All sustainability
disclosures and internal policies are reviewed and endorsed
by the Board, while targets and performance are assessed
on a timely basis.

REPORTING PERIOD

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report cover the ESG
activities, challenges and measures taken by the Group for
reporting period during the year ended 31 December 2024
(the “Reporting Period” or “Year 2024”) in the Group’s
business operation in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Taiwan.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

This ESG Report mainly covers the Group’s major
operating revenue activities under direct management
control, including its provision of serial program/film
production and related services and film rights investment,
concert and event organisation and related services, mobile
application development and operation related services and
artist management. Compared with the reporting boundary
of ESG Report 2023, there is no significant change.

APPROACH TO ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (“ESG”)

Governance Structure

The Group conducts a top-down management approach in
regards to ESG issues. The Board oversees and approves
strategy proposed by the ESG Committee of the Company
(“ESG Committee”). The Group assigns ESG Committee to
guide the sustainability directions and priorities.

The ESG Committee is responsible for (a) identifying
ESG related risks and issues in relation to the Group’s
businesses and making recommendations to the Board
on setting ESG related goals in relation to the Group’s
businesses as well as management approach and strategy;
(b) overseeing the formulation and implementation of action
plans; and (c) monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness
of action plans and ensuring their execution by respective
teams in order to achieve the ESG-related goals set by the
Board related to the Group’s businesses by reviewing the
key performance indicators of each action plan. The ESG
Committee will report to the Board at least once a year.
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REPORTING STRATEGY AND FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in the Appendix C.2
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”).

During the preparation for the ESG Report, the Group
has applied the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG
Reporting Guide as the following:

° “Materiality” — The materiality assessment detailed
under the section headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” have ensured the ESG
Report addresses the most material ESG topics
pertaining to our businesses.

° “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added
along with quantitative data disclosed in the ESG
Report to explain any standards, methodologies,
and source of conversion factors used during the
calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

° “Balance” — The ESG Report provides an
unbiased and fair representation of the Company’s
performance, avoiding any selections, omissions,
or presentation styles that may unduly influence the
reader’s judgment.

° “Consistency” — Whenever deemed material, the ESG
Report details the standards, tools, assumptions
and/or source of conversion factors used, as well
as explanations of any inconsistencies to previous
reports.

For the Group’s corporate governance practices, please
refer to page 19 to page 37 for the “Corporate Governance
Report” contained in this annual report.

As the entertainment organiser and content provider,
the Group is committed to managing sustainability as
an integral part of our business strategy. We focus on
three main aspects to establish a sustainability strategy
framework to help us operate responsibly across all aspects
of our business, namely: Innovative and Creative Content,
Talents, Conduct and Compliance.

When we formulate our approach towards the three
aspects, we seek to embed relevant materiality through
assessment into the process.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their views relating
to its businesses and ESG issues. In order to understand
and address stakeholders’ concerns, the Group
communicates with its key stakeholders, including but not
limited to: investors and shareholders, governmental and
regulatory authorities, suppliers, employees, customers,
peers and industry chamber of commerce, societies, non-
governmental organisation (“NGOs”) and communities via
through different channels such as conferences, electronic
platforms and financial reporting etc. In formulating
operational strategies and ESG measures, the Group takes
into account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives
to improve its performance through mutual cooperation
with the stakeholders, resulting in creating greater value
for the community. The following table indicates the
relevant stakeholders of the Group and the commmunication
channels between the Group and its stakeholders:
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Stakeholders
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Communication channels

BRERE

Expectations
i)

Investors and shareholders

REE MR

Governmental and regulatory
authorities

B R EE#E

Suppliers
g
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° General meeting
R AE

o Financial reports
MBS

° Announcements and circulars
NERIEHK

o Investor meetings

REEES

° Regular working meetings
EHTEEH

° Regular performance reporting
T BRI SRR IR

° Written response to public
consultation
EMEEEARENR

° Suppliers’ management
meetings and events
HENEEGRREY

o On-site inspections
BEER

Annual Report 2024

° Publish the latest corporate
information
R AMEERIER

° Financial results
PG RAE

. Corporate sustainable development
DEMFELR

o Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations
BPRBEARER

° Corporate social responsibility
ELEER

° Fair competition
NFHF

o Business ethics and reputation
[SESEEAEI NS

o Win-win cooperation
BIEHE
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Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations
& BB s
Employees o Employee opinion survey o Health and safety
B8 EEBRAE fEEEZ S
o Channels for employees to express Equal opportunity
their opinions (forms, opinion box TEe
and etc.) o Remuneration and benefits
REXERANEE(RE  ERME e Ry
%) e Career development
e Regular management BixuE
communication and performance
evaluations
EHIR B IR WA THERIRATZ
° Employee communication and
broadcasting
& BB EE
Customers ° Customer satisfaction survey ° Perform product and service
=P EPREERE responsibilities
e Company’s website BITERKRBEE
NEA8uh e Customer information and privacy
protection

Societies, NGOs and
communities

HEE - SEERATHRE K e

Community investment
HEREE

ESG reports

B B REARE

EPERERALBRE

o Giving back to society
E)va-

o Environmental protection
IR

o Compliance operations
BRKE

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE

42



43

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B B REARE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and employees who are responsible
for the key functions of the Group have participated in
preparing the ESG Report, assisted the Group in reviewing
its operation, identifying relevant ESG issues and assessing
the importance of these relevant issues to our businesses
and stakeholders. We compiled a questionnaire in
reference to the identified material ESG issues to collect
data from relevant departments and business units of the
Group.

To determine the materiality of the selected ESG topics, the
Group collected, analysed the feedback of the stakeholder
groups, and mapped out the outcome in the materiality
matrix below to reflect their level of significance.
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Bl Importance to Stakeholders
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CONTACT US

Your comments and suggestions on this ESG Report or
towards the Group’s performance in respect of sustainable
development through the following methods are welcome:

Mail address: 23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building,
128 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
Phone: (852) 2153 1221

Fax: (852) 2153 3936

RIE - g MERWRE

ERER PB4
BAEE BTEAETIIARARE  HeREARE
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M - BB LR T HET 1285 B R E ANE2318

E5E ¢ (852) 2153 1221
{EH : (852) 2153 3936
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A. ENVIRONMENT
A1. Emissions

The Group is committed to ensuring the sustainable
development in our environment and community and
recognises the Group’s responsibilities towards the
potential environmental impacts associated with business
operations. We integrate environmental consideration
factors into our decision-making processes.

As a company in the media and entertainment industry,
the core businesses of the Group, mainly rely on electronic
and internet technology and related equipment and do
not involve any manufacturing processes in the course
of business. Therefore, during the Reporting Period,
the Group generated air emission only included the air
pollutants from fuel consumption of motor vehicles, GHG
emissions and non-hazardous waste generated by our
offices during operation and petrol consumption from
vehicles.

The Group recognises that the threat of global warming
and climate changes are the major environmental issues to
the world. Within our environmental policy framework, we
continually look for different opportunities to pursue less
carbon emission operation, environmentally friendly media
production, reducing energy use and recycle of materials
used in daily operation.

Steps taken

The Group has complied with relevant environmental
laws and regulations, including but not limited to “Air
Pollution Control Ordinance”, “Water Pollution Control
Ordinance”, “Waste Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong
as well as “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”, the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution”, the “Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste” of Mainland
China. During the Reporting Period, the Group has not
identified any material non-compliance of environmental
laws and regulations relating to the air and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a
significant impact on the Group.
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Air Emissions

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment and does not involve any direct
manufacturing processes in the course of business.
Therefore, the air emissions are generated from use
of vehicles. The Group is committed to minimizing the
emissions generated during business operations as much
as possible. Air emissions and intensity were decreased in
2024 when comparing to 2023, mainly due to the use of
vehicles decreased in.

Steps taken

The Group’s air emissions are primarily attributable to
vehicle emissions, so we have implemented the below
measures to reduce the air emissions generated from
vehicle emissions:

° Optimise the operation procedure to improve the
laden ratio of motor vehicles and lower the vacancy
rate; and

° Perform regular maintenance on vehicles and
reduce number of vehicles to effectively reduce fuel
consumption, thereby reducing the carbon emission
and air emission.

GHG Emissions
The consumption of petrol (Scope 1), electricity at the

offices (Scope 2) and paper at the offices (Scope 3) are the
largest sources of GHG emissions of the Group.

RIE - e MERARE

R BER
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During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emission RREEE - AEENAEREBHNEER T _=F4
of the Group decreased by approximately 27.1% from 42 ABME— LI E 2R H27.1% 2 =T — U4 #930.93

approximately 42.43 tonnes CO,e in 2023 to approximately

“REREE - MREREBHN(HLE - 283) RE®

30.93 tonnes CO,e in 2024. The decrease in total GHG EJEZ’J\ FERP RSB ERE AR RINEE R

Emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) and intensity were mainly due FFrEY »

to the decrease in vehicle usage during the reporting period
and the decrease of purchased electricity. A summary of
emissions is as follows:

RERBHMRAMENT

Intensity Intensity
(Unit amount/ (Unit amount/
Key Performance Amount in employee)’ Amount in employee)’
Emission Category Indicator (KPI) Unit 2024 in 2024 2023 in 2023
“ECQE b St
BE BE
“IomE (BfiBE/ - -B-ZF (BRBE/
HHER BREVESR By g8 E8)* fE E8)
Air Emissions from Vehicles ~ NO, Kg 69.03 197 80.48 2.78
REAEERHR aaly =
SO, Kg 0.08 - 0.13 -
Raty 7
PM Kg 6.43 0.18 749 0.26
k) 7
GHG Emissions Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) Tomnes CO¢ 13.63 0.39 20.52 0.71
BEREHR — petrol consumption WS REE
BERRERBUN(EE)
/I/E/ﬁ%
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2)? Tonnes GO¢ 16.72 0.48 21.02 0.72
— electricity consumption W&l ﬁ?&%
AEREREHR(&E2)?
—-EEE
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 3) Tomnes CO¢ 0.59 0.02 0.90 0.03
— paper consumption B-&t ﬁ?&é
MR EREH R &ES)
—~HRER
Total GHG emission (Scope 1, 2 and 3)' Tomnes CO¢ 30.93 0.88 42.43 1.46
BEREBHNEE(HE1 - 2R3) Mgt ﬁ?&i
Notes: fEat -
1. GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide 1. BERBHREELZSLREEERY  WR2BREBHI
equivalent and was in reference to “How to prepare an ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ’]fﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁf&% MERERAME M= BE
ESG Report? — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on RIBARERUEIEMmEES! ] -
Environmental KPIs” issued by the HKEX.
2. Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2) was based on the 2. HMEAEREIHN(EE?2) -ASBEFSE I -T-=F
emission factor in the Hong Kong Electric Sustainability AR EERBER R -
Report 2023.
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Steps taken

In addition to the vehicle energy saving measures
mentioned in the section “Air Emissions” at this level,
we have actively adopted the following measures to
mitigate the GHG emissions in our operations. At the
office operation, we promote everyone to turn off the air-
conditioning system at night or when leaving office, keeping
the office temperature at 25°C in summer and promote
using LED lights or energy-saving light in the office, etc.

The Group issues environmental-related notices and
posters relating to the environmental information in the
offices to its staff to raise their awareness of environmental
preservation. During the year, we have ensured
teleconference or video conference facilities are equipped
in the offices that reduce business travel and meetings
needed so as to reduce carbon emissions.

Waste Treatment

The Group adheres to waste management principle and
strives to properly manage and dispose wastes produced
by our business activities. Our waste management practice
has been complied with relevant laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection.

Due to the Group’s business nature, we did not generate
significant amount of hazardous waste. Despite the
foregoing, the Group must appoint a qualified chemical
waste collector to manage the wastes if any hazardous
wastes are generated, in order to comply with the
environmental-related laws and regulations.

The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group’s
operations mainly consist of paper, toner cartridges and ink
cartridges.

RIE - g MERWRE

REVIE I

BT RAEmES BRI — S kB A s i
oh - RPIETRBREUA TR - EEERRTRELAER
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During the Reporting Period, the total non-hazardous waste
emission of the Group decreased approximately 16.8%
from approximately 226.11 kg in 2023 to approximately
188.10 kg in Year 2024. The total non-hazardous waste
emission was decreased mainly due to less usage of paper.
The Group did not use ink printer for the Reporting Period.
The decrease of total non-hazardous waste emission
intensity from last year of 7.8 to the Reporting Period of 5.37
was mainly due to reduction of usage per employee during
the Reporting Period. A summary of non-hazardous waste
emission is as follows:

RREHE - ASBENEEEVRENER S =F4
226 11 F M 416.8%E — B _IFEE4)188.10F 52 o
BEEEYFREERLETERHNERERSRPITHR -
RNEE P TR BRI 2R P BT ENH - mEEYHENE
ETEREFNT SR EREES.37  TBEANHE
AR B B TERER D E - EEREMHERERIRE
ZT

Intensity Intensity

(Unit amount/ (Unit amount/

Amount in employee)? Amount in employee)?

Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Unit 2024 in 2024 2023 in 2023

—ECoME —EBCI=fF

il T

“BomFE (BUHES —EDZF (BRgE/

ReENESR By HE E8)? HE EE8)’

Paper Kg 122.50 4.8 186.91 6.45
i S Tr

Toner cartridge® Kg 65.60 1.87 39.20 1.35
e TR

Ink cartridge* Kg - - - -
Ba T

Total non-hazardous waste emission  Kg 188.1 5.37 226.11 7.80
EEEDHREE TR

Notes: Bt -

3. The weight for one toner cartridge is approximately 0.8 kg.

4. The weight for one ink cartridge is approximately 0.2 kg.

Steps taken

We regularly monitor the consumption volume of paper,
toner cartridges and ink cartridges and have implemented
a number of reduction measures. We also encourage
our staff to sort and recycle the wastes to achieve the
objectives in mitigating wastes, reusing and recycling in its
operations. The Group maintains high standard in waste
reduction, educates its employees the significance of
sustainable development and provides relevant support in
order to enhance their skills and knowledge in sustainable
development.
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Moreover, we also encourage employees to participate in
daily waste reduction management, including:

° Promote green information and electronic
communication, such as e-mail and electronic
workflows, to implement “paperless system” concept;

° Place “Green Message” reminders on office

equipment;

o Reuse old envelopes and use double-side printing,
while paper for single-side printing would be only
adopted when handling official documents and
confidential documents when necessary; and

° Recommend the use of recycled paper.
A2. Use of Resources

The Group strives to optimise resource usage in business
operations, and continues with initiatives to introduce
resource efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the
Group’s operations. The Group has established policies
and measures in governing the efficient use of resources,
aiming to achieve higher energy efficiency and reduce
unnecessary use of materials. All offices have implemented
effective energy conservation measures to reduce
emissions and resource consumption.

Energy Consumption

Due to the business nature of the Group, the volume of
energy consumption, electricity consumption and water
consumption are considered as relatively low, in particular
water consumption is very limited. As mentioned in
the section A1, the Group has formulated policies and
procedures relating to the environmental management,
including energy management. Office electricity
consumption and vehicle petrol consumption account for
the major energy consumption for the Group.

RIE - e MERARE

AN - BT EEE2REEREERE - 8215
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During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption
of the Group decreased approximately 30.2% from
approximately 113,858.73 kWh in 2023 to approximately

RIMEHE @ REBMNEREFEEER T - =F%
113,858.73 T ELEF R 4 #130.2% & — & — PU4F4979,497.10
TRE -geREREEREZRERY)  TERRRREDS

79,497.10 kWh in 2024. The decrease in total energy FRENEBEEMRDERTMBE NRESIEINPTE -
consumption and intensity were mainly due to less petrol VURHIEEMEEEMENT ¢
being used for vehicles to cope with business operation
and more staff during the Reporting Period. A summary of
consumption in petrol and electricity is as follows:
Intensity Intensity
(Unit amount/ (Unit amount/
Amount in employee)? Amount in employee)?
Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Unit 2024 in 2024 2023 in 2023
—E-E —E-=fF
nE B
—BomE (BRMES/ -2-=F (EABES
BRENER By HE E8)? HE EE8)’
Petrol® kWh 55,953.10 1,598.86 84,256.73 2,905.40
e FRE
Electricity kWh 23,544.00 672.69 29,602.00 1,020.76
EV)) FRE
Total energy consumption kWh 79,497.10 2,271.35 113,858.73 4,005.75
gREREaE FRE
Note: it -
5. The actual petrol consumption in 2023 and 2022 was 5. RIZ=FRIZZ_FMNERANEREN AL
approximately 8,694 litres and 7,529.00 litres, respectively. 8,694 71 %27,5629.007t e
Steps taken FREIE e

On top of the measures of mitigating the energy
consumption mentioned above and under section Air
Emission in relation to relevant steps taken to reduce air
emissions generated from vehicle emission, the Group
strives to utilise telephone or video conference to minimise
face-to-face meeting in order to reduce petrol consumption
in traveling and unnecessary business trips. The Group
encourages resources saving in daily office operation and
proactively fosters a low-carbon corporate culture, which
further increases our employees’ awareness in energy
conservation.
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Water Management

The Group does not consume significant water in
our business activities. Regardless of limited water
consumption, we still promote behavioral changes at office
and encourage water conservation. Pantry and toilets are
posted with environmental messages to remind employees
of water conservation, which results in enhancing our
employees’ awareness in water conservation. Due to the
geographical location of the Group’s operation and nature
of business, there is no issue in sourcing water.

As the water used in the Hong Kong office is managed
by the property, the relevant actual water consumption is
not recorded and the total water consumption includes
only the Beijing office. During the Reporting Period, the
total water consumption was approximately 90.00 cubic
meters, which decreased by 14.3% to that of 2023 of
approximately 105.00 cubic meters. The intensity of total
water consumption of cubic meters per employee was
decreased by 29% to approximately 2.57 cubic meters in
2024 from approximately 3.62 cubic meters in 2023. The
decreased was mainly due to more staff being employed. A
summary of water consumption (equivalent to wastewater
discharge) is as follows:

RIE - e MERARE

FKEE

REBEXBEZETIEAEBMAK - #ARRKERR - B
BPUDHEB R AENTTANE - SBETAAZK o FROKE &

&?Fﬁi@,ﬁaﬁ*ﬁia%ﬂg REERESHHOAK  AKRST
BEMNEKER - ERELL M EREBEE - K

SBR B EAREUE ﬁﬁﬂvﬁtﬁ’ﬁ'ﬁ%o

HREANAZEZA/KAYMEEE  BEEERFEKEISR
Atk ABFKEREEIERBEAT - ReEHHHE -
BREKEHE0.003L F K BT = ¢%mamiﬁ
K AD14.83% - FREENFEHBFRKERER_ZT =
F43.6237 J KB A 29% E — B INFE42.5757 7K ©
LEE RN EBIZINATE - FEKE (BIE/KBERD B ZE a0
T

Intensity Intensity
(Unit amount/ (Unit amount/
Amount in employee)? Amount in employee)?
Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Unit 2024 in 2024 2023 in 2023
11 —B-=H
—E-NE (BfuEE —B-=F (BfugE
BRI B yE fE8): y& fEs):
Total water consumption Cubic meters 90 2.57 105 3.62
BREKE K
Steps taken FRIRIE 1o

The Group controls the consumption of water by
strengthening the water conservation education work for all
staff and conducting leakage test and maintenance work
regularly.
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Use of Packing Material

Due to our business nature, the Group did not have
significant physical products for sale and therefore did not
involve any use of packaging materials. Therefore, this
disclosure is not applicable to the Group.

Target

Given the current economy, business nature and
development strategy, the Group believes that it is more
appropriate to set a longer targets after the economy has
recovered to implement a more environmentally friendly
model. The Group has set emission targets to maintained
at the level of the Reporting Period for Year 2024 in relation
to the total GHG emission, non-hazardous waste and use
of resources. We will continue to adopt the measures in
this ESG Report to achieve the targets.

A3. Environment and Natural Resources
Environmental Impact Management

The Group recognises the responsibility in minimising the
negative environmental impact of our business operations,
in order to achieve sustainable development for creating
long-term values to our stakeholders and community as
a whole. The Group pursues the best practices in the
environment protection and focuses on the impact of
the Group’s businesses to the environment and natural
resources. In addition to complying with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations as well as to protect
the environment, the Group has integrated the concept of
environmental protection into its internal management and
daily operations, with the aim of achieving environmental
sustainability.
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Noise Pollution

The Group’s productions and live-streaming e-commerce
are conducted in conference room and studios with good
soundproof facilities. However, we strive to continuously
monitor if the business operations incur any potential
impact to the environment, necessary noise pollution
practices are implemented during our production, live
streaming e-commerce and concert and event organisation
activities to minimises such impact to the environment.
The Group regularly reviews its environmental protection
policies and has adopted the necessary precautionary
measures and actions to reduce significant impact on the
environment and natural resources, and ensure that the
Group complies with relevant laws and regulations.

Outdoor Lightings

The Group strives to minimise any unnecessary interference
to the natural landscape and animal habitat in the process
of production and concert and event organisation, in order
to maintain the natural beauty of the environment. During
outdoor production and concert and event organisation
(if any), the lightings are adjusted to avoid disturbing
neighborhood whenever possible. Most of the related
activities are also performed in the indoor area.
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A4. Climate Change

The Group believes that climate change is affecting
societies and economies around the world and therefore it
also impacts upon our business. The Group has identified
the potential financial or strategic impact on our business
are set out below.

Transition Risks
1. Policy and Legal Risk

The Group acknowledges the importance of adhering to all
relevant laws and regulations. During the year, there have
been no specific policy and legal requirements identified
that pose an immediate or significant risk to the Group’s
operations, and no contingencies related to climate change
have been noted.

2. Market Risk

Consumers appetite for entertainment content has
increased significantly. This demand will lead to an
intensive competition among competitors. The products
and services such as original script creation and adaptation
are continuously shaping to fit the market demand. As an
entertainment content provider, we are committed to work
closely with our partners and understand the needs of our
customers through communications.

Steps taken

The Group actively collaborates with industry experts
(such as seasoned directors, writers), film and television
production companies, engaging in the creation of film
and television intellectual property, in order to obtain more
potential resources and reserves to enhance our content
attractiveness, relevance and competitiveness.
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Physical Risks
Acute Risk

Most of the acute physical risks which the Group is
exposed to are tied to the potential impact that climate
change may have on the risks of extreme events (e.qg.
floods, storms, pandemics, freezing temperatures and
high winds). If these physical risks materialise, it may pose
risks to the Group’s release of films in the cinemas and
organization of concerts and events resulting in incurring
extra cost due to cancellation or postponement.

Chronic Risk

Gradual changes in mean temperature has the potential
to reduce outdoor daytime activities. Such as outdoor
concerts and events during the day.

Steps taken

During the pandemic, the Group had either entered into
an extension agreement or obtained mutual understanding
with relevant parties to reschedule the time table of
concerts and events.

B. SOCIETY
B1. Employment

For our industry, human resources are regarded as the
Group’s the largest and most valuable assets and the
foundation in supporting the development of the Group.
They provide the driving force for continuous innovation
to the Group. The Group established relevant policies
to support our human assets. These policies covering
recruitment, compensation, promotion, working hours and
holidays, diversity and equal opportunity, etc. The Group’s
Staff Handbook contains polices in regards to recruitment,
promotion, discipline, working hours and leave. The human
resources department has been responsible for ensuring
all employees have fully understood the contents of the
handbook.
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The Group has complied with all laws and regulations on
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare, including
but not limited to the “Listing Rules”, the “Companies
Ordinance”, the “Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance”, “Minimum Wages Ordinance”, the “Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance” of Hong Kong and the “Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Regulations
on Labour Security Supervision” of Mainland China. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance incident with local employment-related laws
and regulations in that would have a significant impact on
the Group.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group has actively implemented the strategy of
strengthening enterprise through talents, established
and been continuously improving the talent recruitment
and selection system. In the recruitment process, the
Group has standardised the recruitment process and
principle, adhered to the employment principles of morality,
knowledge, ability, experience and fitness applicable
to job positions as well as the principles of openness,
fairness, competitiveness and on a selective basis, so as to
continuously attract and recruit talents.

The Group conducts classified management for employees,
specifies the basis and process of management for staff
promotion, transfer and demotion, regulates the departure
and dismissal process, and protects the interests of both
employees and the Group.

In addition, unreasonable dismissal of staff under any
circumstances is not allowed in the Group. The dismissal
process will only be conducted on a reasonable basis and
will ensure that adequate communication has been made
prior to the formal dismissal. During the Reporting Period,
the total employee turnover rate of the Group was 20.7%.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 35
employees, which are divided as follows:

RIE - g MERWRE

BE-T-WE+-A=1—0 AEEHL#BEE
B HESMT :

Age group Fhe
Unit: Number of employees
B EEBAH™
Aged
Aged 30 between Aged 51
or below 30 to 50 or above Total
Gender 5Bl 30HEHEAT 30-505% S51mELLLE mE
Male Bk 1 9 5 15
Female g 5 13 2 20
Total 1B 6 22 7 35
Position B
Unit: Number of employees
B EEAY
General staff Management Total
Gender 3Bl —RIEE EEE wmey
Male S 8 7 15
Female pegi 18 2 20
Total b 26 9 35

Note: Two Directors (both male) were included in the

i BERETREMBEZWIRAMN) -

Management.
Employment type Y2 Ll
Unit: Number of employees
B EEA"
Total
Full-time i 35
Part-time FRE -
Total B 35
Geographical location 1% &) 7
Unit: Number of employees
B EEBAH"
Total
Locations i ey
PRC H 26
Hong Kong BB 9
Total g 35
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The following tables below show the employee turnover

THBRRA/-ZE_MNFERIER - FhedATMRE D HE

rate by gender, age group and geographical region in Year BiRAE
2024:
Employee turnover by category brig eV ol =P
Unit: Number of employees
By EEAK
Age group
Fie
Aged
Aged 30 between Aged 51
or below 30 to 50 or above Total
Gender 3l 30 BT 30-50%%  S51mELlE me
Male B 4 1 B 5
Employee turnover rate (%) BEMKE(%) 400.0% 11.1% % 33.7%
Female g - 1 - 1
Employee turnover rate (%) BEMAKE(%) % 7.7% % 5.0%
Total L 4 2 - 6
Total employee turnover rate (%)  #B1E B KE (%) 66.7% 9.1% -% 20.7%
Geographical location 1% & 75
Unit: Number of employees
B EEA™
Employee
Employee turnover
turnover rate (%)
Locations i EBERK EERKE(%)
PRC a2 5 19.2%
Hong Kong B 1 11.1%

The turnover data in headcount was obtained from the
Group’s human resources department based on the
employment contracts entered into between the Group
and its employees (employees joined and left the Company
during the Reporting Period were not taken into account).
Turnover rate was calculated by dividing the number of
employees who resigned in FY2024 by the number of
employees as at 31 December 2024.
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Remuneration and Benefit

The management regularly reviews the Group’s
remuneration and benefits policies in reference to the
market standards and is committed to safeguarding the
rights and interests of the staff. Remuneration and benefits
have been adjusted on an annual basis in accordance
with the employees’ individual performance, contribution
and market conditions. The Group has established KPls
for performance evaluation. Based on the result, the
Group offers rewards to employees in encouraging their
achievement.

The Group earnestly safeguards the legitimate rights and
interests of labour, in accordance with the requirements
of the laws and regulations of the “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China” of Mainland China and the
“Employment Ordinance” of Hong Kong, respects the
rights of employees to rest and take leave, and regulates
the working hours and their rights for various types of rest
times and holidays. We implement the paid annual leave
system for employees and overtime wage is paid for labour
exceeding statutory working hours in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the “Regulation on Paid
Annual Leave for Employees”.

Diversity, Equal-opportunity and Anti-discrimination

The Group strictly complies with various national and local
government laws and regulations by adopting a fair, just
and open recruitment process and developing relevant
system files to eliminate discrimination in the recruitment
process, whose employees faces no discrimination
regardless of race, social status, religion, nationality,
disability, age, marital status, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, membership of the union, political connection
and etc., and thus allowing employees to enjoy fair
treatment in every aspect including hiring, salary, training,
promotion, determination of labour contract, retirement or
other aspects related to employment, with an endeavour to
attract professionals with diverse backgrounds to join the
Group. We strive to provide equal opportunities in every
aspects, committed to maintaining the employee diversity
and strongly prohibit any unfair treatment.
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B2. Health and Safety
Occupational Health and Safety

The Group highly values the health and safety of employees
and strive to provide a healthy, safe and comfortable
working environment for employees. We have been trying
to eliminate potential health and safety hazards in the
working environment and conduct safety management in
every aspect to secure the personal safety and health of
employees during work. The human resources department
is responsible for setting up an occupational health and
safety management system and well-stocked first-aid kits
to provide a safe working environment for employees. The
objective of the system is for monitoring and reviewing the
safety and health of employee periodically, and performing
regular checking in the office to ensure the safety of
working environment. The Group has established an
office security, safety and other standards to identify and
minimize potential risks in the workplace. In response to
COVID-19, the Group has established a safety protocol
and guidelines to uplift a safe working environment for our
employees and working partners.

The Group has complied with all laws and regulations
related to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards, including
but not limited to, the “Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance” and “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
of Hong Kong and “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases”, the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety” of
Mainland China. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance incident with local
health and safety related laws and regulations in that would
have a significant impact on the Group.

The Group prioritises its staff and working partners at all
times.

There were no work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the Reporting Period. There
was no lost days due to work injury in the Reporting Period.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group places great emphasis on the establishment
of the enterprise’s internal management training and
development system, employees are regarded as the
Group’s largest and most valuable assets and the core of
the competitive advantage. We provide staff with training
courses for upgrading skills, knowledge and development
as needed and meet the different needs of employees at all
levels.

The Group encourages and supports employees to
participate in personal and professional training. The Group
also encourages the culture of sharing of knowledge and
experience.

The continuous professional development of the Directors is
highly valued by the Group, which ensures the compliance
with relevant regulations and good corporate governance
practices. The Group utilised online resources and
provided training materials all Directors to ensure that they
understand the directors’ responsibilities and obligations
under the GEM Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The following tables below shows number of employees
and percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category and the average training hours
completed per employee:

Number of employees and percentage of employees
trained by gender and employee category
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Number of employees

EEA"
Senior Middle General

Management Management Staff Total
Gender 4 Bl SREEE AFPREEE —RIEE wme
Male S 3 2 3 8
Percentage being trained (%) ZHE B (%) 100.0% 50.0% 37.5% 53.3%
Female pegis - 1 5 6
Percentage being trained (%) ZHE B (%) -% 50.0% 27.8% 30.0%
Total being trained e B BE 3 3 8 14
Percentage being trained (%) ZHE B (%) 100.0% 50.0% 30.8% 40.0%

Note: Two Directors (both male) were included in the Senior
Management.
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Average training hours completed per employee

& 7 18 5 5T 5 19 F 105 2

Unit: Number of hours
B : EE

Senior Middle General

Management Management Staff Total
Gender 4 5l SREEE FREEE —RES wme
Male B 12.2 3.2 0.3 3.4
Female % - 0.3 0.2 0.2
Total FEE 9.6 0.5 0.2 1.6
B4. Labour Standards B4.%5 T %A
Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour BrIFET REHET

The Group strictly prohibits employing any child labour or
forced labour in its operations in Hong Kong and Mainland
China.

The Group has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations related to the prevention of child labour or
forced labour including but not limited to, the “Employment
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and the “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labour” of Mainland China.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with child and forced labour-
related laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group.

Steps taken

The Group has established a well-defined recruitment
process which examines the background of candidates
and a formal reporting procedure for handling any
exception. During the recruitment process, the age of the
applicant is verified against the identity documents of the
applicant. In addition, the Group conducts regular reviews
and inspections to prevent any child labour or forced labour
in operation.

In the meantime, the Group also avoids engaging vendors
and contractors which are already known to be employing
child labour or forced labour in their operations.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Environmental and Social Risk Management of
Supply Chain

The Group understands the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and
social risks. We are aware of the environmental and social
practices of the suppliers, and try to engage suppliers with
responsible acts to the society in view of green supply chain
management. The Group has established and implemented
the Supplier Management Policy in order to strengthen the
selection of suppliers. We welcome qualified, competent
and high-quality suppliers to join.

The Group’s procurement department is responsible for
organising the supplier evaluation work in two ways which
include the ongoing project evaluation and the annual
assessment. The evaluation results will serve as the basis
of supplier management. Suppliers need to quickly respond
to the assessment result, and adopt effective measures
to improve the services provided within prescribed period.
The Group has the rights to terminate the cooperation with
service providers who violate the rules or do not meet the
targets.

The Group has formulated Supplier Selection Policy
and preserve a Supplier Registration. In the selection
of new suppliers, the Group considers their operational
and compliance records as well as their commitment
level on top of cost consideration. Prior to conducting
business with suppliers, we carry out annual reviews and
evaluations in various aspects including occupational health
and safety, employee rights protection, environmental
protection and corporate social responsibility. This ensures
that our operations comply with national standards or
relevant regulations and that we have no child or forced
labour issues. The assessment results will be used
as a benchmark for the continuation or termination of
cooperation in the future.

The Group considers the principle of environmental
protection. For example, in the course of selecting
suppliers for each project, we assess whether the materials
used by the suppliers in the activities are hazardous to the
environment and whether they can effectively conserve
energy and minimise carbon emissions.
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The Group maintains close liaison with its suppliers to
monitor its performance to ensure that it is consistent with
its service commitment. During the Reporting Period, the
Group worked with 12 major suppliers, of which 1 located
in Hong Kong, 1 located in Taiwan, 2 located in Macao and
8 located in the PRC.

B6. Product Responsibility

We have always maintained communication with customers
to ensure that we understand and satisfy customers’
needs and expectations, and hope to understand
customers’ satisfaction to continuously improve our
production quality. We strictly comply with relevant laws
and regulations, including but not limited to, the “Trade
Descriptions Ordinance” of Hong Kong as well as the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests”, the “Advertising Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Interim Measures
for Administration of Internet Advertising”, the “Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China” of Mainland
China and other laws and regulations relevant to consumer
rights. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any significant matters that violated the laws and
regulations relevant to product and service quality.

Quality and Safety of Services

As a media and event producer, we define quality of
the production content as the key to improve customer
satisfaction. The Group pays high attention to both quality
and safety of the service. The Group has established
relevant quality and safety inspection policies for different
projects, communicates with our customers and confirms
their project expectation and direction prior to launching
any project, and actively coordinates projects with
customers in the process of providing services.

During the Reporting Period, there were no services or
products being recalled for safety and health reasons, and
no services or products related complaints being received.
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IP Management and Privacy

The Group’s daily operations involve the use of the
IP owned by customers, suppliers or the Group itself.
Therefore, the protection of IP rights is an extremely
important task for the Group. When the Group engages
with its customers or suppliers, it will include the protection
of IP in the contractual terms. The Group will also review all
the contracts in operation and ensure that the contractual
terms protect both parties’ IP rights. The Group also
requires technical professionals to sign strict confidentiality
agreements. Confidential information of our customers is
only accessible to employees who are responsible for the
corresponding project.

The Group has established data privacy policy to handle
various data and information to ensure the compliance with
local laws and regulations. Confidential personal data is
stored at security server with access control.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complies with
relevant laws governing the confidentiality of data and
IP, including but not limited to “Trade Marks Ordinance”,
“Copyright Ordinance”, “Patents Ordinance” of Hong Kong
as well as “Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China” of
Mainland China.

Social Moral Standards

Media and broadcasting companies have social
responsibilities on its content propagated to the public as
its huge impact to the vast amount of audience. Based
on the nature of the business, most of the content on the
internet channel is online live broadcast or produced by
different internet users. According to the relevant laws and
regulations such as “Beijing Self-Discipline Convention
on Network Performance (Live Broadcasting)” and other
standards, the Group has established strict rules on these
contents.

In order to ensure the compliance with the national
regulations, the Group regularly checks the content of
its broadcasts and program production activities. The
Group is committed to providing positive messages for the
community.
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The Group has complied with all relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the “Provisions
on the Administration of Online Publishing Services”
circulated by the State Administration of Press, Publication,
Radio, Film and Television and the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology, the “Regulation on Internet
Information Services of the People’s Republic of China”
promulgated by the State Council. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations.

B7. Anti-corruption

The Group strives to achieve high standards of ethics in our
business operations. Fraudulent events such as corruption,
bribery, and collusion are strictly prohibited. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations related to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
but not limited to, “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” of
Hong Kong and the “Corruption Ordinance of the People’s
Republic of China” of Mainland China. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
incident with local prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering relevant laws and regulations, nor
any concluded corruption cases.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has provided anti-
money laundering training materials to the Directors.

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud

The Group has implemented the Prevention of Commercial
Bribery Management Policy, strengthened its internal
control mechanism, anti-corruption and anti-bribery work
S0 as to achieve the business philosophy of “abiding by the
law, integrity and quality service”. For projects with higher
monetary value, the Group shall consider when fit on an
open bidding invitation to at least three suppliers. Different
level of approval and authorisation is required according to
the size of the tender agreement.

The policy also includes the establishment of an inspection
team and the establishment of a channel for evaluation
the cases. It is strictly forbidden to use the business
opportunities or powers to obtain personal interests or
benefits. Employees should comply with the rules stated in
the Staff Handbook in performing business activities.
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The Group has established Whistleblowing Policy and
procedures for all levels and operations. Staff can raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties
such as misconduct and malpractice in any matter related
to the Group. The Group also encourages employees
and all persons with whom the Group does business,
including customers and suppliers, to report the suspected
misconduct within the Group voluntarily.

There were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees
during the reporting period.

B8. Community Investment
Contributions to Society

The Group encourages employees to participate in charity
events, volunteer works, and environmental protection
activities in order to make contributions to our society. We
believe that our employee could build up positive value
and to be socially responsible through participate in those
activities.

The Group enhances the quality of life of community
through arts and culture activities (if any). As the culture
development, the community can gain a deeper
understanding of history and culture and enjoy higher
appreciation of the present and future cultural activities and
to a greater level of enjoyment.

As a moral and responsible enterprise, the content of
the broadcasts, live streaming and organised events
are produced in accordance with the Group’s policy of
considering community interests and fully complied with
the national regulations and rules, which further promotes
positive news to the community and restricts any negative
content, including rendering violence, pornography, hatred,
superstition, gambling, to be broadcasted.

The Group will consider from time to time to make
donations to charities when the Group records after-tax
profits and has sufficient funds.

RIE - g MERWRE

AEECFIEERRMAERBE K EENRRBRERF -
EEAEREAIRT @ IRHEA AT FENBBAEEN

“EBER BMTTRRE  RARTE - AKETSER
BERBREF HEAEAZMARRAKEERBERZ
AL TREBFAEEZERTETR °

RBEREILABREHAKE S EEBIRBERNETHA

e

B8.iLEIRE
HERZ

AEEZEREZ2NEELRY TR IERRRFRER
8 UAERFANEEFERER - RFEE - BREASEZ
FHermEd  RANEBRAEIRENHEER KK
BRRRBHERTENHAR

AEEBBENXICED (08 BEHLET R EEE
2 BSUEMER - LB TR IERER - BTHESE
ML AT RAMRENE SHREL D - P EHEA
B o

AEEER—FEBRREERNEE  HHBATH
15 BHEREE RS ERITE B LR SAOBER
EHFEEARRE  BYREETFRERDME - BEENR
EERFERN - 25 - IR - &(E - BEFHAR -

AEETE TR EERAEBE SRR EEN NS FTH
BeRmAEEEREN -

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE

68



69

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - B REARE

THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG ERBERZFERQAAN(RE  HEREARARER

LIMITED’S ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX SYRABRSIF

Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
=] ESGI5Z it =LY i
A. Environmental

AR

A1: Emissions General Disclosure Information on: 45
Al - HHY

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Note: Air emissions include NO_, SO, and other
pollutants regulated under national laws
and regulations. Greenhouse gases include
carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and
sulphur hexafluoride. Hazardous wastes
are those defined by national regulations.

— IR BREERMBER YN - MK R A
5 BEREZEEYNELESN
(@ BEK: &
(o) BFEHBITABERTEMNRBEERE
K A8 151
K& R} o

i BERBTMERARLY - Al R EMm
HEZOERRRPIRENTRY c BAER
BEE_SALIHR T SRR - SR
e - 2HEBEANFR - BEE
EMEBERROIMAES -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective 47
emissions data.

PSR AR IE1RAL A BERTE SR AR P AR -
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Aspects
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ESG Indicators
ESGig#Z

Description
it

Page/Remark
B HE

KPIA1.2

FABHERIEIRA1.2

KPIA1.3

RSB IERALS

KPI A1.4

RSB IS IRAL 4

KPI A1.5

RSB IE1RALS

KPI A1.6

RS NIEIZA1.6

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

B (FGEN) kA (BE2) RERE
B E (LAt & )&(ﬁﬂkﬁﬁ) E (A
ESBA - FERETE

Due to the Group’s business nature,
we did not generate significant amount
of hazardous waste, total hazardous
waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

MR ARNEENESILE - AEBTEESL
REEEEY  FEEEEEZEDHEE (A
WEAHE) R (EA) BE (A SEES
fi7 - GIERMERTE) ©

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FrEAEEEEYAE (LTS ) & (10
BA)EE(WMABES BN - BIERMER
&)

Description of emissions target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

R PIRI LMV HEE B IR R RERE L
TRPTERER A 22 B] o

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

Wil ERBEERYN L - M
L%Jimﬂﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ B ELBIRAT
BRI PR -

HERIZERER AR

47

48

49

48

49
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
=i ESG#51Z it B fEE
A2: Use of Resources General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, 50-53
A2 BREA including energy, water and other raw

materials.

Note: Resources may be used in production,
in storage, transportation, in buildings,
electronic equipment, etc.

—RIKE BRERER(BIEER - KR EMEM
FHEBER o

it AR AREE - 17 - EH BT 8
FRES -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption 51
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

RAS AR R 1RA2.1 RERE D ER R REEER(NE -
mon)BEE(UTETRRAR) REE
(WMABESEN - §ERBTHE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity 52
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

RBEEIEIRA2.2 BEKEREE(MABESEN - BIHR

HoET ) o

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) 51
set and steps taken to achieve them.

FASAESIE1RA2.3 e P RT LR BEIR(E M as B R S iz
L B IRFTERENAY P8R

KPI'A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in 53, 54
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

BB IERA2.4 R SKEGE R 7KIR_ LRI B EAIREE - AR
PRI MR RK e B IR R ER G L B IR
PREREREY 2P
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ESG Indicators
ESGig#Z

Description
it

Page/Remark
B HE

A3: The Environment and

Natural Resources

3 RERXAER

A4: Climate Change

A4 . TIREE

KPI A2.5

FABHEIEIRA2.5

General Disclosure

—fRI R

KPI A3.1

RABAAE BIEIRAS. 1

General Disclosure

—fRIN R

KPI A4.1

RSB BUEIZAL A

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

ST A BREM B A E (ARG E ) &
(Em) SEESMLE -

Policies on minimising the issuer’s
significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources.

IEETABRRRARAREREREAT
EHEK -

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

W EB RS EIRIE N ARARERNEAF
ENERMEEERTENT -

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

RN IRE IS %Qﬁ%ﬁA?i
EMBARIFHEBEENBR

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

B R RE e HETAEETENSE
KRERBEET  REHTTE -

HERIZERER AR

53

53

53

55, 56

55, 56
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Aspects ESG Indicators
=] ESGIEZ

Description Page/Remark
P B fEE

B. Social
BAE

Employment and Labour
Practices

BRERETIESR

B1: Employment General Disclosure

B1: &

—fRIN R

KPI B1.1

RS IA IBIZBT 1

KPIB1.2

FASHEIE1RB1.2
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Information on: 56, 57
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

BRI RE - BIERE - TIFR
2 RY - FERE - Zlt - RERIA
R EAFFERAEFE -

() BER: &

b) ETHETABEATENERER
KA

ER: -

Total workforce by gender, employment 58
type (for example, full- or part-time), age
group and geographical region.

IR REER (N2 RERE) - Fik
MR RitREI D H BB A -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age 59
group and geographical region.

AR - FEERI RInE B AR B R E
b o
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
B ESGIEE i Bl R
B2: Health and Safety General Disclosure Information on: 61
B2 : LS
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
— MR EE ERAREHZE2TIHERSERRERSREHE
i
@ BE: K
(b) BETFHETABEATENEBER
&Rl
BYERL o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities 61
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.
R AR IR IEB2.1 BEAZF(BEERFE)BFEAITHREY
ANE L -
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 61
BRI IE1EB2.2 ETEBERTIEES -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and 61

FASAE M IE15B2.3

safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

WA B R RREZ 2R - ARk
MERREIT M EEER TR ©

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
B ESGISE i B fEE
B3: Development and General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ 62
Training knowledge and skills for discharging duties
B3 : #ERE5 at work. Description of training activities.
Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may
include internal and external courses paid
by the employer.
—MRBEE BREREERITIIERE N AE R
BVERER o fUFIIES -
et - IRAIEREE - AIeEREENENR
HNERRIE ©
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by 62
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).
BB 4E DHE1EB3.1 EMRIREESEN(INSRELE « ARE
EE)ESHNEIEEADL
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed 63
per employee by gender and employee
category.
RS 4E N E1EB3.2 RUERIREEERNED BEEETKE
ElEoRS Sk
B4: Labour Standards General Disclosure Information on: 63

B4 @ ZTE|

—RIRE
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(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced
labour.
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page/Remark
B ESGIEE i Bl R
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review 63
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.
RS R 1RBA. 1 Rt SHBISE B M AR R E T 58
BT -
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such 63
practices when discovered.
RS E M IEIRB4.2 R IR B R IE R B R B BB SRR
EXRY PR o
B5: Supply Chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and 64
Management social risks of the supply chain.
B5 @ REHREE
—MRIREE ERHEENRIE R GRREE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 65
RS R 1RBS. 1 it E D H R EE -
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 64
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
RS E M E1RB5.2 A AR HEERED - mERITE
FEOIRHERSEE - RABERITRE
BRE -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 64, 65
environmental and social risks along
the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
RS E M E1RB5.3 ft A AR R B EIR ANV ERIR At
SRRAED - LARABREEITREERTE
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 64

FA%EAE W IE1RB5.4

environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

I SRR R R R (R 2 2 R IREE an 2
ARTGHIER] - LA RARRRTT REESIE

HERIZERER AR

—Eo SRS
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Aspects ESG Indicators
=] ESGIEZ

Description Page/Remark
P B fEE

B6: Product Responsibility ~ General Disclosure
B6 : EmET

—RRIN R

KPI B6.1

A% W FE15B6.1

KPI B6.2

FASAE W IE15B6.2

KPI B6.3

FASAA WIE15B6.3

KPI B6.4

FA%EAE W IE15B6.4
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Information on: 65, 66
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating

to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

ﬁﬁ%%ﬁé%ﬂ%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁi &
& BREMLBEEARERIEN

(@ BEK: &

b ETHETABEATENERER
K

BER o

Percentage of total products sold or 65
shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

DESRDIERER ﬂ%$ly ER i
EREENGIER

Number of products and service related 65
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

BRI E m MARTS AR B B DA K R
JIE e

Description of practices relating to observing 66
and protecting intellectual property rights.

1 SR A e [ AR IR AR E R B RE R 1B

Description of quality assurance process 65
and recall procedures.
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Description
it

Page/Remark
B HE

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 : RE)S

KPI B6.5

FASAE W IE15B6.5

General Disclosure

—fRI R

KPI B7.1

RASAE MIE1RBT A

KPIB7.2

FASEMIE1RBT .2

KPIB7.3

FASAEMIE1RBT7.3

Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

B E B RMRE RALFRER - AN
BT M EEER TR »

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.

BE LR - 1R - BEFRERERN
(@ BEK: &

b) ETHETABEATENERER
K

BER o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.

REFRRARE T AIEEERHITEE
REHVEDS RV BI B RAFAAER o

Description of preventive measures and

whistle-blowing procedures, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

TPy b M BRAR R - A RARRITT
KEEBRTTIE

Description of anti-corruption training
provided to directors and staff.

WREERERRH‘NREISHE -

HERIZERER AR

66

67

68

68

67
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Aspects ESG Indicators
=] ESGIEZ

Description
it

Page/Remark
il HE

Community
HE

B8: Community Investment General Disclosure

B8 @ HERE

—fRI R

KPI B8.1

FA%E A W FE15B8 1

KPI B8.2

FASAA M IE15B8.2
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Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

BN RSERTHEEMELRFEE
MEREEEEBEE BRI EABE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

EIRRERE(HE  RERE  HT1H
KRR - b - BBE) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time)
to the focus area.

EFIRBMPAER(NSENKER) -
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68
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Philip Jian Yang, aged 62, is an Executive Director
and the President and Chief Executive Officer of our Group.
Mr. Yang is the son of the founders of the Group. Mr. Yang
has been primarily responsible for the overall operations,
management, business development and strategic planning
of our Group. Prior to joining our Group, he was appointed
as the general manager of Beijing Zhonglu Intelligence
Cultural Development Co., Ltd. in November 1994. Mr.
Yang graduated from the Business Institute of Beijing
(currently Beijing Technology and Business University)
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration and
commerce in July 1983. He is also a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company and the director of
certain subsidiaries in the Group.

Mr. Wang Yong (“Mr. Wang”), aged 56, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Group on 21 April 2015 and has
been redesignated as an executive Director with effect from
18 September 2023. Mr. Wang has been primarily responsible
for supervising our Group’s overall management and strategic
planning. Mr. Wang was the deputy managing director at Beijing
Tianyi Jinxiu Co., Ltd. during 2003 to 2022.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Shiyuan, aged 48, is a Non-Executive Director
of the Company. He joined the Group in October 2002
as a project assistant and was promoted to the position
of project manager in August 2004. He was responsible
for supervising the Group’s business in large-scale
performance events, such as awards ceremonies and
movie premieres. From October 2009 to the date of re-
designation as a non-executive director, he served as a
project director in the Group.
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E= R EEREEE

Mr. Ge Xuyu, aged 58, was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director of our Group on 21 April 2015. Mr. Ge has been
primarily responsible for seeking investment and acquisition
opportunities and managing the investment project of the
Group. Mr. Ge was been serving as the general manager of
Mongolian Desert Resources LLC between December 2010
and December 2013. He is currently certified as a senior
accountant in the PRC. During May 1983 to February
2002, he worked at China Construction 4th Engineering
Bureau 6th Corp. Limited holding financial positions and
was promoted to senior accountant in August 2001. From
February 2003 to December 2010, he served as a deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Dongrunda Investments
Development Co., Ltd.. Mr. Ge graduated from Anhui
Open University majoring in financial accounting in 1990.
He obtained the qualification as an accountant in October
1994.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Fu Yuehong, aged 63, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of our Group on 10
July 2019. She is the president of Beijing Commercial
Association. Ms. Fu graduated from the Beijing Institute
of Business (now known as Beijing Technology and
Business University) with a bachelor’s degree in business
and economics in 1983. She is a senior economist and
also holds a bachelor’s degree in law in China University
of Political Science and Law. She had been the deputy
minister of finance and minister of Marketing of Beijing New
Yansha Group*, and was the chairman of Beijing Capital
Retailing Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600723), a company
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, from February 2015 to
June 2018. She has extensive experience in management,
finance and marketing.

For identification purpose only
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Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, aged 37, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Group on 18
July 2018. Mr. Yau has been appointed as chief financial
officer and company secretary of Hope Life International
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1683), on 22 October
2021. Mr. Yau had been the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Wai Hung Group Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 3321), since its listing in April 2019
to May 2021. Mr. Yau graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree of business
administration (Honours) in professional accountancy in
October 2011. He has been a certified public accountant
registered with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since January 2018. Mr. Yau worked in
the audit and assurance department at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu since September 2011 and he left Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as an audit manager in February 2018.
Mr. Yau has been appointed as the company secretary of
HSC Resources Group Limited (stock code: 1850) since 17
March 2022.

Mr. Wang Xinghua (£ 8 %) (“Mr. Wang XH"), aged 42,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee with
effect from 18 September 2023. Mr. Wang XH obtained
a degree of Bachelor of Engineering in materials science
and engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in
July 2005. Mr. Wang XH has over 15 years of experience
in audit and accounting. Mr. Wang XH has obtained the
certificate for passing all the required subjects of the
National Uniform CPA Examination of the PRC in January
2008, and he is a non-practising member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wang XH
is the China Finance FP&A Director of EF English First
Language Training (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since May 2017.
Prior to his current role, Mr. Wang XH had served as a
senior manager at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu China and as
assistant controller at Otis Elevator Management (Shanghai)
Company Limited* (BRHEHER( LG BRAF]).

Note: Each of the Directors does not have any relationship
with any other Directors and any member of our senior
management.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fu Chung Yiu, aged 49, was appointed as chief
financial controller of the Group on 3 April 2018. Mr. Fu
holds a bachelor’s degree of science in actuarial science
from London School of Economics and Political Science.
Mr. Fu has over 17 years’ experience in financial, merger &
acquisition, risk and investment management before joining
the Company. He previously worked in Chevalier Asset
Management Limited (a wholly own subsidiary of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 025)) and UBS
Group AG as assistant manager and associate director
respectively. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Fu was a
director of an advisory company.
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The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”)
is pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s financial performance for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 127 of this annual report and the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of financial position on pages 128
and 129 of this annual report.

The financial position of the Company as at 31 December
2024 is set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
dividend policy of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 33 to this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
in page 130 and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB119.2 million (as
at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB104.8 million).
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did
not made any charitable contributions (2023: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development
are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to
18 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business
operations of the Group, major risks are summarised
below.

Reliance on limited number of customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue
from a limited number of customers. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the five largest customers of the
Group contributed 94.8% of total revenue to the Group.
There is a risk that these significant customers to cancel
or early terminate the contract and no assurance that
these significant customers will continue their business
relationship with the Group or that the revenue generated
from the customers will increase or be maintained in the
future. The Group will continue to expand the customer
base to mitigate the risk.

Intense competition

The film and television broadcasting content production
market is highly fragmented. New players are entering into
the market, while existing big players are growing. The
Group is facing pricing pressure from the television stations,
platforms and participants which have the sole decision
making. The Group also faces threat of substitution by
games and competition programs which take up higher
proportions of audience rating compared to television
broadcasting contents.
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The robust sector in the event organisation is very
competitive. Apart from competition with other event
organisers, artist agencies, online video networks and film
distributors with high backward integration ability, many
corporations setup their own in-house public relations,
which have the ability to organise their own events such as
annual parties, concerts and events. Further, companies
that are well-established in other related fields such as
public relations agencies, also are the potential competitors
of the event organisation segment of the Group.

Uncertainties of market demand of recently
developed business

The Group had made material investment in the mobile
application development and operation business. The
Group believes this business has huge potential under
the fast growing internet platform and the huge demand
in the pan-entertainment sector. However, the Group is
not able to realise its optimistic expectation on certain
businesses within this segment. As no revenue was derived
from the provision of electronic platforms for entertainment
contents consumption and e-commerce, such as online
store in recent years, the Group has decided to cease
the businesses in relation to the provision of electronic
platforms for entertainment contents consumption and
e-commerce. After reviewing the operation and market
changes of this segment by the management of the
Group, cessation of these businesses did not have material
adverse financial impact to the Group.

The Group will continue to operate the remaining
businesses, including the provision of live streaming
e-commerce, online advertising services, mobile application
development and related services within this segment.
However, the demand of these businesses may fall
significantly if the economy in the PRC faces material
downturn with the decrease in purchasing power of
potential consumers. In addition, the consumption trend
and demand of the internet and pan-entertainment can
be changed quickly, the Group may require to deploy
resources continuously to attract and retain the customers’
loyalty. The management of the Group will closely monitor
the operation and the market changes of this segment.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Discussions on the Group’s relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers is contained in the
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 38 to 79 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies is
contained in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 38 to 79 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong while
the Company itself is listed on GEM. The establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on page
231 of this annual report.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company did not have any treasury shares (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) as at 31 December 2024 and
as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Yong

Non-executive directors

Mr. Yang Shiyuan
Mr. Ge Xuyu

Independent non-executive directors

Ms. Fu Yuehong
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen
Mr. Wang Xinghua

One-third of the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting of
the Company, which is scheduled on 13 June 2025, in
accordance with the Articles, providing that every director
shall be retired at least once every three years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Philip Jian Yang has entered into directors’ service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 18 November 2015 (the “Listing
Date”) renewable automatically until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other expiring at the end of the initial term or any
time thereafter.

Mr. Wang Yong has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company regarding his appointment as an
executive director for a term of three years commencing
from 18 September 2023, which will be automatically
renewed for successive one-year periods.

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

=

BE T -_NWF+ __A=+—HIEFEARBEAREH
By - RARIZEFWT ¢

BITES

SRS (L/E)
EBELE

FHITES

BiEEE
BBFRE

BYFHTES

{BERAT 22+
ERARIRSE 4
FTHERLE

=R —HERERBARRZERMAANARFBR
E_RFRATZHETNRRBEFRAGLRFEERLE
B BREFAELEB=FRE—R-

ES2RBEYN

BRIESACEARRFTVESERBEH BT —H1F
T—A+NAB(TLEmAEHDEANTAHM=F H&HKE
BEN BEEET-IIRS - ABEAPR=ZEANER
BATARIERIE - MZBAERVITHRERFRER
E GG

EBERERARBRZERSPITERIT LR MR - EHE
—Eo=FAATN\REFRE=F  ZZXERKEBE
HiBE— -

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE

88



89

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

The non-executive directors of the Company were not
appointed for a specific term but their respective terms
of office are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The rotation clause sets up
a mechanism to ensure that all Directors of the Company
shall retire at least once every three years and be eligible
for re-election.

Each of our independent non-executive directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company.
Each letter of appointment is for an initial term commencing
on the date of the letter of appointment and shall continue
thereafter subject to a maximum of three years unless
terminated by either party giving at least one month’s
notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors has or
is proposed to enter into a service contract/letter of
appointment with the Company or any of the subsidiaries of
the Company (other than contracts expiring or determinable
by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board has reviewed the audited
annual results of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 and has provided advice and comments
thereon.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that Directors and officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duties. Directors and officers liability
insurance is arranged to cover the Directors and officers
of the Company against any potential costs and liabilities
arising from claims brought against them.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Directors of the Company had a material beneficial
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing
connected transactions” and “Connected transaction”
below and “Related party transactions” in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, there is no contract
of significance to the business of the Group between
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, or a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, to which the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a part, during the year. During
the year, no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries was made.

Save as the continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions disclosed in this report which have
complied with the requirement in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules, the related party transactions of the Group
constituted fully exempted connected transactions under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are
set out on page 80 to 82 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interest and short position
of the Directors of the Company and chief executive of the
Group in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuers as referred to in Rules 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules were as follows:

() Long positions in ordinary shares of the
Company

ESRFETRABRAQANEMAEBEZENRG -
MHEROREFFHESERAR

RIZB-MFE+_A=+—H ARAIZEERAEETE
TTBRABRARFREAREE(EERES KRB ED
(TR7H LB GG ) EXVER) B ~ 1R REHTS
BAACARBES MERIIFIB2GFENLARZE
fCff - HARBRGEM E TR RIZES 461G EMBETAES
ETRHHREREAME NN LB RS MAR
LU

i) RAQXTIEZBERNEAE

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Capacity and Number of capital
Name of Director nature of interest shares™® AR RAT BT
EEgE £8 SR RERME [i:8vip =R BABDL
Goldbless International Limited Beneficial ownert e 76,500,000 13.24
(“Goldbless”) BEmia Am
SEEBRERAR([£%E])
Mr. Wang Yong Interest of controlled corporation® 76,500,000 13.24

ABRE

Note: The entire issued share capital of Goldbless is owned
by Mr. Wang Yong. Under the SFO, Mr. Wang Yong is
deemed to be interested in all the shares registered in
the name of Goldbless.
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(ii) Long positions in ordinary shares of US$1.00
each in Youth Success Holdings Limited (“Youth
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(i)  HYouth Success Holdings Limited ([ Youth Success )
EREE1.C0ETEBERNETE

Success”)
Number of Percentage of
shares shareholding
Name of Director EEHA R EHE REFDL
Mr. Philip Jian Yang(e 7 15 81 S A (et 1,273 12.73
Mr. Yang Shiyuane2 G it o A Wa2) 148 1.48

Notes:

1. Mr. Philip Jian Yang holds the shares of Youth
Success through Ever Ring Holdings Limited which is
wholly-owned by him.

2. Mr. Yang Shiyuan holds the shares through State
Trade Global Limited which is wholly-owned by him.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the directors and chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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1. SR EEBESERENEXERERARFE
Youth Success#If% 5 °

2. BRI AEFEBHE 2 E ¥ G K State Trade Global
Limited# & Youth SuccessHILD °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than
a Director of the Company or chief executive of the Group)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

TERRREMATRERQBRG RAEBRDHERER
RR

RZZB_MNF+-_A=+—H REEFLRABKRIE
3BBIRATFENELMAAE  THAL(RRBESHA
SETETHRABRINRAR BN KA A

SL P INAS .
WIOKE -

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Number of capital
Name of Shareholder Capacity and nature of interest shares9 EARDFERIT
BERES, BB S RMREIEE BB E 0 BAED
Youth Success Beneficial owner™®"; deemed interest 339,586,958 58.77
under shareholders voting
agreementie &9
BHRER AT RBIRRIRE R ZRR
/73] ;rgg ﬁ % R (Wt 183)
Guang Rui Investments Limited Beneficial owner; interest in controlled 342,181,358 59.22
(“Guang Rui”) corporation™® 7, deemed interest under
shareholders voting agreement© 7
I ERRAT ([ HiH]) BB REEEBERER)  1REE
PRI R A AR R R R e
Mr. Yang Shaogian (“Mr. Yang”) Interest in controlled Corporation ?; 342,181,358 59.22
interest of spouse™®?; deemed interest
under shareholders voting
agreemente’é3
BiamEE(HEE]D REEERER T BB 2
IRIRAR R R i i AR AV 7 h o et 1)
Ms. Mou Sufang (“Ms Mou”) Interest in controlled Corporation® 7 342,181,358 59.22
interest of spouse™®*?; deemed interest
under shareholders voting
agreementie &9
BEFLL((E2L]) NEPEE R B )
IRIE IR R e AR R T 75 W e (Wit 789)
Mr. Liang Longfei (“Mr. Liang”) Beneficial ownere? 36,000,000 6.23
REERFE(NRELE]) Bl AW
TAN KOON AIK (“Mr. Tan”) Beneficial ownerfe 9 44,671,963 7.73
([Tanse4]) BEmEa AWE)
ANG YU YUAN SHAWN Beneficial owner 9 35,990,566 6.23

(“Mr. Ang”)
([AngZ & 1)
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Percentage of

the Company’s
issued share
Number of capital
Name of Shareholder Capacity and nature of interest shares™®©9 QTS BIT
BREE BB S RERMEE idvin < 4= R BRAEABDL
Alpine Nova Limited Beneficial owner(™e4 30,362,150 5.26
=SEBRAR Bag A
Wang Xu Interest in controlled corporation(e 4 30,362,150 5.26
18 SR B R
Notes: Hat

1.

Youth Success and Guang Rui owns 81,378,000 shares
and 2,594,400 shares respectively, representing 21.82%
and 0.70% of the issued share capital of the Company.
The issued share capital of Youth Success is legally and
beneficially owned as to 83.54% by Guang Rui. Under
the SFO, Guang Rui is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares registered in the name of Youth Success. The entire
issued share capital of Guang Rui is legally and beneficially
owned as to 60% by Mr. Yang and 40% by Ms. Mou. By
virtue of the shareholders voting agreement entered into
by Mr. Yang, Ms. Mou, Youth Success, Mr. Li Lin, Alpha
Master Global Limited (“Alpha Master”), Ms. Yang Qi, Qiao
Tian Limited (“Qiao Tian”), Mr. Wang Yong and Goldbless
(the “Shareholders Voting Agreement”), Youth Success
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Alpha
Master, Qiao Tian and Goldbless in aggregate by virtue of
the SFO.

Ms. Mou is the spouse of Mr. Yang, therefore she is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Yang
is deemed to be interested, and vice versa.

By virtue of the shareholders voting agreement entered into
by and among Mr. Yang, Ms. Mou, Youth Success and Mr.
Liang, Youth Success shall be entitled to exercise voting
rights attached to all of the Shares held by Mr. Liang, and
Youth Success is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Mr. Liang by virtue of the SFO.

The entire issued share capital of Alpine Nova is owned by
Mr. Wang Xu ( £ fB ). By virtue of the shareholders voting
agreement entered into by and among Mr. Yang, Ms. Mou,
Youth Success, Alpine Nova and Mr. Wang Xu on 22 May
2023, Youth Success shall be entitled to exercise voting
rights attached to all the Shares held by Alpine Nova, and
Youth Success is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Alpine Nova under the SFO.

By virtue of the shareholders voting agreement entered into
by and among Mr. Yang, Ms. Mou, Youth Success and Mr.
Tan on 18 September 2023, Youth Success shall be entitled
to exercise voting rights attached to all the Shares held by
Mr. Tan, and Youth Success is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Mr. Tan under the SFO.

1.

Youth Success ¥ ¥t I % 5! # & 81,378,000 A% X 2,594,400
BRBRAD 8 AR R B B 17 B AR 21.82% [2.0.70% ° Youth
Success® B EITIR AR IR E AR E=HH83.54% ° 1R
BEHFKEEGED - IR AR LAYouth Success® &
B EROPHEEEZ - XInHNEHNEBITREAEHS
EEREZTHREERERET0%KR40% ° RIEHE
4+ £ 7+ - Youth Success * 2% 5L £ - Alpha Master
Global Limited ([ Alpha Master |) + 5%+ « BXBRA
(AKX EBEERSETIMRRRE R ([ARE
HEWE]D) - Youth Successfk & & % Kk BB IEHIE R 2R
Alpha Master * #X K& E& HISHRRN TP HEER

B L RBEENRE - Bt - FREANGEERRR
EERENERND P ESELS  R2TA -

BIEIZ AL - B4t ~ Youth Success M 2 5T HIAR R
&KTJ?%E% Youth SuccessfEB #1TFE R LT B2 IR

DTS EIIEEAE - Youth SuccessHk 1B 55 & B E 1401 %47
7,9_")5’\ RIEERFGORDPHEEESS ©

BEMNEHEBITRATIAIELEERE - RIEBLEE
£47+ ~ Youth Success * BERTBAEZBR T ==
FRAZ+=AH J.LE’]HX%&mT’f * Youth Successig A

BITESERENMEROMFNIEEERIBIEE SR
;Zﬂ'%% Youth Successtf iR &R & £ 8 M FT A & {7 7 %
HeEs o
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6. By virtue of the shareholders voting agreement entered into
by and among Mr. Yang, Ms. Mou, Youth Success and Mr.
Ang on 27 December 2023, Youth Success shall be entitled
to exercise voting rights attached to all the Shares held by
Mr. Ang, and Youth Success is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Mr. Ang by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no
other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme on 3
November 2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from the date of its adoption and enables the
Company to grant share options to the eligible persons
(including any executive director, non-executive director
and independent non-executive director, advisor and
consultant of the Group) (the “Eligible Person(s)”) as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
No share option was granted, exercised, expired or
lapsed since its adoption by the Company and there is no
outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.
The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is around 7
months.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon the exercise of all share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group from time to time
(the “Other Schemes”) must not, in aggregate, exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue of as at the Listing
Date, the date which the Company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) provided
that the share options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Shares Option Scheme or Other Schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit. On the basis of 1,200,000,000 Shares in
issue on the Listing Date, the Scheme Mandate Limit will
be equivalent to 120,000,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date and on 15 July
2021, share consolidation of the Company on the basis
that every five (5) issued existing shares be consolidated
into one (1) consolidated share became effective. The
Scheme Mandate Limit now equivalent to 24,000,000
Shares, representing 4.15% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of this report. The number of
options available for grant under the scheme mandate as
at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 is 24,000,000
Shares.
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The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the share options granted to
each Eligible Person under the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes (including both exercised and outstanding
Options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to time, and
provided that if approved by shareholders of the Company
in general meeting with such Eligible Person and his
associates abstaining from voting, the Company may make
a further grant of share options to such Eligible Person (the
“Further Grant”) notwithstanding that the Further Grant
would result in the shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all share options granted and
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and Other
Schemes to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of the Further Grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

Upon acceptance of the share option, the Eligible Person
under the Share Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. The share
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 28
days from the date on which the share option is granted.

The subscription price for the shares of the Company
subject to the Share Options Scheme will be a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Eligible
Person and shall be the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the share options, which must be a trading day of the
Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the
share options; and (jii) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.
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An share option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during
a period to be determined and notified by the Board
to each Eligible Person provided that the period within
which the share option must be exercised shall not be
more than 10 years from the date of the grant of share
option. The exercise of a share option may be subject to
the achievement of performance target and/or any other
conditions to be notified by the Board to each Eligible
Person, which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine. Despite the terms of the Share Option Scheme,
any grant of share options by the Company will comply
with GEM Listing Rules from time to time.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole and
any part of the Company’s business were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, for the
continuing operations, revenue from the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 90.3% of total
revenue and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 47.0% of total revenue. The
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
95.1% of total direct costs during the year ended 31
December 2024 and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 41.1% of total
direct costs.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any of the
shareholders of the Company (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers or its five largest
suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS

A Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF Scheme”) has
been set up for employees in Hong Kong, in accordance
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. All employees
in Hong Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme and
the employees and its employer are each required to
contribute 5% of their gross earnings with a current ceiling
of HK$1,500 per month to the MPF scheme. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF scheme
is to make required contribution under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future. The contribution charged to the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents the contribution payable to the funds by
the Group.

Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement
schemes operated by local municipal governments.
Contributions are made to the schemes in accordance to
certain percentage to the applicable employee payroll.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors, the controlling shareholders of the Company and
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) as at 31 December 2024 had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group or any
other conflicts of interest with the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 December, 2024. Based on
information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the percentage of
the ordinary shares in public hands exceeds 25% as at the
date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on
page 19 to 37 of this annual report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Beijing Emphasis Media Co., Ltd.* (“Emphasis Media”),
Starry Knight Entertainment Co., Ltd.* (“Starry Knight”),
Beijing Joy Star Production Co., Ltd.* (“Joy Star”), Beijing
New Image Media Co. Ltd.* (“New Image”) and Beijing
Great Wise Media Co., Ltd.” (“Great Wise”) (collectively
defined as the “PRC Contractual Entities”) are deemed to
be the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company pursuant
to the Contractual Arrangement.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 15 January 2025,
the Group and Relevant Shareholders (as defined below)
agreed to terminate the Contractual Arrangements by
entering into a series of termination agreements in response
to a shift in the Group’s business focus in recent years
and the need to streamline the Group’s administration
efficiency. Accordingly, the Contractual Arrangements were
terminated with effect from 15 January 2025.

Summary of the information in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement are as follows.

Information on the PRC Contractual Entities and their
Registered Owners

During the year, Beijing New Element Consulting Co. Ltd.*
At R T EHABR AT (“New Element”) purchased
certain equity interests of Emphasis Media from Mr. Yang,
Mr. Li Lin, Ms. Yang Qi, Mr. Sun Rui, Mr. Yang Shiyuan, Ms.
Yang Jianping and Mr. Wan Shuxing at nil consideration,
which represented the lowest price as permitted under
the PRC laws and regulations in accordance with the
terms of the Exclusive Option Agreement. Following the
above equity transfers and before further reorganisation of
Emphasis Meida as detailed below, New Element became
the registered shareholder of 100% equity interest in
Emphasis Media.

(Mr. Yang, Ms. Mou, Mr. Li Lin, Ms. Yang Qi, Mr. Sun Rui,
Mr. Yang Shiyuan, Ms. Yang Jianping, Mr. Wan Shuxing

are referred as “Relevant Shareholders”).

Each of Starry Knight, New Image, Joy Star and Great Wise
is wholly-owned by Emphasis Media.

’ For identification purpose only
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In July 2024, Joy Star completed: (a) the acquisition of
90% equity interest in Beijing Yiju Creative Technology
Limited* (Jt RSB AIZRHZBR AR (“Yiu Creative”) from
Emphasis Media at the consideration of RMB1,134,000,
which was based on 90% of the registered capital of Yiju
Creative; and (b) the transfer of 100% equity interests
in Beijing Octagons Impact Communications Co. Ltd.*
GERN\FER VL EEBR AR (“Octagons Impact”) to
Emphasis Media at the consideration of RMB5,000,000,
which was based on 100% of the registered capital of
Octagons Impact.

New Talent Media exercised its option under the Exclusive
Option Agreement in relation to Joy Star dated 18 May
2015 and designated Emphasis Media as the transferee for
the transfer of 100% equity interests in Joy Star from Mr.
Yang and Ms. Mou at nil consideration, which represented
the lowest price as permitted under the PRC laws and
regulations in accordance with the terms of the Exclusive
Option Agreement. Accordingly, on 27 December 2024,
Emphasis Media, as designated by New Talent Media as
purchaser, completed the transfers from Mr. Yang and Ms.
Mou, as vendors.

For details of the above equity transfers, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 15 January 2025.

Business Overview of the PRC Contractual Entities

Emphasis Media, New Image and Great Wise are principally
engaged in the provision of program production services
and serial program/film production and related services and
film rights investment in the PRC.

Starry Knight and Joy Star are principally engaged in the
provision of program production and event organisation
services and artist management in the PRC.

The PRC Contractual Entities hold certain licences and
permits required for the operation of abovementioned
principal business (including The Permit to Produce and
Distribute Radio or Television Programs and operate as
a performance brokerage enterprise with the relevant
licence). According to the Guidance Catalogue of Industries
for Foreign Investment (2015 Version), radio and television
program production and operating companies falls within
the prohibited foreign-invested industry, and the production
of television programs (limited to Chinese-foreign
contractual joint ventures) and performance brokerage
fall within the restricted foreign-invested industry. The
principal activities of the Group are provision of program
production and event organisation services in the PRC, the
sectors where foreign investment is subject to significant
restrictions under PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly,
we cannot directly acquire any equity interest in the PRC
Contractual Entities, which hold certain licences and
permits required for the operation of the principal business
of the Group.

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

R-ZE-WNELR - KFEBHTK : (QIEERNRER
WEIERIBAZEREERAT(TZEFAIE ) #I90% M
o REAEARKE1134,0007T © 51k S B A B MER
BI90%FTHE : K (b)[MER ENSR B el = )\ 5 &R >t
EEARAA(TN\FTER])B100%KE  KEAARE
5,000,0007T * Jhi% )\ 5 ER M E ABI100%:TE -

BRCEEREEMA—_ZE—RFREA T \HMETE
BRI VHCERBERARDITEEBERE - AT ERE]
RERBEEAN  UWEREBERBLERSFLLERLY
BE)MI100%E - HERREBECEKERERAR)TBIX
BABRMAAFFHZEERS - Bt - R=ZFT_NF+_A
—t+tR BREOSERK(EEEULERIEERSET )R
it RERE LT (ERETT)NEE -

B DRREERNFS - F2HARRAMA-—S -1

F-A+HEBZRE -
THRENRR ZEBER

ERHSKER HHBERRBZ R T BNFENEERN
80 B RUE M EERERBUE RAERIRTG A R EZRER
BHRF

ARMRBEF BB BN B EREH B RIERED
S LB AL R o

TEENERSAKLE L REBMBNE TR M
AIRE  BIE(EEERA B BRI E) R AARRT Al &
ERELELEREBLE - REOIBREEXRKEERKR(Z
T-RFER]))  BERERMESUELERBEE LI
BREEX > REGHERIERRPIBERERR) MR
HELERFIINIREESR - AEEEBEXB/NPE
SIRHEN B RUE OB BN BRI RTS - M EMATEITER
SR E R BIRBDAREMAOBARRSI - Eit - HAIEE
EREBTEENERNEMEE  MTEANERRE
REREE T BEXRBGFNE THRMFTAE -

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE

100



101

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

As a result, New Talent Media Company Limited* (“New
Talent Media”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has entered into a series of agreements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) narrowly tailored to provide
New Talent Media with control over the PRC Contractual
Entities and grant New Talent Media the right to acquire the
equity interests of the PRC Contractual Entities when and
to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.

With effect from 15 January 2025, the Contractual
Arrangements were terminated.

All the former Contractual Entities have become indirect
subsidiaries of the Company, their businesses will continue
to be operated by the Company, and their financial
results will continue to be consolidated into the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of this report, all the Contractual Entities
have completed deregistration of their permits in relation
to (i) the program production business due to cessation
of such restricted businesses after 2018 and (ii) the
operation of electronic platforms for entertainment
contents consumption and e-commerce in the PRC due to
cessation of such restricted businesses after 2024 because
of the lack of revenue derived from the relevant business
segment, details of which have been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 January 2025.

The PRC legal advisers are of the view that the above
transfers of equity interests involved in the reorganisation
have been approved and registered with the relevant
government authorities.

Summary of the Major Terms under the Contractual
Arrangement

The Contractual Arrangements consist of: (a) the Business
Operating Agreements, (b) the Powers of Attorney, (c) the
Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, (d) the Exclusive Option
Agreements, (e) the Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements and (f) the Spouse Undertakings (in
the case that the Relevant Shareholder is a natural person).

’ For identification purpose only
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Business Operating Agreements

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant
Shareholders entered into Business Operating Agreements
with New Talent Media on 18 May 2015 (the “Business
Operating Agreements”), pursuant to which at the request
of each of the PRC Contractual Entities, New Talent Media
may opt to serve as the performance guarantor for each
of the PRC Contractual Entities in any business operating
contracts, agreements or transactions that they entered into
with third parties. In such case, as a counter-guarantee,
each of the PRC Contractual Entities shall agree to pledge
all its operational account receivable and assets to New
Talent Media. If New Talent Media decides to serve as the
performance guarantor for any PRC Contractual Entities,
New Talent Media will enter into a written agreement with
the counterparties of such PRC Contractual Entities to
assume the guarantor’s responsibilities. As such, the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders will take
all necessary actions to implement the counter-guarantee
arrangement with New Talent Media.

Under the Business Operating Agreements, each of the
PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant Shareholders
agree that, without obtaining New Talent Media’s written
consent, each of the PRC Contractual Entities shall not
engage in any transaction which may materially affect its
asset, obligation, right or business operation, including but
not limit to:

(i) Borrowing or assuming any liabilities from any third
parties;

(i) Selling to or acquiring from any third parties any assets
or rights, including but not limited to any intellectual
property rights;

(iy  Providing real rights of securities in relation to assets
or intellectual property rights to any third parties;

(iv)  Transferring any operational agreements to any third
parties.
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Further, each of the PRC Contractual Entities
and its Relevant Shareholders agree to follow any
recommendations or guidance from New Talent Media
in relation to each of the PRC Contractual Entities’
employment matters, daily operations and management,
as well as financial management policies. Each of the PRC
Contractual Entities and its Relevant Shareholders agree
to appoint New Talent Media’s nominees as its board
directors, and each of the PRC Contractual Entities will
appoint the recommended New Talent Media’s staff as its
general manager, chief finance officer, and for other senior
management roles. If any of abovementioned staff leave
New Talent Media, whether voluntarily or not, their roles in
each of the PRC Contractual Entities will be terminated.

In addition, each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its
Relevant Parties agree to use New Talent Media as the
first resort for any performance guarantee or guarantees
for working capital borrowings. In such case, New Talent
Media has full discretion in deciding whether to provide
such guarantees, and the PRC Contractual Entities can
resort to other third parties if such request is turned down
by New Talent Media.

The relevant Business Operating Agreements have a
term of ten years and will be automatically renewed upon
expiration unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media.
The relevant Business Operating Agreements shall be
terminated prior to expiration when the business period of
either New Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities
expires or is terminated by any other reasons except that
all rights and obligations of New Talent Media or any PRC
Contractual Entities under such agreements have been
transferred. If any agreement between New Talent Media
and any PRC Contractual Entities is terminated or expired,
New Talent Media will have the right but not the obligation
to terminate all agreements between New Talent Media
and any PRC Contractual Entities, including but not limited
to the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements.

On 15 January 2025, the Business Operating Agreements
were terminated by the operation of a series of termination
agreements entered into by the Group and Relevant
Shareholders.
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Powers of Attorney

Each of the Relevant Shareholders entered into a power
of attorney on 18 May 2015 (the “Powers of Attorney”).
Pursuant to the Powers of Attorney, each of the Relevant
Shareholders irrevocably appoints designee(s) of our
Company, being the Directors or officers of the Company
who are not related to the shareholders of the PRC
Contractual Entities or his/her successor to act as his/her/
its attorney on his/her/its own behalf to exercise all rights
in connection with matters concerning his/her/its rights
as shareholder of the PRC Contractual Entities, including
but not limited to (i) selling or transferring all or part of his/
her/its equity interests; (i) exercising shareholders’ voting
rights, including nomination and election of director and
nomination and appointment of general manager; (iii)
signing meeting minutes and resolutions; (iv) approving
filing documents with the relevant companies registry and/
or other government authorities in relation to the business
operations of the PRC Contractual Entities; and (v) other
matters decided or executed by the shareholders.

Further, the Powers of Attorney shall remain effective for
ten years from the execution date or it can be terminated
upon the termination of the Business Operating Agreement.

On 15 January 2025, the Powers of Attorney were
terminated by the operation of a series of termination
agreements entered into by the Group and Relevant
Shareholders.
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Equity Interest Pledge Agreements

The Relevant Shareholders and New Talent Media entered
into equity interest pledge agreements on 18 May 2015
(the “Equity Interest Pledge Agreements”). Under the Equity
Interest Pledge Agreements, the Relevant Shareholders
agreed to pledge all their respective equity interests in the
PRC Contractual Entities to New Talent Media, as a security
interest, to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts of the
Relevant Shareholders and the PRC Contractual Entities
under the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements, Business Operating Agreements and such
other agreements to be entered into under the Contractual
Arrangements. The pledge in respect of a PRC Contractual
Entity takes effect upon the completion of registration
with the competent SAIC and shall remain valid until one
year after all the contractual obligations of the Relevant
Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity under
the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully
performed and all the outstanding debts of the Relevant
Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity under the
relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully paid.
During the valid period of the pledge, absent prior written
consent of New Talent Media, the Relevant Shareholders
shall not create or agree to create any new pledge or
any other security on the equity interests of the PRC
Contractual Entities, nor assign or transfer any of the equity
interests of the PRC Contractual Entities or any rights or
obligations under this agreement.

The Equity Interest Pledge Agreements will be terminated
after one year upon fulfillment of all contractual obligations
of the Relevant Shareholders and such PRC Contractual
Entity under the relevant Contractual Arrangements.

On 15 January 2025, the Equity Interest Pledge
Agreements were terminated by the operation of a series
of termination agreements entered into by the Group and
Relevant Shareholders.
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Exclusive Option Agreements

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant
Shareholders entered into exclusive option agreements
with New Talent Media on 18 May 2015 (the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), pursuant to which the Relevant
Shareholders irrevocably, exclusively and unconditionally
grant exclusive options to New Talent Media which entitles
New Talent Media to elect to purchase, when permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the
equity interests of the PRC Contractual Entities from the
Relevant Shareholders and/or all or any of assets of the
PRC Contractual Entities by itself or through its designee(s).
In the event that any of the options is exercised by New
Talent Media, the transfer price of the relevant equity
interests and assets shall be the legal minimum price
under the then-applicable PRC law. Any of such transfer
is subject to approval and registration with government
authorities. Subject to applicable PRC laws, each of the
Relevant Shareholders shall transfer all the consideration
he/her/it receives in relation to such sale of equity interest
in the PRC Contractual Entities at nil consideration as a
gift to New Talent Media or the designee(s) of New Talent
Media after receiving such consideration, after deduction of
applicable taxes and governmental fees.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreements, the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders shall not
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any other manner the
legal or beneficial interest in any assets, business or income
of the PRC Contractual Entities. The PRC Contractual
Entities and the Relevant Shareholders undertake to
maintain the asset value of the PRC Contractual Entities
and not to take any action which may affect their business
operations or asset value. Absent prior written consent
of New Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities and
the Relevant Shareholders shall not (i) in any manner
supplement, change or amend the articles of association
of the PRC Contractual Entities, increase or decrease their
registered capital or change their structure of registered
capital in any other manner; or (i) engage in transactions
that could materially affect the assets, liabilities, rights or
operations of the PRC Contractual Entities, including (a)
incur debts, except those incurred in the ordinary course
of business or disclosed to and consented by New Talent
Media; (b) execute any material contracts with a value
above RMB100,000, except those entered into in the
ordinary course of business; (c) provide loans or guarantee;
(d) merge or consolidate with, acquire or invest in any
entity; and (e) distribute dividends or profits to the Relevant
Shareholders.
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In addition, each of the Relevant Shareholders will take
appropriate measures to maintain its shareholding in the
PRC Contractual Entities, including (i) not to, sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of in any other manner, or allow any
other security interest to be created on the legal or
beneficial equity interest in the PRC Contractual Entities
without the prior written consent of New Talent Media,
except for the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, and
procure the shareholders’ meeting of the PRC Contractual
Entities not to approve such matters; (i) for each exercise
of the equity purchase option, to cause the shareholders’
meeting of the PRC Contractual Entities to vote on the
approval of the transfer of equity interests and any other
action requested by New Talent Media; and (i) to relinquish
the pre-emptive right (if any) the Relevant Shareholder is
entitled to in relation to the transfer of equity interest by any
other Relevant Shareholders to New Talent Media. Each
of the Relevant Shareholders will transfer to New Talent
Media or its designee(s), by way of gift, any profit, dividend,
transfer proceeds or any other interest arising from the
equity interests held by such Relevant Shareholder in the
PRC Contractual Entities. The PRC Contractual Entities
and the Relevant Shareholders shall, at the request of
New Talent Media, appoint any person nominated by New
Talent Media in its sole discretion as directors of the PRC
Contractual Entities. Each of the Relevant Shareholders
irrevocably undertakes that whenever requested by
New Talent Media, such shareholder will transfer,
unconditionally all of the equity interests held by him/her/it
in the PRC Contractual Entities to New Talent Media or its
designee(s) at a price equal to the price as determined in
the circumstances where New Talent Media exercises its
option under the Exclusive Option Agreements.

The relevant Exclusive Option Agreements have a term of
ten years and will be automatically renewed upon expiration
unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media. The
relevant Exclusive Option Agreements shall be terminated
prior to expiration when the business period of either New
Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is
terminated by any other reasons except that all rights and
obligations of New Talent Media under such agreements
have been transferred to a third party.
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During Year 2024, New Talent Media exercised its option
under the Exclusive Option Agreement and designated
New Element as the transferee for the transfer of a total
of approximately 34.67% equity interests in Emphasis
Media from Mr. Yang and Mr. Yang, Mr. Li Lin, Ms. Yang
Qi, Mr. Sun Rui, Mr. Yang Shiyuan, Ms. Yang Jianping and
Mr. Wan Shuxing (collectively as Individual Shareholders)
the Individual Shareholders at nil consideration, which
represented the lowest price as permitted under the PRC
laws and regulations in accordance with the terms of the
Exclusive Option Agreement. Accordingly, in late October
2024, New Element, as designated by New Talent Media as
purchaser, completed the transfers from Mr. Yang and the
Individual Shareholders, as vendors.

New Talent Media exercised its option under the exclusive
purchase right agreement and designated Emphasis Media
as the transferee for the transfer of 100% equity interests in
Joy Star from Mr. Yang and Ms. Mou at nil consideration,
which represented the lowest price as permitted under the
PRC laws and regulations in accordance with the terms
of the Exclusive Option Agreement. Accordingly, on 27
December 2024, Emphasis Media, as designated by New
Talent Media as purchaser, completed the transfers from
Mr. Yang and Ms. Mou, as vendors. As a result, the non-
restricted businesses of the Contractual Entities have been
consolidated under Emphasis Media and its subsidiaries.

On 15 January 2025, the Exclusive Option Agreements
were terminated by the operation of a series of termination
agreements entered into by the Group and Relevant
Shareholders.
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Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements

New Talent Media entered into exclusive technology
consultation and service agreements with each of the
PRC Contractual Entities on 18 May 2015 (the “Exclusive
Technology Consultation and Service Agreements”),
pursuant to which each of the PRC Contractual Entities
agreed to engage New Talent Media as their exclusive
provider of technical and management consulting services
and other technology and consultancy services requested
by each of the PRC Contractual Entities from time to
time to the extent permitted under PRC laws in each of
exchange for service fees. In light of the services that New
Talent Media agreed to provide to the PRC Contractual
Entities pursuant to the Exclusive Technology Consultation
and Service Agreements, the service fees, subject to New
Talent Media’s adjustment, are equal to 100% of each
of the PRC Contractual Entities’ net profit after tax. In
addition, New Talent Media may at its absolute discretion
lower the service fees with reference to the operation cost
and financial budget relating to business development plan
of each of the PRC Contractual Entities. New Talent Media is
also entitled to make any other adjustments of the service
fees at the end of every quarter in accordance with the
quarterly revenue and profit of each of the PRC Contractual
Entities under HKFRSs.

In addition, absent the prior written consent of New
Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities shall not
assign or transfer any of the rights and/or obligations
under the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements to any third party. Unless otherwise required
by the applicable PRC laws, the PRC Contractual Entities
shall not be entitled to terminate the Exclusive Technology
Consultation and Service Agreements either.
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The Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements also provide that New Talent Media has
the exclusive proprietary rights to all intellectual property
rights developed or created during the performance
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements. The PRC Contractual Entities shall assign
their intellectual property rights to New Talent Media upon
request of New Talent Media. Our PRC Legal Adviser is of
the opinion that (i) it is legal for New Talent Media to hold
these intellectual property rights pursuant to the terms
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements; and (i) that New Talent Media and the PRC
Contractual Entities are not in violation of the requirements
of Patent Law of the PRC, Trade Mark Law of PRC and
Copyright Law of the PRC regarding the ownership of
intellectual property rights.

The relevant Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements have a term of ten years and will
be automatically renewed for consecutive terms of one
year upon expiry unless otherwise notified by New Talent
Media. The relevant Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements shall be terminated prior to expiration
in the event that (a) the business period of either New
Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is
terminated by any other reasons except that all right and
obligation of New Talent Media under such agreements
has been transferred to a third party (b) New Talent Media
unilaterally terminates such agreements by advance written
notice.

On 15 January 2025, the Exclusive Technology
Consultation and Service Agreements were terminated by
the operation of a series of termination agreements entered
into by the Group and Relevant Shareholders.

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the individual Relevant Shareholders,
if applicable, has signed an undertaking on 18 May
2015 (“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse
Undertakings, each of the spouses unconditionally and
irrevocably undertakes that:

(i) the spouse has been made fully aware of the
Contractual Arrangements and consented that such
Relevant Shareholder is the sole beneficiary of all the
rights and interests and solely assumes obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements; further, he/she
does not and will not have any interests or rights
under the Contractual Arrangements, nor assumes
any obligations thereunder;

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

B S B o 58 A0 AR 75 1 7 7T R ] BA G S L B IR E A TRIBR
PR SR A0 PR 75 155 o B 17 BAREI B 38 S B RR MO 2 P AN EE A2
HBRAMARE - PEENERARER XULEEELE -
BRENSOABERTERUCER - PEVERERR
7 (VBRI B HAR BB IR BT w4 5 70 AR 745 175 2 1O iR K
FAUENBEER/SE  RBFELEERPESL
ERVEERTEENE  PEBRERTREERES
PR EREAENBT -

BREMAANRE HEOBAR ST FASRE MK EH
BHI—F  ERRUEERSTTRAAERIN - fH@)FREX
EERFEENE RS RHIR D Bk F R A IE i
BRI (BRBR U CERNZ S WE FOPTEENEEHE
BRETE=ZIIINOBECERETmMABRNELE
EBMMA L% F e - RIMERRIB R B0 & 8 A1 AR T hh o
REIEARTH T LE -

R-Z-RF—A+HB - BREMERNRSE HEE AR
SE BRI — RIR I BN EmMAL o

EBREE

FHEBARROEB(ER) EXN _T—AFHEA+T/\R%E
FAGE([RBARE] - REEBAHRS  SREEE
fiRAF e AN R BB 2t R

() ZEREBE2AEREYLH:  LRERBERES
BHRHETIHAETNRESNE —ZHEABEBE
EAHTHENET i BIERETISHES
WLZPE TR RERSSET] - A ESNTHENT
AEME:

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE

110



111

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

@iy all the equity interests held by such Relevant
Shareholder in the PRC Contractual Entities shall be
deemed as assets solely owned by such Relevant
Shareholder, not mutual assets jointly owned by him/
her and the related Relevant Shareholder;

@iy the spouse will not participate in the operation or
management of the PRC Contractual Entities, nor will
claim any interests or rights in the equities of the PRC
Contractual Entities;

(iv)  the spouse has confirmed that the performance and
further amendment or termination of the Contractual
Arrangements by such Relevant Shareholder do
not require his/her authorisation or consent; in the
event of divorce (as the case may be), such Relevant
Shareholder has sole discretion to decide how to
dispose of his/her interests in the PRC Contractual
Entities; and

(v) in the event that the spouse obtains any interests
in the PRC Contractual Entities, he/she will be
subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to
such Contractual Arrangements, and at the request
of New Talent Media he/she will sign any documents
in the form and substance consistent with the
Contractual Arrangements.

Revenue and Assets in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue
attributable to the PRC Contractual Entities (i.e. the
Contractual Arrangement) was approximately RMB148.9
million. As at 31 December 2024, the total asset and net
asset attributable to the PRC Contractual Entities was
approximately RMB402.2 million and RMB323.8 million
respectively.

Risks Related to the Contractual Arrangement

We rely on the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Contractual Entities for our operations in China, which may
not be as effective in providing operational control as direct
ownership.
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We have relied and expect to continue to rely on the
Contractual Arrangements with the PRC Contractual
Entities to operate our program production business
in China. The Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective in providing us with control over the PRC
Contractual Entities as direct ownership. If we had direct
ownership of the PRC Contractual Entities, we would
be able to exercise our rights as a shareholder to effect
changes in the board of directors of those entities, which
in turn could effect changes, subject to any applicable
fiduciary obligations, at the management level. However,
under the Contractual Arrangements, we rely on the
performance by the PRC Contractual Entities and their
shareholders of their obligations under the contracts
to exercise control over the PRC Contractual Entities.
Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Contractual Entities may not be as effective in ensuring our
control over our operations in China as direct ownership
would be.

Any failure by the PRC Contractual Entities or their
respective shareholders to perform their obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements with them would have
a material adverse effect on our business and financial
conditions.

If a PRC Contractual Entity or its shareholders fail
to perform their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements, we may have to incur substantial costs and
resources to enforce our rights under the contracts, and
rely on legal remedies under PRC law, including seeking
specific performance or injunctive relief and claiming
damages, which may not be effective. For example, if the
shareholders of a PRC Contractual Entity were to refuse to
transfer their equity interest in such Contractual Entity to us
or our designee when we exercise the call option pursuant
to the Contractual Arrangements, or if they were otherwise
to act in bad faith toward us, then we may have to take
legal actions to compel them to perform their contractual
obligations.

We conduct a substantial portion of our business
operations in the PRC through the PRC Contractual Entities
by way of the Contractual Arrangements, but certain of
the terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.
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All of these Contractual Arrangements are governed
by PRC laws and provide for the resolution of disputes
through arbitration in China. Accordingly, these contracts
would be interpreted in accordance with PRC laws and any
disputes would be resolved in accordance with PRC legal
procedures. The legal system in China is not as developed
as in other jurisdictions. As a result, uncertainties in the
PRC legal system could limit our ability to enforce these
contractual arrangements. Under PRC law, rulings by
arbitrators are final, parties cannot appeal the arbitration
results in courts, and the prevailing parties may only
enforce the arbitration awards in PRC courts through
arbitration award recognition proceedings, which would
incur additional expenses and delay. In the event we are
unable to enforce these contractual arrangements, we
may not be able to exert effective control over our the PRC
Contractual Entities, and our ability to conduct our business
may be negatively affected.

The Contractual Arrangements contain provisions to the
effect that the arbitral body may award remedies over
the shares and/or assets of the PRC Contractual Entities,
injunctive relief and/or winding up of the PRC Contractual
Entities. These agreements also contain provisions to the
effect that courts of competent jurisdictions are empowered
to grant interim remedies in support of the arbitration
pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal. However,
under PRC laws, these terms may not be enforceable.
Under PRC laws, an arbitral body does not have the power
to grant directly injunctive relief or to issue a provisional or
final liquidation order for the purpose of protecting assets of
or equity interests in the PRC Contractual Entities in case of
disputes. In addition, interim remedies or enforcement order
granted by overseas courts such as Hong Kong and the
Cayman Islands may not be recognisable or enforceable in
China. Therefore, in the event of breach of any agreements
constituting the Contractual Arrangements by the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders, and if
we are unable to enforce the Contractual Arrangements,
we may not be able to exert effective control over the PRC
Contractual Entities, which could materially and adversely
affect our ability to conduct our business.

Material Change

Save as disclosed above, up to and before the termination
of the Contractual Arrangement, there is no material change
in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted.
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Unwinding of Contractual Arrangements

The Contractual Arrangements were terminated with effect
from 15 January 2025.

All the former Contractual Entities have become indirect
subsidiaries of the Company, their businesses will continue
to be operated by the Company, and their financial
results will continue to be consolidated into the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Further reorganisation of Emphasis Media

On 8 January 2025, Beijing Gaoguang Media Company
Limited* (db R i@ H B B EE AR A F)) (“Gaoguang
Media”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, completed the transfers of 100% equity
interests in Emphasis Media from New Element at the total
consideration of RMB3,890,000, based on the valuation
of Emphasis Media as appraised by an independent valuer
in the PRC. The consideration received by New Element
will be transferred as a gift to the Group and consequently
the Group will not experience any net cash outflow as a
result of the share transfer. Upon completion of the share
transfer, Emphasis Media has been wholly owned by
Gaoguang Media and become an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the transactions set out
below which will be regarded as continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules. Unless otherwise
defined, capitalised terms below has the same meanings as
those defined in the Prospectus.

As disclosed in the section headed “Contractual
Arrangement” in this report, the business operations of the
PRC Contractual Entities constitute a business prohibited
to foreign investment in the PRC, therefore, the Company
cannot directly acquire equity interests in the PRC
Contractual Entities. As a result, the Group has entered
into Contractual Arrangement to exercise and maintain
control over the operations of the PRC Contractual Entities,
obtain their entire economic benefits and prevent leakage
of the assets and values of the PRC Contractual Entities
to their shareholders in the PRC. Under the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group supervises and controls the
business operations of the PRC Contractual Entities and
derives economic benefit from the PRC Contractual Entities
through New Talent Media.

For identification purpose only
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The transactions under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules and are subject
to the requirements of reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules following the Listing.

The table below sets forth the connected persons of the
Company involved in the Contractual Arrangements and

RIEGEM LR A - OB TR ZBKAR R
BEAEBERS R LETEBESGEM EMARRIZE20FEE T
R - NERBY R ERTE -

TRHEIIE
BEEE

WLHFTS AR BIREA £ R EARE

i)
]

the nature of their connection with the Group:

Name of connected person

Connected relationship

BREALHE BERF

Mr. Yang Mr. Yang is the Controlling Shareholder of the Group and is therefore our
connected person pursuant to Rule 20.06 of the GEM Listing Rules.

o pitas BRERB MR - FURIEGEM R BII520.061& R 11H)
BEAL -

Ms. Mou Ms. Mou is the Controlling Shareholder of the Group and is therefore our
connected person pursuant to Rule 20.06 of the GEM Listing Rules.

2+ BT REMHZERER - FUREGEM MR BI520.0616 2 M1H

PRC Contractual Entities

FEIAHE

m}
kD\Q

F!

Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media

EREREENERLIR

Beijing New Element Consulting Co. Ltd.

(“New Element”)

N TEFBERRR(FHHTE])
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Each of the PRC Contractual Entities is indirectly controlled by the
Controlling Shareholders of the Group and is therefore an associate of
the controlling shareholders and the connected person of the Group,
among other factors, pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media are shareholders of
Emphasis Media and the Company, and directors of New Talent Media.
Beijing Emphasis Media Co. Ltd. ("Emphasis Media") is a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. Therefore the Management Shareholders

of Emphasis Media are the connected persons under the GEM Listing
Rules.
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New Element is owned as to 60% by Mr. Yang and 40% by Ms. Mou
respectively, and is therefore an associate of Mr. Yang and Ms. Mou, the
Controlling Shareholders and the connected person of the Group, among
other factors, pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Directors believe that the Company’s structure whereby
PRC Contractual Entities’ financial results are consolidated
into the Company’s consolidated financial statements as
if they were wholly-owned subsidiaries and the flow of
economic benefits from their business to the Company,
places the Group in a special position in relation to the
connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding
that the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements technically constitute continuing connected
transactions for the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Directors consider that it would be
unduly burdensome and impracticable and would impose
unnecessary administrative costs on us to be subject to
strict compliance with the requirements set out under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of these
continuing connected transactions. Accordingly, the
Company has, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, applied
to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange
has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the
announcement requirements relating to these continuing
connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.
In addition, the Directors confirm that the Company has
complied and will continue to comply with the applicable
provisions under the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there are no
services income regarding the services provided by New
Talent Media under Contractual Arrangements to the PRC
Contractual Entities (including technical and management
consulting services and other technology and consultancy
services requested by each of the PRC Contractual Entities
from time to time to the extent permitted under PRC
laws). Therefore, the Group did not incur any continuing
connected transaction during the year ended 31 December
2024 and accordingly did not engage CL Partners
CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company to report on
the continuing connected transactions of the Group in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements other than
Auditors or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountant.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Each of share subscriber of TKA subscription, ANL
subscription, AYY Subscription and SWS Subscription
is required to enter into a voting Agreement with Youth
Success, Mr. Yang and Ms. Mou on completion date of
each of subscription agreements, respectively. By entering
into the voting agreements, Youth Success shall be entitled
to exercise voting rights attached to all the Shares held by
the share subscribers. As Youth Success, Mr. Yang and
Ms. Mou are the controlling shareholders of the Company
and are therefore connected persons of the Company,
the entering into of the subscription agreements, voting
agreements and their respective transactions contemplated
thereunder (collectively the “Subscriptions”) constitute
connected transactions of the Company in year 2023 under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, and the independent
shareholders have approved the relevant Subscriptions at
extraordinary general meetings held on 18 July 2023, 11
August 2023 and 20 December 2023 respectively.

The Directors are of the view that the terms of the
subscription agreements and voting agreements and
the transactions contemplated thereunder are on normal
commercial terms or better, fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Details of the subscription agreements of TKA subscription,
AYY subscription and SWS subscription have been
disclosed under section named Share subscription of
Management, Discussion and Analysis.

On 15 March 2024, Mr. Philip Jian Yang, as the landlord,
and Emphasis Media, as the tenant, entered into a tenancy
agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Mr. Philip Jian Yang agreed to lease a property (the
“Property”) to Emphasis Media. Mr. Philip Jian Yang is an
executive Director and chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company. He is the son of Mr. Yang and Ms. Mou,
the controlling shareholders of the Company. Accordingly,
Mr. Philip Jian Yang is a connected person of the Company
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules). As the Property is
owned by Mr. Philip Jian Yang and he has material interest
in the transaction under the Tenancy Agreement, the
transaction contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement
constitute a connected transaction of the Company.
Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreement, the leasing period is 2
years from 15 March 2024 and the monthly rental payable
is RMB94,200. Emphasis Media is also required to pay
RMB188,400 to Mr. Philip Jian Yang as rental deposit.
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The Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accounts
(the “HKFRS”) applicable to the Group include HKFRS
16 “Leases” which came into effect on 1 January 2019.
Under HKFRS 16, the Group, as the lessee, shall recognize
a lease as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group. The transaction contemplated under the Tenancy
Agreement will be regarded as an acquisition of asset
under the definition of transaction set out in GEM Listing
Rules 19.04(1)(a). The right-of-use asset recognized
under the transaction contemplated under the Tenancy
Agreement shall be approximately to RMB2,160,342,
which is the present value of the lease payments payable
by Emphasis Media (discounted by the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate of 4.5%) under the terms of the Tenancy
Agreement. The amount of lease liability recognized
under the transaction contemplated under the Tenancy
Agreement shall be same as the amount of right-of-use
asset recognised.

The Property is used as the head office and principal
place of business of the Group in the PRC. The Directors
considers that the head office and principal place of
business in the PRC was aligned with the Group’s current
operational requirements and business development.
The terms and the rental of the Tenancy Agreement were
determined after arm’s length negotiation between the
parties thereto and with reference to, amongst other
things, the current market rental for properties similar
to the Property and of comparable utility. The Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that the Tenancy Agreement is entered into
on normal commercial terms and that the terms of the
Tenancy Agreement are fair, reasonable and in line with the
market level and in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other transaction
which needs to be disclosed as connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction in accordance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the announcement (the
“Announcement”) dated 15 January 2025. Unless the
context otherwise required, terms defined herein shall have
the same meanings as those defined in the Announcement.

On 15 January 2025, the Group and Relevant Shareholders
entered into a series of termination agreements, consisting
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements (B FTEE MRS 17:%), the Equity Interest
Pledge Agreements (% #£ & i & [7]), the Exclusive Option
Agreements (BB E# A ), the Powers of Attorney (1%
#ZFTE), the Business Operating Agreements (3754 %
###%) to terminate the Contractual Arrangements with effect
from 15 January 2025.

All the former Contractual Entities have become indirect
subsidiaries of the Company, their businesses will continue
to be operated by the Company, and their financial
results will continue to be consolidated into the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of the annual report, all the Contractual
Entities have completed deregistration of their permits
in relation to (i) the program production business due to
cessation of such restricted businesses after 2018 and
(i) the operation of electronic platforms for entertainment
contents consumption and e-commerce in the PRC due to
cessation of such restricted businesses after 2024.

Details of termination of the contractual arrangements have
been disclosed in the Announcement.
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AUDITOR

CL Partners CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor
of the Company to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of BDO Limited with effect from 19 November
2021.

A resolution for reappointment of CL Partners CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Philip Jian Yang

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CREATIVE CHINA
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 127 to 230, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

We identified the impairment assessment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance
of trade receivables to the Group’s consolidated financial
position and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the expected credit
loss (“ECL”) of the Group’s trade receivables as the end of
the reporting period.

As disclosed in note 34(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group identified
debtors that are credit-impaired, of which the ECL are
assessed individually. The remaining amounts are assessed
on collective basis through grouping of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns based on the Group’s internal
credit ratings, repayment history and pass due status.
Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and the
forward-looking information.

As disclosed in notes 19 and 34(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group recognised impairment loss
of RMB457,000 for the year and the Group’s lifetime ECL
provision on trade receivables amounted to approximately
RMB5,009,000 as at 31 December 2024.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of trade receivables included:

- Understanding key controls on how the management
estimates the loss allowance;

- Testing the integrity of information used by
management to formulate the grouping for collective
assessment, as at 31 December 2024, on a sample
basis, to the supporting documents; and
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- Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance as at 31 December
2024, including their identification of credit-impaired
debtors, the reasonableness of management’s
collective assessment, and the basis of estimated
loss rates applied in each grouping of various debtors
with reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Fong Ho Keung

Practising Certificate Number: PO8079
28 March 2025

Hong Kong

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

BPEIEEANABSBERM(Ed R FENnET#H
CBEETH  EXERMBERS - RRRMAESRTHE5
o BB i B (R KRB ©

BRERTHEANABRRER  SIARMECHEHERA
BIYMERMERBEENR  YEREFEBEA A ESIEMER
REFEBRMBIMENMABERNEMER  UREER
HIERT - REBREEMRIROTTBRRANRERE -

EFBEERNMABBBNFTET  RIAEEMLERY
AHGAMBEHRERNENTRAEE - AMBKERETS
TH o RIMERBERE PG LEER - RIPZRIOER
TRALCFAFRBEELER  FERHELNERT - HE
BEMERMARETEBRFRENNBERRBAESE
AR - RPPRETNEEREHEBAEE °

SRETHAMTERAT
PRSI

Dbk

HERRFIT : PO8079
—E-RF=A=+NH
BB

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE

126



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mERRLAMEERAR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BfaE AR¥T R ARBTFT
Revenue WA 6 151,143 184,796
Direct costs HEKA (103,296) (110,732)
Gross profit E7 47,847 74,064
Other income HAanlgA 7 391 40
Other gains and losses HAh e M EE 8 202 (2,609)
Impairment loss under expected TBEREEEBREE TRER
credit loss model, net of reversal 18 - HIBREE (403) (2,580)
Selling and distribution costs SHE & SR AR (2,313) (3,438)
Administrative expenses THAX (19,803) (20,904)
Finance costs BFTE R AR 13 (1,011) 811)
Profit before taxation FRIERTR A 9 24,910 43,762
Taxation A 14 (684) (1,909)
Profit for the year F R 24,226 41,853
Other comprehensive income that BERAREHIBEEEREZ
may be reclassified subsequently to Htt2mEWE
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating B GINETSHIIE W Z 58
foreign operations 338 123
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEB L 24,564 41,976
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:  FE{L & A% FI (B518) -
Owners of the Company KATEBA 24,352 43,854
Non-controlling interests eI (126) (2,001)
24,226 41,853
Total comprehensive income (expense) E{hERDEKZE(BIX)
for the year attributable to: #zE .
Owners of the Company KATREBA 24,703 43,082
Non-controlling interests PR AR (139) (2,006)
24,564 41,976
Earnings per share attributable to RATEBAEEESRET
owners of the Company 15
- Basic and Diluted (RMB cents) —EAREEARESD) 4.28 10.82

Creative China Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RAMBERRR

as at 31 December 2024

R-ZE-mFE+=-A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BfaE AR¥T T ARETIT
Non-current assets FkREEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - B MR 16 135 278
Right-of-use assets FREEE 29 2,115 636
Intangible asset EmREE 17 - 4,144
Deposit for acquisition of property, IWWHEMZE -« BE &
plant and equipment Bt 382 -
Deferred tax assets RERIBE = 24 766 866
Total non-current assets RBEELE 3,398 5,924
Current assets REEE
Serial program rights BEBINRE 18 4,233 8,851
Trade and other receivables B 5N E WA 19 391,262 322,941
Amount due from a non-controlling interest  FEUIEIRAS 2SR I8 26 126 126
Bank balances and cash RITERNIRS 11,837 25,660
Total current assets MEEERE 407,458 357,578
Total assets EEHAE 410,856 363,502
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables g S e IR 20 411 4,006
Other payables and accruals HAb e /I8 R EET B A 21 44,474 42,008
Contract liabilities BHEE 22 8,935 16,201
Tax payables JERITRIR 15,618 15,568
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 1,614 659
Amount due to a director JEN—REEHIE 30(b) 6,138 5,995
Amount due to a related party FE—2 BER 5 BUR 30(0) 10,099 -
Bank borrowings RITIERX 23 16,000 17,710
Total current liabilities REBEEE 103,289 102,237
Net current assets REEETFE 304,169 255,341
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 307,567 261,265
Non-current liability ERBAMB
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 552 -
Total non-current liability FRBABHEE 552 -
Total liabilities EEHE 103,841 102,237
NET ASSETS BEEFE 307,015 261,265
FRAZSZERERAT —ToNEFERE 128



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
IRA SRR

as at 31 December 2024
R-B-ME+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FI5E AR¥T T ARETIT
Capital and reserves ERR#E

Share capital [N 25 24,847 22,605
Reserves i 27 282,815 239,168

Equity attributable to owners of the KATEE AELER
Company 307,662 261,773
Non-controlling interests IR 2 26 (647) (508)
TOTAL EQUITY R 307,015 261,265

The consolidated financial statements on pages 127 to 230 F127TE230EMEEMBREENR T AF=A=-TN\
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of AEESeREREREE -
directors on 28 March 2025.

Philip Jian Yang Wang Yong
5 8 pa2
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
W\ fk)’\,ﬁ?@]%

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_MF+-A=+—HLEFE

Reserves
e Equity
(Accumulated attributable
Foreign losses)  to owners Non-
Share Share Other Merger  exchange retained ofthe  controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits ~ Company interests Total
G|

(RIBR)  ABA
BE REGER  AtEE  AHEE  EXGE  REEN  BEEE  FERES it
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RWBOO0  RMBOOO  RWBIOO
ARRTT ARBTL ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E-=F-f-H
kg3 15,506 200,299 3,784 9,300 894 (53,563) 176,219 1,498 177,717
Proft (oss) for the year ERaH (B8) - - - - - M3g4 4385 Q001 41,853
Other comprehensiveincome &2 ERE (FR)
(expense) - - - - 128 - 128 9] 128
Total comprenensive income ~ FAZERE(FR )88
(expense) for the year - - - - 128 43,854 43,982 (2,006 41,976
lssue of shares, netofssung~~ EFRA  AREFR
expenses (note 25(2) (Wiitzep) 7100 34472 - - - S 117/ - U
Balance at 31 December 2023~ MZE==F+-F
and 1 January 2024 Zt-AR-E-mE
—R—BfEs 22,605 284,771 3,784 9,300 1,022 (9,709) 261,773 (508 261,265
Proft (oss) for th year EmaH (B8) - - - - - W U (126 2426
Other comprehensiveincome &2 ERE (F %)
(expense) - - - - 351 - 351 (13) 338
Totel comprehensiveincome ~ ERZENE (5% )48
(expense) for the year - - - - 351 24,352 24,703 (139 24,564
Placing of shares, net of placing ~ BXE R (7 - MAEER.
expenses (note 25(b)) (Hi#251) 224 18944 - - - - 21,186 - 21,186
Balance at 31 December 2024 M=E-ME+-F
ST-HRER 24,847 263,715 3,784 9,300 1,373 14,643 307,662 (647) 307,015
Nature and purpose of reserves are disclosed in note 28. HEEE KRS ERH 28
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
AR ERER

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELEESRE
Profit before taxation FREERTR A 24,910 43,762
Adjustments for: Ed
Interest income FEWA (22) (40)
Written-off of property, plant and equipment — ¥1% -« = MR E S 48 -
Gain on early termination of lease contracts ~ $ERTAIFTHE S X7 Yz - 69)
Finance costs B TSR AR 1,011 811
Impairment loss under expected credit loss ~ FEHEA(Z B EBER TRIEEE -
model, net of reversal HIpREE ] 403 2,580
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB RRETE
equipment 127 271
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 1,702 2,026
Amortisation of intangible asset A ERE 4,144 1,686
Operating profit before working LIBERNEB ] 2L R
capital changes 32,323 51,027
Increase in trade and other receivables E 5 K Ho b EUGRIEIE AN (68,475) (31,008)
Decrease in serial program rights EEEI R 4,618 -
(Decrease) increase in trade payables B SN FIECH ) (3,596) 1,746
Increase (decrease) in other payables H b e RIEE IR D) 2,368 (9,709)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERLY> (7,266) (2,389)
Cash (used in) generated from operations KE (A5 R S (40,028) 9,667
Income taxes paid BTETER (568) (4,085)
Net cash (used in) generated from operating — #£< 5 &) (BT ) FT1SIR & %58
activities (40,596) 5,602
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELERESRE
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant W EEWZE - M= k&G
and equipment Frffiz e (382) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB Y% - lE REE (32) (24)
Interest received BUF B 22 40
Net cash (used in) from investing activities WERE (A MSREFE (392) 16
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A TH A =
meERTMER
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Cash flows from financing activities RETHELERERE
New bank borrowings raised EERITER 25,000 18,250
Proceeds from issue of shares BITIRMFTS5RIA 22,424 46,194
Advance from a related company —FEIRA A R 9,751 1,258
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBRITER (26,710) (26,540)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (1,777) (2,175)
Transaction costs attributable to AR EEATIEAE X Z AR
issue of shares (1,238) (4,622)
Interest paid ERFE (561) (624)
Repayment to shareholders EERRFIA - (31,771)
Repayment to a related party 838 — R B0 7 508 - (6,087)
Advances from shareholders TN - 1,880
Net cash from (used in) financing activities BB EBAE (TR )RS FEE 26,889 (4,242)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash ReERBeEEBWMORD) LN FEE
equivalents (14,099) 1,376
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes GINES B SR B R 276 240
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REVIRIRE MIREEED
of the year 25,660 24,044
Cash and cash equivalents at end RERNRE RIRESEZEY
of the year — represented —RERIBITHEHB LIRS
by bank balances and cash 11,837 25,660

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

s

Creative China Holdings Limited

GENERAL INFORMATION

Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is at the offices of Codan Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited, Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
is located at Room 1901, 19/F, Yulin Building, No. 5A
Xiangjun Nanli 2nd Alley, Chaoyang District, Beijing,
the PRC, and its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at 23/F, Yue Thai Commercial
Building, 128 Connaught Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, Youth Success
Holdings Limited and Guang Rui Investments Limited
are its immediate and ultimate parent respectively.
Guang Rui Investments Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Yang Shaogian and his
spouse, Ms. Mou Sufang.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding while its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in serial program/film production and film rights
investment, concert and event organisation services,
mobile application development and operation
services and artist management. The Company and
its subsidiaries are collectively referred as the “Group”
hereafter.

The consolidated financial statements are presented

in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 LLeaseback
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with

HKAS 1 Covenants

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
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2.

Creative China Holdings Limited

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing
and HKFRS 7 Nature-Dependent

Electricity®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of

and HKAS 28 Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements
Accounting Standards to HKFRS Accounting

Standards - Volume 112
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure

in Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

“ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards mentioned below, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standards,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in
HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to
HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings
per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements.
The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed
impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

3.

Creative China Holdings Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA.
For the purpose of preparation to the
consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis at
the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes,
fair value measurements are categorised into
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices included within Level
1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it
controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRA SRR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HILLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Creative China Holdings Limited

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group's
equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted,
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRS Accounting Standards). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers in the
Group’s ordinary activities are recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to
the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the goods or service may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the goods
or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs;
or

° does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers
over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with ta significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer.
In those circumstances, the contract contains
a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to be the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the Group transferred the
associated goods or services before payments
from customers in which the Group adjusts
for the promised amount of consideration for
significant financing components, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception.
The Group recognises interest income
during the period between the payment from
customers and the transfer of the associated
goods or services.

For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers.

3.

=a

3.2

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

BRBREREEREASTHHRER (F)

BEAESHRERES(H)

REEFER 2z Wi (&)

REER 5 ERE - WE&HENKER(TH
NEETRHATR TN REPHAEE T RE R
EmIRBTEL 2EAREN G - AEEH
PEBRREEZFEMABRDARZIRES
B ERXFBAT  AHEREARENXD
ERBEFHEEORANTHERELNEL
ZRIM T MERNRIEKFTRS - R eFE
ERBERKD

IAKEEREARER D MABDAHE K
([ESREREF MRATH A K B E A E Mk
RiEzAHME  AEERAENAEERR
FPZEREHRRIBIBER SRRz
AR o AEEREP AR MERERE IR
52 AR A BUA -

IR EERAAGENE RRRGOHR A —
FRUTHAOME - KPERLERIEEX
BMEAKRBYNFERAE B EREERE
165 HF A A e PRI TR E AT

B, o
=

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE

142



143

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(@  Serial program/film production and film
rights investment

(i) Production or service income

Production income is recognised at
the point in time when the customer
obtains the physical possession
of master tape of the completed
program. Generally, the Group
does not have an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date until when the
master tape is delivered.

Production service income is
recognised at a point in time when
the program selected services are
completed and the amount can
be measured reliably. Generally,
the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to
date until when the program was
completed.

(i)  Sale of script copyright and
program

Revenue from sale of script
copyright and program is
recognised at the point in time when
the script or program is delivered
and title of script or program
has passed to the customers.
Generally, the Group does not have
an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date
until when the script or program is
delivered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(@  Serial program/film production and film
rights investment (continued)

(i) Film rights investment

Revenue from film distribution
and income rights is recognised
when (i) the films are exhibited in
movie theatres over the period,
(i) the amount of revenue can
be measured reliably and (i) the
collectability of the entitled proceeds
is reasonably assured. Revenue
from sale of film distribution and
income rights is recognised at a
point in time when the control of the
film rights investment is transferred
to the customers so that the
customers can direct the use and
obtain associate benefits from the
film distribution and income rights.

(b)  Concert and event organisation and
related services

(i) Concert and events income

The Group is responsible for
organising concerts and earns
revenue from ticket sales and
sponsors. Revenue is recognised at
point in time when (i) the concerts
and/or events are completed; (ii)
the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably; and (iii) the
collectability of the entitled proceeds
is reasonably assured. The Group
has no enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(b)  Concert and event organisation and
related services (continued)

(i)  Provision of event organisation
services

The Group is also responsible for
private event organisation and
related services. Revenue from
service income is recognised
over the period when the relevant
events are held by the Group as the
customers simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance.

(c)  Mobile application development and
operation and related services

(i) Provision of online advertising
services

The Group’s mobile application
“Aiwoo” (an application to provide
online fans and celebrities with the
tools necessary to engagement and
interaction) allows customers to
place advertisements in particular
areas of Aiwoo at fixed prices.

Revenue from online advertising
services is recognised ratably
over the period in which the
advertisement is agreed to be
displayed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(c)  Mobile application development and
operation and related services (continued)

(i)  Livestreaming e-commerce

The Group is considered as
an agent for its contracts with
customers relating to livestreaming
e-commerce arranged in the
platform as the Group did not obtain
control over the products being
transacted in the platform before
passing on to individual customers,
taking into consideration indicators
such as the Group is not primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise
and not exposed to inventory
risk. When the Group satisfied the
performance obligation at a point
in time, i.e. upon payments by
the customers in the platform, the
Group recognised a commission
revenue in the amount it expects
to be entitled as specified in the
contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(c)  Mobile application development and
operation and related services (continued)

(i)  Livestreaming e-commerce
(continued)

Revenue from live streaming
e-commerce for sales of products
to individual customers is
recognised at a point of time.
The Group acts as an agent and
recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which
the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the
specified good to be provided by
the other party.

(a)  Artist management income

(i) Provision of artist management
services

When another party is involved in
providing services to a customer,
the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide
the specified services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an
agent).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(a)  Artist management income (continued)

(i) Provision of artist management
services (continued)

The Group is a principal if it controls
the specified good or service
before that service is transferred
to a customer. The Group is an
agent if its performance obligation
is to arrange for the provision of
the specified service by another
party. The Group applies judgment
to determine control under the
principal-versus-agent as well as
which of the indicators are more
relevant depending on the facts
and circumstances of the specific
transaction. Revenue is recognised
over the period as specified in the
service contracts.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRA SRR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HILLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Creative China Holdings Limited

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible
assets that are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of assets less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis. The useful lives are as
follows:

Leasehold Over the remaining
improvements lives of the leases

but not exceeding
10 years

Office equipment 3-5 years

Computer equipment  3-5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Serial program rights

These represent (i) serial program rights
investment with contractual rights held in
respect of serial programs under co-financing
arrangements entered into by the Group, and
(i) exclusive adaptation right of serial program.
These rights are stated at lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value of serial
program rights is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

The amount of serial program rights recognised
as direct costs for a given period is determined
using the revenue forecast computation
method. Under this method, the amortisation
of serial program rights and the accrual of
participations and residuals are based on the
proportion of the revenue recognised for such
period for each individual drama series to the
estimated total revenue of that drama series (i.e.
the total revenue to be received throughout the
life cycle of the drama series).

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received,;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Lease modlfications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as
a separate lease if:

- the modification increase the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or
more underlying assets; and

- the consideration for leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the
stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Lease modiifications (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures
the lease liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, base on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.

When the modified contract contains one or
more additional lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component. The associated non-lease
components are included in the respective
lease components.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses/revalued amounts, being
their fair value at the date of the revaluation less
subsequent accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for
on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRA SRR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HILLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Creative China Holdings Limited

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Annual Report 2024

3.

=a

3.2

BRBREREERBEASTHRER (F)

BEAEHHRERER ()

W¥  BERRE  RAEEERENEEN
e

RBEHR > AEERSTEDE  BEER
e EREEERAAREAFHNELEE
MEREE  NEERFEESTHRARTRE
EROEMBR - i REAEREER - A
FHEREEZ AIKE S5 - AEERERIEN
REMNE) -

ME  BENERE ERAREENEBENEEN
AU el BT ERIEET o fi T BEME B & ET AT IR
&% URKEREAEEMBRSELS
fIEYFIIREI S %R o

REREELBMETRERNRR - HitEL
BE-HMOREE  CEEEROAEHAR
REeELEMN  BRISKREEYNEE BN
REENRER/HRSELEMAR - AT
CefmtXEEMBNREELSMHRS
ELFEMAERNTEE  YRABRSES AN
ReEEEMARNREEETLER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata
to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

Creative China Holdings Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate
on general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Share-based payments

Shares/Share options granted to non-
employees

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions with parties other than employees
are measured at the fair value of the goods or
services received, except where that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case
they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the
goods or services received are recognised as
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify
for recognition as assets).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

(@)  Financial assets

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

@

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or
loss, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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3.

Creative China Holdings Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

@)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment
assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables,
amounts due from non-controlling
interests and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that
will result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime
ECL for trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
(a)  Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit
risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

3.

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

SEMBBREREEREARSTHHRER (H)

3.2

BEAESHRERES(H)

2T HE)

@)

EHEEE)

BRBE BV RE LR FOFEITRIE
bz e REERREGE)

BAAAHMTAMS  AEERASER
12EAEREEEENS R EBER
# BIFEERRBEMNEERAKREHE
I REBERT » AEEEREH
BEHEEER - AL REREME
HIEEEE - HER A RERARE
RENMA RS EREE S REEN -

() 1=ERBAEEM

HRHE B TR AREERRZ
BARENE  AEESHBEE
HERHEMIAZARORRRE
BEVRERAONSMTARLE
HIREBR o PEH B RHEE - AEH
ZRAENAENEEREENE
£ BEATERREERMNL L
EHRA S S B AT ES BY ATBE 1%

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE

162



163

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR T ot

for the year ended 31 December 2024

BECZME+-A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATE

MENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

(a)  Financial assets (continued)

Impairment
impairment
(continued)

() Signif

of financial assets subject to
assessment under HKFRS 9

cant increase in credit risk

(continued)

In particular, the following
information is taken into account

when
has in

Creative China Holdings Limited

assessing whether credit risk
creased significantly:

an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external
(if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

@

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(continued)

° an actual or expected
significant deterioration in
the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected
significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment
of the debtor that results in
a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the
above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
(a)  Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
(@) Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of
the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as
a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower,
for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the
borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable
that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an
active market for that financial
asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
(@)  Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial
asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of
ECL

The measurement of ECL is
a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is
a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
(@) Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of
ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL are considered
on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such
as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the
Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of
debtors; and

° External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure the
constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
(a)  Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(continued)

(v}  Measurement and recognition of
ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade and
other receivables and amounts due
from non-controlling interests where
the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
(b)  Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued
by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by a group entity
are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

(i)  Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank
borrowings, trade and other
payables amounts due to a
director and a related company
are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRA SRR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Creative China Holdings Limited

(continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit before taxation because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3.

Creative China Holdings Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for leasing transactions in which the Group
recognises the right-of-use assets and
the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the
lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income
Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities,
and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HILLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Creative China Holdings Limited

(continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of
that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation
of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences on monetary
items receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the Group’s operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of foreign exchange
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
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4.

Creative China Holdings Limited

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the managements are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results might differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets an
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and
credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The remaining amounts are assessed on collective
basis through grouping of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns based on the Group’s internal
credit rating, repayment history and pass due status.
Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed
default rate, forecast economic conditions and the
forward-looking information.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 34(a)
and 19, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”) that are used to make
strategic decisions.

The Group has the following reportable segments
which are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires
different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s
reportable and operating segments:

- Serial Program/Film Production and Film Rights
Investment

Serial Program/Film Production and Film Rights
Investment segment provides film and television
program original script creation, adaptation,
production and licensing and related production
services and film rights investment.

- Concert and Event Organisation

Concert and Event Organisation segment
provides organisation services, such as
music concerts, prize presentation ceremony,
automobile shows, university alumni and other
performance events.

- Mobile Application Development and Operation

Mobile Application Development and Operation
segment provides electronic platforms
for entertainment contents consumption
and e-commerce, such as online store.
This segment also provides live streaming
e-commerce, online advertising services and
mobile application related services.

- Artist Management
Artist management segment provides

management service for the customers for
arrangement of different performance activities.

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5. RS ()
(a) Business segments (a) XK
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z_NMF+-_A=+—HLEFE
Serial
Program/Film Mobile
Production Application
and Film Concert Development
Rights and Event and Artist
Investment Organisation Operation Management Total
HEREY
HEREY EEER BBEREF
R E EBER NHERNEE gARRE @t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETRE ARETR AR¥ETRT AR¥ETRT AR®TR
Revenue from contracts with BPatlz iz
customers 148,185 2,235 339 384 151,143
Represented by: PATFIBERTR -
Recognised over time R—EREs Rk
- Provision of artist management  — 1R {HEE ALL
services R - - - 384 384
Recognised at a point in time R — Ak B L&
— Sale of script copyright and — & BIARRREE R
program £ H 148,185 - - - 148,185
- Live streaming e-commerce -ERTE - - 339 - 339
— Concert and events income —BEg A
WA - 2,235 - - 2,235
Reportable revenue from external KB IMNIEF 2
customers BE s 148,185 2,235 339 384 151,143
Reportable segment profit (oss) A 23k/ 20 Fl
(E18) 43,300 (1,091) (7,838) (1,074) 33,297
Interest income MEHA 10 - 5 6 21
Interest expense FIERZ (633) (10) (1) (10) (654)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FFAEEENE (839) (169) (139) (265) (1,4006)
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BELRE
and equipment e @ - (120) - (122
Amortisation of intangible asset B B E# - - (4,144) - (4,2144)
Net exchange gain (l0ss) I s (B598) 588 (199) 154 - - (45)
Impairment loss under ECL EHEEBBERY
model, net of reversal TREES
%D (681) - 267 11 (403)
Reportable segment assets AERHHEE 372,877 7,414 22,005 6,935 409,231
Additions to non-current assets  JFRBEAERE
(note) (fet) 2,160 1,013 14 - 3,187
Reportable segment liabilities BES: Cn = (54,561) (1,169) (11,212) (11,224) (78,166)
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5.

(@)

BE-_Z-_WE+-_A=+—HLEFE
SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 5. 2| E(E)
Business segments (continued) (a) XK2E(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE-ZT-_=F+-"A=1+—HLFE
Serial
Program/Film Mobile
Production Application
and Film Concert  Development
Rights and Event and Artist
Investment  Organisation Operation  Management Total
BER/BY
BEREY BEERk BHERRERF
R & EEEN NRBRNES YN #ar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Revenue from contracts with RPAN M
customers 170,911 8,652 3,510 1,723 184,796
Represented by: PATPFIRERTR -
Recognised over time R—EBREERER
- Provision of artist management  — 1R EEALL
services ki - - - 1,723 1,723
Recognised at a pointin time ~ R—{EREZRER
— Sale of script copyright and — M E B AR R
program S| 62,148 - - - 62,148
— Sale of film distrioution and ~HEBFETR
income rights Wease 101,216 - - - 101,216
- Production or service income  —ZUESE ARSI 7,547 - - - 7,547
- Live streaming e-commerce —-HIERE - - 3,510 - 3,510
- Concert and events income —BIEE EE)
WA - 8,652 - - 8,652
Reportable segment revenue from  REMIEF 2
external customers REEGELe 170,911 8,652 3,510 1,723 184,796
Reportable segment profit (oss) A £ % & H
(B18) 68,000 (2,677) (8,291) (705) 56,327
Interest income FBUA 17 - 8 12 37
Interest expense FERE (679) (10) 29) (10) (728)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (£ L ENTE 911) (168) (531) (248) (1,858)
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BEREHE
and equipment e @) - (259) - (262)
Amortisation of intangible asset ~ E A E# - - (1,686) - (1,686)
Net exchange gain (loss) B 5 Wias (B598) 348 (2,999) 302 - 135 (2,562)
Impairment loss under ECL EHEEEBRR
model, net of reversal THEEE
AR (863) - (1,750) 33 (2,580)
Reportable segment assets AEmAHEE 311,062 13,201 27,698 9,662 361,713
Additions to non-current assets ~ IEREIEERE
(note) (Hiit) - - 425 - 425
Reportable segment liabilities REE VRN (51,342) (8,419) (11,883) (15,951) (87,595)

%= B

AR e SRR AT

for the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note: Non-current assets include property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.
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5.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

Creative China Holdings Limited

Reconciliation of reportable segment
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

5. Z2#EHmE (R

(b)

AE2{FHMUE - BE EEREEZIHE

2024 2023
—EoMmE —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Revenue g
Reportable segment revenue from external REINBEP 2 Al 23D E
customers g 151,143 184,796
2024 2023
—ECZNE —ET o=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT
Profit before taxation RREE AR T
Reportable segment profit Al 285 30 A 33,297 56,327
Unallocated other gains or losses: RO B E AR /G
- Net exchange gain (loss) — [ Wz (18 ) 558 295 (116)
Unallocated other income: ROBEAIBA -
— Interest income —FEHA 1 3
Unallocated finance costs: RAOBEIATEK AN
— Interest expense — M B (357) (83)
Unallocated corporate expenses: RAOMARIFAR :
— Auditor’s remuneration NGB (648) 674)
— Directors’ emoluments —E=Me (2,210) (2,179)
— Legal and professional fee —EERBEER (1,966) (6,193)
— Salaries and other benefits for key —ETEEERITRAE
management and administration staff Fre REAER] (2,048) (1,203)
— General operating expenses ——MREERX (1,454) (370)
— Impairment loss under expected credit —TEHEEEIEER T E
loss model on amount due from a W S 12 R e 2 R (B IES
non-controlling interest & - (1,750)
Consolidated profit before taxation FRELATAR S i A 24,910 43,762

Segment profit (loss) represents the profit
earned by or loss from each segment
without allocation of corporate expenses and
unallocated net exchange gain (loss), interest
income and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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5.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR TSR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

Reconciliation of reportable segment

5. Z&®E(E)

I

(b) AE2HIBUE B BEREBEZHEK

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities (&)
(continued)
2024 2023
—EBomE 2=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARBT T
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets AE2WmHHAEE 409,231 361,713
Unallocated corporate assets: ROBLARIEE :
— Property, plant and equipment — % - WE R 11 31
— Bank balances and cash — RIS MR 954 1,288
— Others —Hf 660 470
Consolidated total assets TEBERE 410,856 363,502
2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBETIT
Liabilities E{i
Reportable segment liabilities CIES "45% & 78,166 87,595
Unallocated corporate liabilities: KOBEARIARE :
— Accruals and other payables -~ JE :Hr B A& EAmER
wIa 9,438 8,647
— Amount due to a director — BN —REEHIE 6,138 5,995
— Amount due to a related company — [EN—FE Fﬁﬂﬁ’“‘ FRIE 10,099 -
Consolidated total liabilities e BEesE 103,841 102,237
FEEIZEERERAT T _NFEFERE
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z_ME+-_A=+—HLEE
5. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(c) Geographic information

The following table provides a geographical
analysis of the Group’s revenue from external

5. Z&®E(E)

(c) HEESR

TREHAKEINDZFREAIBEIT

customers:
2024 2023
—ECOEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
PRC i
— Sale of script copyright and program — B EBIARhRiE & & E 148,185 62,148
— Sale of film distribution and income rights — HEEFET R EE - 62,018
— Production or service income — BUESARIFULA - 7,547
— Provision of artist management services —EHEALLIRTE 384 1,723
— Live streaming e-commerce —BEETE 339 3,510
Hong Kong B8
— Sale of film distribution and income rights —NEBFET RINERE - 39,198
Other countries in Southeast Asia RETHMEXR
— Concert and event income —EEg REEWA 2,235 8,652
151,143 184,796

Note: Geographical region of customers is based on
the location at which the goods and services
are provided.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2024

Hiet - BRI E TR E @ ARG R RS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RA SRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2024

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(d)

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2024,
revenues from four customers (2023: five

5. OEHmE

(d)

ﬁ:’_

(&)
EREIEFEFNESR

E-ME+=A=t+—BILEE

BE-_Z-_WF+_A=+—HItFE kB
WEEF(ZZ =% : AERFP )Nk=EE R

customers) with whom transactions have BASERFRWEAI10% © FIBNT -
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for the
year. Details were as follows:
2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTFT
Customer I: BRI
— Serial Program/Film Production and —BER B EER
Film Distribution and Income Rights BT T&Hﬁl i1 71,000 28,880
Customer |I: E)f'll :
— Serial Program/Film Production and Film EEEEEEER
Distribution and Income Rights BRETT R 27,855 N/ANE A
Customer |II: =P
— Serial Program/Film Production and $Zt Bl ERRUER
Film Distribution and Income Rights B EIT g 19,708 24,651
Customer IV: BRIV :
— Serial Program/Film Production and —EEBBREER
Film Distribution and Income Rights B BT R 17,877 29,000
Customer V: BFV:
— Serial Program/Film Production and —BER B EER
Film Distribution and Income Rights BREIT NG - 39,198
Customer VI EFVI
— Serial Program/Film Production and —#EREHEER
Film Distribution and Income Rights BRBETRWEGEE N/ATER* 33,019
136,440 154,748
. The corresponding revenue for the customer : FRE P AR TR S B A KT
did not contribute over 10% of the total 10%A E ©
revenue of the Group during the year.
PEAIZEZERERLAE T _UFFERE
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6.

Creative China Holdings Limited

REVENUE

Revenue of the Group represents revenue generated
from (i) serial program/film production and film rights
investment; (i) concert and event organisation and
related services; (i) mobile application development
and operation and related services; and (iv) artist
management and related services. The amounts
of each significant category of revenue recognised
during the year are as follows:

L'ON

REBURAIR()EESEXRUERBEMRERE
(VBB g BB E M KABRRTS © (V2 BEARRFN
FEME S KBRS © RivVEALLERRIEH
RIGEA Z WA - RERERNEERAERRZK
T

2024 2023

—ECOEF —T=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AREF T

Sale of script copyright and program I EBIARRE R & B 148,185 62,148
Sale of film distribution and income rights & & 21T M IES#E - 101,216
Production or service income SUES AR IA - 7,547
Concert and events income BIEE MOEEIA 2,235 8,652
Livestreaming e-commerce BERETE 339 3,510
Provision of artist management services R AL LIRS 384 1,723
151,143 184,796

All of the Group’s sales contracts have an original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligation for these
contracts is not disclosed.

AEEMAHERONVRBERBRES —FXE
g o BB BMELRNESHEAF » DETHF
BRNBEOEENRZERTTRE

OTHER INCOME Hiblgr A
2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARBET T
Interest income from bank deposits IRITIF R 2 FBUA 22 40
Government subsidy (note) St EENC D) 149 -
Sundry income HEIEULA 220 -
391 40

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recognised government grants amounted
to RMB149,000 (2023: nil) which was related to
a subsidy for small and medium-sized enterprises
provided by the government in the PRC with no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies and are
recognised as other income upon receipt.

Annual Report 2024
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

8. HthmEkER

2024 2023
—EWEF R =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T AREF T
Net exchange gain (loss) b 5 Yam (B518 ) 558 250 (2,678)
Gain on early termination of lease contracts ~ IERIARIEFAE S H 2 Wz - 69
Written-off of property, plant and equipment — #12 - = M & @ (48) -
202 (2,609)
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BRBIATEF
2024 2023
—E-MEF ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Profit before taxation is arrived BRA A
at after charging: FEH0BR -
Staff costs (including directors’ emolument) BTRA(BIEESEHM) 9,063 9,114
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B A 5 B 648 674
Depreciation of property, plant and Vs - BEMRERETE
equipment 127 271
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,702 2,026
Amortisation of intangible asset A R 4,144 1,686
PEAIZEZERERLAE T _UFFERE
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BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HILLFE

10. STAFF COSTS BIAE

2024 2023

—EoME —EF-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMET T AREF T

Staff costs (including directors’ emolument) 8 TR A (BIEEEFH M) 24F ¢

comprise:

— Salaries % 8,334 8,164

— Short-term non-monetary benefits — R ERIEE R ER 181 100

— Contributions to retirement benefit schemes — — iR IE T+ I (5K 548 850

9,063 9,114

The Group operates/participates in the following
pension and post retirement plans:

()  The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

() Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the PRC, the Group participates
in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes (the “Schemes”) organised by the
local government authorities whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to
the Schemes based on certain percentages
of the eligible employee’s salaries. The local
government authorities are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The Group has no other obligations
for payments of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of employees other than the
contributions described above.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2024
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 11. EEHE
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: BEESHWNIAT ¢
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-ZE-_ME+-A=+—HLEFE
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Total
#FER BARER
Be Hitt g F HE LS st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥T T AR¥T T AR®TR
Executive directors HITEE
(note () (Hiz2(0)
Mr. Philip Jian Yang BRI%E
(note (iv)) (Hitiv) - 1,128 16 1,144
Mr. Wang Yong TBEEE
(note (v)) (Hi72(v)) - 219 11 230
Non-executive directors HHITEE
(note (i) (Hz2 ()
Mr. Ge Xuyu BEFEE - 328 16 344
Mr. Yang Shiyuan BHREE - - - -
Independent non-executive BUIHTESE
directors (note (i) (a2 i)
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen EBRRIRSE & 164 - - 164
Ms. Fu Yuehong BRIt 164 - - 164
Mr. Wang Xinghua (note (vif)) THEESAE
(Hizzvi)) 164 - - 164

492 1,675 43 2,210

TEARERERAT —T-NFFERET 188
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2023

11. EEHFBM(E)
BE-_T-_=—F+-_A=1t—HILEE

Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Total
ek RIKER \
ok HAbtaH FTEIfR FCE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARETIT AREFT
Executive directors HITEE
(note (i)) (H7:0)

Mr. Philip Jian Yang (note (iv)) SRISTE (M) - 1,123 12 1,135

Mr. Wang Yong (note (v)) TBEEN W) - 62 - 62

Non-executive directors HHITEE

(note (i) (rat)

Mr. Ge Xuyu BEFRE - 325 16 341

Mr. Wang Yong (note (v)) TBEEN W) 154 - - 154

Mr. Yang Shiyuan IBthiR A - - - -

Independent non-executive BUHHTESE

directors (note (i) (B2 i)

Mr. Tan Song Kwang (note (vi) BRAD S (B3 (V) 117 - - 117

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen ERRRE & 162 - - 162

Ms. Fu Yuehong BRI Lt 162 - - 162

Mr. Wang Xinghua (note (vii)) FTHEESAE

(Bz (i) 46 - - 46
641 1,510 28 2,179

Notes: Hiat -

0] The executive directors’ emoluments shown above () EXFRTEESN e T EARETHEERANA L
were mainly for their services in connection with the AEENSEHERMNRE -
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

(i) The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown iy  EXFIRIERITEENIEEEAFSEERAARIRA
above were mainly for their services as directors of SEEEMRE -
the Company and the Group.

(i) The independent non-executive directors’ (i) EXFITREMYIERTERFNMeEERABREEEAR
emoluments shown above were mainly for their AIEEMARTS
services as directors of the Company.

(iv)  Mr. Philip Jian Yang is also the Chief Executive Officer (v) BRIZETABRNRTNTITIRES,
of the Company.

()  Mr. Wang Yong was redesignated from a non- v  EBEARCEC=FAATN\BAFFRITERHEE
executive Director to an executive Director on 18 EPTES -

September 2023.

(vl Mr. Tan Song Kwang retired from the board of V) BRIREAER_Z_=FAHT\BEEFGRE-
directors on 18 September 2023. The emoluments EXFRE S O EAE R AN A BB IFITE R
disclosed above were for his services as an R ZREMET
independent non-executive director of the Company.

(viij  Mr. Wang Xinghua was appointed as an independent i)y TEEXAEZTABIYIIFNTES BT _=F

non-executive Director effective from 18 September
2023.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2024
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, two (2023: three) were directors of the

12. AEREHFMAL

REBRER
i@%$’7§$

AL

Ma(=
BEZE ME%%LXW&ﬁm

Bo=F:

Company whose emoluments are included in the WHER - EBR=R(ZT=F : MB) AL ZH M
disclosures in note 11 above. The emoluments of mr
the remaining three (2023: two) individuals were as
follows:
2024 2023
—EF-MF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBET T AREFIT
Salaries e 1,703 1,178
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes — ERIREFIET 2k 40 24
1,743 1,202
Their emoluments were within the following band: WEZEHMWERATHSR -
2024 2023
—EmF —E-=F
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
AE A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 3 2
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. BAEERAR
2024 2023
—EBNF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®F T AREFIT
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE TS 561 624
Interest on amount due to a related company  FE{ —EREHE A B FIEF S 348 75
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBENE 102 112
1,011 811

HERIZERER AR

—Eo SRS
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Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years.

As stipulated in Cai Shui [2011] No. [112], Cai
Shui [2021] No. [27] and Cai Shui [2021] No. [42],
enterprises newly established in Khorgas special
economic areas and engaged in the encouraged
industries as defined under the € ¥7 I8 [N £ ib [@ &
NEBEREXDCEMSHES B ) (Catalogue
of Key Encouraged Developing Industries for
Enterprise Income Tax Benefits in Difficult Areas
of Xinjiang (for identification purpose only)) could
enjoy EIT exemption for five years starting from its
first operation income-generating year during the
period from 2011 to 2020, from 2021 to 2030 and
from 2021 to 2030 respectively. Horgos Zongheng
Infinite Cultural Media Co. Ltd. (“Horgos Zongheng”)
and Horgos Feichi Cultural Media Co. Ltd. (“Horgos
Feichi”), subsidiaries of the Group are eligible for
entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2024 and from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2028, respectively.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2024

14. TAXATION 14. B

2024 2023
—EOEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTF T

Current tax — Hong Kong RUEATRIE — &
— provision for the year — F AR 9 2,005
— overprovision in prior years —BEFEBEEE - (222)

Current tax — the PRC B EARIE —
— provision for the year — F A 575 127
— overprovision in prior years — BT FEBEEE - (17)
Deferred taxation EREFI IR 100 16
Income tax expenses R8s 684 1,909

REFENSHOMABINESHEIE - 6ERE
BERE2H &8 7T N 1 128.25% K B K BN T
K 2B &BITIA L 26 M A#216.5% 1Y T K 8k

B e HRAFEMAHMEHEHEEERNEE
BEE - HORFIASHEBEIA6.5%M 5 — T ERGMBIR -

RIFPBRCEMESRE(DEMBRIE]) REER
BRUEEREED - KB ARNRERMEAFTE
H/525% o

RFEIFE[2011]58[112)5% 81§ [2021]) 5 [27)5% & BF
Fi[2021)F 4257 IR TE + 75 2 BB SR HT 48 7 15 [ #T K
VWRECTER# RSN SEEREXDEMS
MEREH)MATHBEREENDE  RZZ
——FE_ZT_FTFHE RITE_—FEx-_FT=
TFHREAR_E—FE_T=FFHRH - 27l
BEEAREEERATFEREBEEMSERSF - &
EENBAREREMMEER VLEEER AR
(TEMRITMGE D RERRIT R L ERERNDE
RAR(ERRIRM D AIR_E=FF—H—
BE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HEZ=-ZZ-_F—A
—HBEZZN\FF+_A=+—HHEEREXD
EFTSHIEAR ©
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14. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 14. BiE(E)
The taxation can be reconciled to the profit before fﬁlﬁéﬁi,ﬁ? B M EM 2 EREER B AR AT RS
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or HERIT

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
—E-MEF —EC=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFT
Profit before taxation BRBLATE A 24,910 43,762
Tax charge at the domestic tax rate of 25% A R25% (=T = =4 :
(2023: 25%) 25%) 5t E 2 BIAR 2 6,228 10,941
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REA Bl ERE R AL P B A A
operating in other jurisdictions ED s 7 631 1,015
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ARG St 2 TR AS o2 22
purposes 2,675 3,461
Tax effect of income not taxable for ARG 2 Ris R &
tax purposes (394) (816)
Effect of tax exemption granted to BB A RIER A
PRC subsidiaries Mg eTE (11,422) (16,478)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERBIEBBE 2 BETEE 2,997 4,779
Effect of tax income at concessionary rate NEEREAERBERANZE (12) (165)
Overprovision in prior years BT EBEERE - (239)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised &) %t il R T @ Fi JE &5 18 (115) (603)
Others HAth 96 14
Income tax expenses FrisBif < 684 1,909
15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per ARBIER ARG SRERREERMNIREAT
share attributable to the owners of the Company is BUERRTHE ¢
based on the following data:
2024 2023
—BoE —Bo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFT
Profit for the purposes of basic earnings MERERZHME 2 m 5
per share 24,352 43,854
2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
’000 ‘000
T T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &3 i f1#E F 19 2k 568,593 405,344
Note: No diluted earnings per share is presented as there i - SEEESRESERTN - AMEFELEEECET
were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both TmAR o
years.

TEAERERERAT —ToNFFE®RSE 192
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% - BMEKRRKE

Leasehold Office Computer Furniture Motor
improvements  equipment equipment  and fixtures vehicles Total
RENEEE BORE ElRe  BAR%E RE &zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFL  ARETR  ARETE  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%-F—H 1,949 1,549 9,506 918 3,522 17,444
Additions e - - 24 - - 24
Exchange realignment EREE 6 3 6 - - 15
At 31 December 2023 and RIZZZEFZA=T-HR
1 January 2024 —E-ME-A-H 1,965 1,562 9,536 918 3,522 17,483
Additions e - - 2 - - 32
Disposaliwritten-off HE /s (1,311) (1,486) (8,745) (884) (2,766) (15,192)
Exchange realignment ERHEE 10 1 1 - - 12
At 31 December 2024 RZB-MET-A=1-H 654 67 824 3 756 2,335
Accumulated depreciationand ~ EiHFERFEEE :
impairment loss:
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=%-A-H 1,812 1,649 9,121 918 3,522 16,922
Charge for the year FRF M 187 - 134 - - 271
Exchange realignment B % 6 3 3 - - 12
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+ZA=+-Hk
1 January 2024 “2-MFE-A-H 1,965 1,562 9,258 918 3,522 17,205
Charge for the year FRZML - - 127 - - 127
Disposal/writien-off e /M (1,311) (1,486) (8,697) (884) (2,766) (15,144
Exchange realignment ERHE 10 1 1 - - 12
At 31 December 2024 RZF-MET-_A=1-H 654 67 689 34 756 2,200
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+-A=1-H - - 135 - - 135
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=E+-A=+-H - - 218 - - 218

Creative China Holdings Limited
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INTANGIBLE ASSET 17. B EE
RMB’000
AREFTT
Cost: BN
At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 RZB-_=ZF—A—AURZT_=F
and 2024 k=T -—mOF+=RA=+—H 8,431
Accumulated amortisation: RETEEH -
At 1 January 2023 R -=F—HF—H 2,601
Charge for the year FRZH 1,686
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 ﬁé_é: F+ZA=1+—AK
—ENFE—H—H 4,287
Charge for the year FRZH 4,144
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZOE+=ZA=+—H 8,431
Net carrying amount: BRMESHE -
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-NMFE+—-_A=+—H -
At 31 December 2023 R-TE-_=%+-"A=+—H 4,144
Intangible asset represents a mobile application which B EERHE S -—F+-_A=1+—HILFE

was acquired during the year ended 31 December
2021. The mobile application has finite useful live and
is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years.
The estimated useful life of the mobile application
was revised to 4 years due to the termination of the
license for the mobile application during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The recoverable amount of the intangible asset had
been determined based on the fair value less cost
of disposal of which there was observable market
price in the current market. Based on the result of
the assessment, no impairment loss was recognised
during both years.

ﬁ%)\ﬁ’ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁff BBEAEFAGRAAF
CRAFAEREEE HREBEE_T_MF

—f—fﬂ_—i— BILFEBREARFOEREL

BERERRREFNMGEE A BFEHCERI RAF -

BEENATRESBCDRAREROERR(RE
AImSFEABEME)ET - REFGEER - &M
&4 /= 3 A SRR (B RS 18

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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18.

Creative China Holdings Limited

SERIAL PROGRAM RIGHTS

18. EEBIMFE

Serial program Adaptation
rights rights Total
EBE BN B A RE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBTFT ARBTFT
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—HF—H 4,233 4,552 8,785
Exchange realignment P H % - 66 66
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-=%F
1 January 2024 TZA=+—HBK
—E-UFE—A—H 4,233 4,618 8,851
Recognised as expenses WRAIIAHEE
included in cost of sales AR SZ - (4,649) (4,649)
Exchange realignment & H P - 31 31
At 31 December 2024 N-ZT e
+=A=+—H 4,233 - 4,233

The serial program rights shown above included
television drama series obtained by the Group under
co-financing arrangements and belonging to the
Serial Program/Film Production and Film Rights
Investment segment.

The Group carries out a net realisable value review
on a project-by-project basis at the end of each
reporting period and make provision for obsolete if
necessary. The Directors the Company assessed that
the net realisable value of each of the serial program
rights are higher than their carrying amounts, hence
no impairment was recognised during both years.

Annual Report 2024
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ARIESLE D EL -

AEERERERRZEREETAIZRFER
Bl mALBABREBRELEE - ARAFAES
AR EEBREZ TR FESNEREE @ &
8] F 3 SR RE R AE RDRLE -



19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE M ERR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. ESRHEHMERFIE

2024 2023

—EWEF R =F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMET T AREF T

Trade receivables, gross B S W GRIA R 167,462 161,738
Less: impairment allowance W R ER (5,009) (4,552)
Trade receivables, net B SRR IB R 162,453 157,186
Prepayments and deposits (note) TENFIERIES (M) 226,099 162,361
Other receivables HAtb EUGRIR 2,710 3,394
391,262 322,941

Note:

At the end of the reporting period, the balances of
prepayments and deposits are mainly represented by the
following:

(i) The balance included prepayment to event
organisers of approximately RMB6,775,000 (2023:
RMB12,893,000) for the purpose of concert to be
held in the coming years.

(i) The balance included prepaid service fees
of approximately RMB27,310,000 (20283:
RMB26,879,000) in relation to program production
and live streaming services.

(iif) The balance included prepayment for pre-production
of script copyright and acquisition of film distribution
and income rights amounting to approximately
RMB184,036,000 (2023: RMB121,665,000).

The Group has performed assessment on whether
impairment indicator exists for the prepayments and
deposits by considering the plans and status of utilisation of
the prepayments. Based on the management’s assessment,
no impairment indicator has been identified for the
prepayments and deposits.

The Group classifies these prepayments and deposits as
current because the Group expects to realise them in its
normal operating cycle.

Mzt
REEHR - BNRIBRIZSOEREERATRIA

() ERBERAREERTNERSAEHENARL
EIFE FRIBL A REEB,775,000C( T - =4F : A
R #12,893,0007T) °

(ii) EHRBEEEENE R ERERRE CENRGEE
AHARE27310000t(ZZE-=ZF : AR
26,879,0007T) °

(i) AEHPIEEI AR AT EIRE R E R T R
HENTENERYARE184,036,000t (T ==
F 1 AR#121,665,0007T) °

AEEBEBE R AANFIAN I RIBE R IAN AR
BeRRFERENSETTE - REERENMG - I
ERFANRERIZ S B HLRETR -

AREEHEBARARES HEARD - REALEE
TG I 4T B S HE -

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EZ R HMEWFEIE(E)

(CONTINUED)
The aging analysis of trade receivables (net of RERE 5 EYFIA(HRREEE)RERE B D
impairment allowance), based on invoice dates, as of BREC DTN T -

the end of year, is as follows:

2024 2023
—EF-MF i
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTF T
Within 30 days 30K - 56,986
31 to 90 days 31E90K 130,392 80,382
91 to 180 days 91E 180K - 3,216
181 to 365 days 181E365K - —
Over 1 year 1A E 32,061 16,602
162,453 157,186
The normal credit period granted to trade debtors EWERC EREER—MRAE—FURN - BELRE
is generally within one year. Further details on the BEEERREEERREENE — T BHRAN
Group’s credit policy and credit risk management are 5+34(a) °

set out in note 34(a).

20. TRADE PAYABLES 20. ESZENFIE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on RERE SHENHIBLREZ A BNERROITINT ¢

invoice dates, as of the end of year, is as follows:

2024 2023

—ECNEF —EC=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F T AREFIT

91 to 365 days 91E 365K - 2,000
Over 1 year ES 411 2,006
411 4,006
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21. HtENFERESEH
2024 2023
—EoMmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKET T AREF T
Other tax payable H AR IA 3,123 2,979
Accrued payroll JEETTE 3,869 3,516
Other payables and accruals (note) HAb B SRIB M BT E R (ML) 37,482 35,603
44,474 42,008

Note:

At end of reporting period, the balance of other payables
and accruals are mainly represented by the followings:

(i) An amount of approximately RMB15,000,000
(2023: RMB15,000,000) included in other payables
represented payable to other investors of serial
program rights in relation to Serial Program/Film
Production and Film Rights Investment segment.
Details are set out in note 32.

(i) An amount of approximately RMB404,000 (2023:
RMB6,404,000) included in other payables
represented payable to creditor in relation to concert
organisation.

(i)  An amount of approximately RMB2,593,000
(2023: RMB2,537,000) included in other payables
and accruals represented an advance from an
independent third party, that is interest-free,
unsecured and repayable on demand.

(i)

(i)

SHR - EMENRIARETERNGEREEEAT

HAbFERFIESELHARE15,000,000t (==
&+ AR¥15,000,00070) I8 - FERLEEE S
S RUER B AEILE D B BRI H
BEZEMNFUE o FHEERHTFES2 -

HEMEMRESFEHAREL04,000T(Z2==
F: ARMEB6,404,00070)FIE © IEBREEIEEE
PEFEHERE ARIFUE -

HtENRBEREFERIANSEOARE
2,593,0007t( =B =4 : AR#¥2,537,0007T) 5K
BEYFE=THMBEN  ZRARE - B RN ER

P ER o

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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ARE SRR T ot

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

22, EHERE

2024 2023
—EoME —E_=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTF T
Contract liabilities arising from Serial EERBERMERBERER
Program/Film Production and Film Rights BEAZENAR
Investment 8,935 14,196
Contract liabilities arising from Mobile BEEREFNRENESEE
Application Development and Operation ZENaE - 5
Contract liabilities arising from Artist BARKREEZENEE
Management - 2,000
8,935 16,201
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to RZEZ=F—A—HB GHEBEERARK
RMB18,589,000. 18,589,0007T °
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Balance as at 1 January —A—HZz#&#% 16,201 18,589
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of IZliif BRAKEEHENERE
revenue recognised during the year R (7,266) (7,870)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result FMEETEBRASHALN
of receipt in relation to live streaming afEEm
e-commerce - 3,000
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of P EE YN S RESCY P B
receipt in relation to artist management GHIEEEM
services - 2,484
Exchange realignment M 5 8 B - @)
Balance as at 31 December R+ A=+—Hz&% 8,935 16,201
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. BANK BORROWINGS

ARE M ERR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_MF+-A=+—HLEFE

23. RITHERK

2024 2023
—EoME —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTF T
The carrying amount of bank borrowings AR —FAEENRITER
which are repayable within one year SREE 16,000 17,710

The Group’s bank borrowings are unsecured, and

AEERITERASERFTIEREFN T2.8%E3.5%

carry interest rate ranging from 2.8% to 3.5% (2023: (ZE-=F : 28%E3.7%)FIF 8 -
2.8% to 3.7%) per annum.
24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 24, EEBIBEEE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the FRNREERIBEEZENT -
year are as follows:
ECL
provision
FAHEE
BERE
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F—HF—H 882
Charge to profit or loss BRIk (16)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZTBZ_=F+_A=+—HAK
—ZE_mMFE—-A—H 866
Charge to profit or loss B8 kR (100)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZWF+=-A=+—H 766
PEAIZEZERERLAE T _UFFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRA SRR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024

BEZ

ZoEE+ZA=t—HIEFE

24, DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED) 24, RAEBLIE(E)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in AEBUYWERE T RFAHEBERRARLTIEE
respect of certain accumulated tax losses as it B REAREBAHEREZERRETE  JElE
is not probable that future taxable profits against RRERTEF ATEAEE - HEBEHARSE
which the losses can be utilised will be available in 27,872,000 (=T = =4 : AR¥19,565,0007T)
the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Tax losses AMERREAAEE - R T HIEBEERIBINT
amounting to approximately RMB27,872,000 (2023:
RMB19,565,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.
The remaining tax losses will be expired as follows:
2024 2023
—ECOEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTF T
Year 2024 —EMEE - 539
Year 2025 —Z _£¢J* 625 625
Year 2026 —ECREE 73 73
Year 2027 :%?_tiﬁ 393 393
Year 2028 —EN\FE 7,848 7,848
Year 2029 —ENFE 10,810 -
19,749 9,478
25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
Authorised and issued share capital FEERBBITRA
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Equivalent to Equivalent to
Number HK$°000 RMB’000 Number HK$'000 RMB’000
BER BER
L] FEx ARETR B FHL ARETT
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of SREG.058 T
HK$0.05 each ZEER 1,600,000,000 80,000 67,024 1,600,000,000 80,000 67,024
Issued and fully paid ERTREHHE
Ordinary shares LR
Atbeginning of year ~ REA] 528,387,719 26,419 22,605 372,986,978 18,650 15,505
Issue of shares (note (a) FE(HE17(HizE) - - - 155,400,741 7,769 7,100
Placing of shares BRERIA (M)
(note (b)) 49,410,000 2,471 2,242 - - -
At end of year REKR 571,797,719 28,890 24,847 528,387,719 26,419 22,606

Creative China Holdings Limited
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Authorised and issued share capital (continued)

Notes:

(@)

On 22 May 2023, the Company entered into a share
subscription agreement with an independent third
party for subscription of 30,362,150 shares of the
Company at the subscription price of HK$0.214
per share. The share subscription was completed
on 28 August 2023. The net proceed from the
share subscription amounted to approximately
RMB5,013,000, net of the transaction costs of issuing
the shares.

On 19 June 2023, the Company entered into a share
subscription agreement with an independent third
party for subscription of 44,671,963 shares of the
Company at the subscription price of HK$0.214
per share. The share subscription was completed
on 18 September 2023. The net proceed from the
share subscription amounted to approximately
RMB7,887,000, net of the transaction costs of issuing
the shares.

On 19 June 2023, the Company entered into a share
subscription agreement with an independent third
party for subscription of 25,187,383 shares of the
Company at the subscription price of HK$0.214
per share. The share subscription was completed
on 28 August 2023. The net proceeds from the
share subscription amounted to approximately
RMB4,457,000, net of the transaction costs of issuing
the shares.

On 10 November 2023, the Company entered into a
share subscription agreement with an independent
third party for subscription of 35,990,566 shares of
the Company at the subscription price of HK$0.53
per share. The share subscription was completed
on 27 December 2023. The net proceed from the
share subscriptions amounted to approximately
RMB15,856,000, net of the transaction costs of
issuing the shares.

On 10 November 2023, the Company entered into a
share subscription agreement with an independent
third party for subscription of 19,188,679 shares of
the Company at the subscription price of HK$0.53
per share. The share subscription was completed
on 27 December 2023. The net proceed from the
share subscriptions amounted to approximately
RMB8,359,000, net of the transaction costs of issuing
the shares.

On 19 February 2024, the Company entered into a
placing agreement for a placing of 49,410,000 shares
to not less than six placees at the placing price of
HK$0.50 per placing shares. The share placing
was completed on 8 March 2024. The net proceed
from the share placing amounted to approximately
RMB21,186,000, net of transaction costs of issuing
the shares.

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

IR (&)
EERBBRITRA(E)
Bzt -

@ RIEB=FRA-+=H FRTE—LBIE=
FEIM R RIE R - ARBETR0.214BILRIE
RAE30,362,150% 8% (70 « RN =T = =F )\
A=+ N\BZEK - HBREITRODHIRZX ZEAE - KD
REEFTIS FIEF L B AR EES,013,0007T ©

RZZB-_ZFXA+TNB  AARE—ZBIE=H
RIS RE R - UREBESR0214BILREAR
AF44,671,963%0%19 - RHRBBEBR -_ZE=_=FNA
+\B5EK - MBETRD R SKAE - BiDRE
S sIBF R4 B AR K7,887,0007T °

RIZE-=FA+NH ARARHE—-ZBBIE=T
AR RE RS - UREEER0214BTRER
A7]25,187,383 %D - RO REBR=_ZE=_=F )\ A
ZHNBZEK - HBRBETROORBEAE - RIDR
BEATSRIBF RN A AR KE4,457,0007T °

R-Z-_=F+—A+H ARAE—ZBIFE=H
IR RE R URBESR0SSELREAR
7]35,990,566% % (5 - RINRBRER T -_=F+—A
ZHEAER - HIBRBTRHONZSKAE - RIDR
TEATSHUBF L A ARE15,856,0007T ©

R-B-=F+—A+H ARARE-—2BIE=T
A BRI - ARBESR0.3ETABAR
719,188,679 A7) » BRINABN T —=F+ A
Z+ERAEK - HIRBETRMORZZKAEL - BRIHR
REPT1S SIS RR K /S AR #8,359,0007T °

() MRZZB-WNF=—A+1B  ARFFZESHE - A
FIRALE IR 0.508 LM B E B M T DR BEBLA
fid & 49,410,0008% 8% 17 » BN ER _ZE_MF = A
NBTER © HIBRBITIRD MR S A% - BB BEEAT
SREFEEL A ARE21,186,000 TT °

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

26. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 26. FEIERER
As at 31 December 2024, Yiju Creative 90% (2023: RZZE_ME+A=+—RH  SREE(BFAEE
90%) owned by the Group has material non- HEEHO%(ZZE==F : 900%) ) B E RIS
controlling interests (“NCI”). ([ FEsEpERS ) o
Summarised financial information in relation to Yiju EHSBAEEEBRANYHERNB M ERZ7
Creative before intra-group elimination are presented NN
below:
Yiju Creative SBAE
2024 2023
—EF-MF i
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFIT
Revenue g 339 22,226
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE) T (8,491) 76
Total comprehensive (expense) income for FREE(FXZ)Wam a5
the year (8,491) 76
Profit and total comprehensive income DEEIEERERSND R EEE
allocated to NCI (note) WS 4BRE (H2) - -
Cash flows (used in) generated from K& EE (TR S
operating activities REmE (1,102) 1,437
Cash flows used in investing activities KREEHFRARSRE (143) (592)
Cash flows from financing activities MEERHAERESAE - -
Net cash (outflows) inflows Be& ORE)MAFEE (1,245) 845
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_MF+-A=+—HLEFE

26. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED) 26. FFiEpRAER(E)

Yiju Creative (continued) SBRE(E)
2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
As at 31 December BR+=—B=+—8
Non-current assets IEmENEE 106 1,482
Current assets MENEEE 30,795 43,414
Current liabilities mENaE (82,424) (87,928)
Non-current liabilities EmEBE - -
Net liabilities BEFHE (51,523) (43,032)
Accumulated non-controlling interests (note) ~ Z&t3F3EMAE RS (ML) - -
Note: As Yiju Creative had suffered losses in operation in Hist - R SEABERNBAEFECEETRERZEE MHE

prior years and needed additional capital to sustain BINESUBEE R AEEE T — NFRTH
its business, the Group had continuously provided NSRBI BRHEEINOERLE - REBEEIHTRE
the additional capital contribution to Yiju Creative wE RS ERBRTELENERMRAZE
since 2016. The Group had agreed with the NCI that EIJﬁf’EBdﬁﬁﬁl\E’Jé?zwjé TERBIRR - FFIERE

the NCI had no obligation to contribute additional ATEN N HBRIBEENEMET - EEAEEK
capital to Yiju Creative for the losses incurred, in Tﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁl\ﬁ?ﬁ/ﬁzﬁﬁ’ﬁﬂ?&ﬁﬂﬁl@ﬁt(FEQIETZ

return, the NCI confirmed not to share any profits BEL) o
arising from Yiju Creative until the additional losses/

capital contribution borne by the Group had been

fully recovered (the “Arrangement”).

As at 31 December 2024, the accumulated losses
attributable to the NCI were RMB18,611,000 (2023:
RMB17,762,000). Under the Arrangement, the
Group will make additional capital contribution to Yiju
Creative and borne solely the accumulative losses,
including those attributable to NCI of RMB18,611,000
(2023: RMB17,762,000).

During the year, no dividend was paid to non-
controlling shareholders (2023: nil). The proportion
of equity interest and voting rights held by non-
controlling interest is 10% (2023: 10%) as at 31
December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due from
a non-controlling interest is non-trade nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

R-B-_NFE+_A=+—8 R EREER
FEEAARKE18611,000m (=T -=F : ARKE
17,762,00070) ° RIEZBLHE - AEEE RSB A
BBINHE - WEAEPEIHERESELEBAR
#18,611,000 CIE AWM RETEEB(ZT=_=F : AR
#17,762,0007T) ©

FA - Iéﬂiﬁ#? BREZAFEARB(ZEZ==
¢ /)  RZTE_WMFE+=—_A=+—1 " 3H [
HIFAMREREEEZEMABI0%(ZT=F :
10%) °

RZF-ME+=A=1+—8  BEIHERERR
HRFEHEE - BER - RERNEREEE -

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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27. RESERVES

(a)

Creative China Holdings Limited

Reserves of the Group

The following describes the nature and purpose
of each reserve within owners’ equity:

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter
22 of the Cayman lIslands, share premium
of the Company is available for paying
distributions and dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Memorandum
and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distributions or
dividend payments, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

Other reserve

It represents (i) the fair value of the share-based
payments over the consideration received;
and (i) difference between the consideration
paid and the proportionate share of the
carrying amount of the net assets attributable
to the relevant interest upon the acquisition of
additional interests in subsidiaries.

Merger reserve

It represents the difference between the
nominal value of shares issued by the Company
and the aggregate fully paid registered
capital of subsidiaries pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation.

Annual Report 2024

27. f#fE

(a)

REBRE

TXHABEEAEZETSHECEERA
[

BB

REFSHERRVERER)F22E » AR
B ERE KK EA SR AT L X158
RPEEIHZER  ARRAENAESE
BRAMEARZRET  BARBZBMEE
RERBRR D IR MK ERS -

Hittfife

HIF(ARD REROMRAABEEKRE
AR R (i) P B AR R BT~ R RS E
SRRSO EEFEREENEENER
BRI ZERE ©
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B B RS ER R M

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

27. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 27. #E(E)
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) ADEHEE
Movements in the Company’s reserves are as RAREE BT -
follows:

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
&3 E ZETEE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARBTT ARBTF T
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZTE=Z=F—H—H
2R 200,299 (128,500) 76,793
Loss for the year FAEE - (6,420) (6,420)
Issue of shares (note 25(a)) BITIRD (A7 5125(a)) 34,472 - 34,472
Balance at 31 December 2023 W_ZT_=4F+_F#
and 1 January 2024 =t—HE-Z-F
—A—HZ#&% 234,771 (129,926) 104,845
Loss for the year FAEE - (4,577) (4,577)
Placing of shares (note 25(b)) B Bdn (H1at25()) 18,944 - 18,944
Balance at 31 December 2024 W-Z W&+ 1
=+—RAZHER 253,715 (134,503) 119,212

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 28. APQAMBARREK

THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—EBoNE —TC=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AREET T AREFIT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—RENBRARNEKE =* ~
Property, plant and equipment L E YA L] 11 5
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUH B A R H B 169,395 141,705
Total non-current assets IRBEELE 169,406 141,710
Current assets REEE
Prepayment TEREUR 390 431
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR MRS 825 1,142
Total current assets RBEEAE 1,215 1,673
Total assets EEHE 170,621 143,283
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals and other payables FEETE A & B R FRIE 8,365 8,660
Amount due to a director N —REEFA 5,584 5,465
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASHI B R B F A 2,862 1,708
Amount due to a related company FEfS —FE Eﬁﬂﬁ%”& AIFUA 9,751 -
Total current liabilities REEERE 26,562 15,833
Net current liabilities RBEEEE (25,347) (14,260)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 144,059 127,450
NET ASSETS BEEFE 144,059 127,450
Equity attributable to owners of AAREEGAELER
the Company
Share capital &N 25 24,847 22,605
Reserves i 27 119,212 104,845
TOTAL EQUITY R 144,059 127,450
- Represents amount less than RMB1,000 - HeE LN ARE1,0007T
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29. LEASES 29, #HE
The Group leases offices in several places. The AEERETHHAERAET - HBE—RNT—=
leases typically run for a period of one to three years. —F - HENRE E=-FETENERNURET
Lease payments are renegotiated every one to three HHE HETHEMS @ AEBEWEBRHIFTLEMR
years to reflect market rentals. For certain leases, the DHEZHE o
Group is restricted from entering into any sub-lease
arrangements.
Information about leases for which the Group is a EAASEAFAAAZHEFBENWT ©

lessee is presented below.

(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FREEE
Properties
L/ES
RMB’000
ARBTF T
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—HF—H 3,933
Additions PIN=T 401
Early termination of leases REKRIEHE (1,675)
Depreciation charge for the year FRTELH (2,026)
Exchange realignment BE 5, 2L 3
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H
N—Z—mM&—-H—H 636
Additions NE 3,167
Depreciation charge for the year FARTEZH (1,702)
Exchange realignment M 4 0 B 14
At 31 December 2024 R-ZT_ME+_A=+—8H 2,115

TEHARERERAT —ToNFFERE 208
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29. LEASES (CONTINUED) 29. HE(E)
(i) Lease liabilities i) HEAE
At 31 December 2024 At 31 December 2023
R-ZE-MEF R-IE-=F
+=—A=+—H +-—A=+—H
Present Present
value of value of
minimum  Minimum minimum Minimum
lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments
REHE &HEHE SEHEE SEEE
NHREE % [FEERE BEN
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR®TR ARBTT ARKETET

Within one year —FR 1,614 1,686 659 675
After one year but within —FEERFA
two years 552 560 - -
2,166 2,246 659 675
Less: total future interest B RIRFBFEX
expenses e (80) (16)
Present value of lease liabilites TAE&EHE 2,166 659
Analysed for reporting BWERES
purpose as:
Current liabilities mEEE 1,614 659
Non-current liabilities EMBEE 552 -
2,166 659
The incremental borrowing rates applied to HEEEHEANEEEFTNERNF45%F
lease liabilities ranged from 4.5% to 6.1% 6% (=T =45 : 4.5%Z%5%) °

(2023: 4.5% 10 5%).
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the
following significant transactions with related
parties during the year:

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

30. BEEARS

(@)

BRIt SRS M MR EME D FTIRER S R
RN REARNAEEEEAB A BUTERR
5

2024 2023
—EOEF —EC-=F
Related party relationship Type of transaction RMB’000 RMB’000
ERH 5 EE XZEH ARYF T ARETT
Shareholder A (note) Salaries 75 75
MERAHTEE) e
Shareholder B (note) Salaries 75 75
RRB(Hr7E) e
Director A Lease payment 1,116 1,059
BEEA HERR

Note: The shareholders are the controlling
shareholders of the Group.

The amount due to a director is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount due to
a related company, an entity wholly-owned by
the controlling shareholders, was unsecured,
charged at 6.1% (2023: 2.75%) per annum and
due within one year. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group recognise interest
expense on amount due to a related company
amounted to approximately HK$348,000 (2023:
HK$75,000).

The remuneration of directors and other
members of key management during the year
was as follows:

Hiet - IRR RS BIEARPR R -

Salaries
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes

b) EN—ZREFFEABIER - £8 KN ERE
Big -
© RZZE-NMFE+—-_A=+—H  EN—EBEH
NE(AIZEREREEHRENER)FU8 AEE
IR EFEEA%(ZE =4 : 2.75%) &t
BER—FRNEH -BHE-_ZT -_NF+_-A
Zt+t—BHIFE AEEERAEN—EEHA
AIRIER R B 4/4A348,0008 T(Z T ==
£ 1 75,00087T) ©
d EERHMTIEBTEBEERERERNZHFHWD
T
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T AREFTT
4 4,165 3,327
RGBT BT 94 49
4,259 3,376
FEHABERERAT T oNEFERS
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31.

Creative China Holdings Limited

BT R AE

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HILLFE

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 31. FENEAHE
The particulars of the Company’s principal AKAREEHBRABFBOT :
subsidiaries are as follows:
Particulars of
issued and
paid up
Country share capital/
and date of Place of operation and registered Percentage of
Name incorporation principal activity capital ownership interests
IMRIERR  EEHER BRAREMRE/
£# ) ITER AmEAGHE Rl
Directly Indirectly
BE B
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE8CmE CFC-F 0 ZBC@E TR
Beiing New Talent Media Company ~ PRC PRC, Investment holding HKS71,270,000 - - 100% 100%
Limited (‘"New Talent Media’) 25Dec 2013
FREEXERARAT e hE - REER 7121000087
([ZRX L EK) Z5-=F
+-E-t1H
Starry Knight Entertainment PRC PRC, Serial Program/Fim RMB3,000,000 - - 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* 3 Sep 2009 Production and Film
Rights Investment and
event organisation
FRUBERBER SRR hE hE - BEEl/ SR ARE3,0000007
ERARY “TENF REZIERER
NA=A Eﬁﬁﬂ
Beiing Joy Star Production PRC PRC, Serial Program/Film RMB3,000,000 - - 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* 27 Dec 2006 Production and Film
Rights Investment and
event organisation
IRAFEBTA N ER e hE - BB/ ST AFR#3,000,0007
ERRay S REZIERER
+-E-t+H EQHB
Beiing New Image Media PRC PRC, Serial Program/Film RMB3,000,000 - - 100% 100%
Co. Ltd.* 23 Feb 2005 Production and Film
Rights Investment
TREHBHFAXIER e hE - BB/ ST AFH3,000,0007
ERARY eSSk REZhERE
B
Beiing Great Wise Media PRC PRC, Serial Program/Film RMB3,000,000 - - 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* 17 Jul 2003 Production and Film
Rights Investment
IRRBTRER el hE - BB/ ST AFR#3,000,0007
ERRay I+ REZhERE
tATLA

Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

AN
Ara B

iR e

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_MF+-A=+—HLEFE

31. FEMBLF (R

Particulars of
issued and
paid up
Country share capital/
and date of Place of operation and registered Percentage of
Name incorporation principal activity capital ownership interests
IMALEZR  EERER BRARESRE/
£# A% IEEH AfEREE FEERDL
Directly Indirectly
BE B
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE CECCF 0 ZBo@E CToCF
Beiing Emphasis Media PRC PRC, Serial Program/Fim RMBS6,000,000 - - 100% 100%
Co. Ltd.* 17 Jul 2002 Production and Film
Rights Investment and
event organisation
TRERDZERARAT hEl hE - B/ ST ARH6,0000007T
330 REZIRERER
tAT+H é%ﬁb
Yju Creative® PRC PRC, Provision of mobile RMB1,260,000 - - 90% 90%
3Nov 2014 application development
and operation Services
and Serial Program/Fiim
Production and Film
Rights Investment
FREE il e %ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ%ﬁm ARH1,260,0007T
“TmE RENERERES
+-A=H Bl/ERREREY
WRERE
CCH Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, Event HK$10,000 - - 100% 100%
9 May 2018 organisation and artist
management
HEEERERR AT (a0 Eh RBERREA 10000
-N\§ &
LANE
Creative China Goncerts Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, Concert and HK$100 - - 90% 90%
4Jul2018 event organisa ion
HEEEEEARAT (a0 Bh REEREIEN 10037
-N\§
tARA
Horgos Zongheng™ PRC PRC, Serial Program/Fim RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%
29 Dec 2020 Production and Film
Rights Investment
ERRIURER hEl hE - BB/ ST AFR#5,000,0007
“EoEF REZhERE
TZAZThA
FERIEERERATE —ToNFFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRA SRR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

31.

Creative China Holdings Limited

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

31. FEMBLT (R

Particulars of
issued and
paid up
Country share capital/
and date of Place of operation and registered Percentage of
Name incorporation principal activity capital ownership interests
IMALEZR  EERER BRARESRE/
£# A% IEEH AmEAGHE FEERDL
Directly Indirectly
BE B
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECmE ZEC-E 0 CRCmE CEocE
Horgos Feichi** PRC PRC, Serial Program/Fim RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%
26 December 2023 Production and Film
Rights Investment
ERRIRE q: hE - BB/ ST ARH5,0000007T
Rk REZhERE
TZAZTAR
Hainan Zongheng Infinite Cultural Media - PRC PRC, Serial Program/Fim RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* 8 Jan 2021 Production and Film
Rights Investment
BRLRER U ERER hEl hE - BB/ ST ARH5,0000007T
Dy “Bo-F REZhERE
—-RN\H
CCH Film Production Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, Serial Program/ HK$10,000 - - 100% 100%
15 Sep 2021 Film Production and Film
Rights Investment
hEEEYRARAT (a0 N 10000
“Bo-F REZhERE
NATHA

- For identification purpose only. - EHER -

# The entities are the PRC Contractual Entities which : BRATEHANER BARARZEMBARIRA
are deemed to be and accounted for as wholly- IR FAERERESSWE LSERFABKASE
owned subsidiaries of the Company, details of EEI=(AKE R 2MOIER « ()EER B
which are set out in the Report of the Directors of SUERBERERE - ((EBEAREFFEMEE

the Annual Report. These entities constitute the
whole of the Group’s operations in 3 operating and
reportable segments of the Group: (i) serial program/
film production and film rights investment, (i) mobile
application development and operation and (jii) artist
management during the years.
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32.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 2 June 2020, New Talent Media, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Wu
Tingfei (“Mr. Wu”), being the largest shareholder
of Beijing Summer Star Media Co., Ltd. (“Summer
Star”), invited certain investors (the “Other Investors”)
entered into investment agreements (the “Investment
Agreements”) with the goal of preparing Summer Star
for a listing in Hong Kong. Pursuant to the Investment
Agreements, if Summer Star failed to list its shares
in Hong Kong before 30 June 2021, or if Other
Investors failed to realise their investment by placing
their shares of Summer Star to third parties before
30 June 2021, Mr. Wu should purchase their shares
of Summer Star at the consideration equivalent to
aggregate investment amount of RMB10 million (the
“Investment Amount”) and interest accrued from
June 2015 up to the date of actual payment at the
annual interest rate of 4.35%. If Mr. Wu was unable
to assume responsibility towards the Investment
Amount and interest accrued, New Talent Media
together with other guarantors shall assume joint and
several liability for the due performance and payment
obligations of Mr. Wu in the Investment Agreements
(the “Corporate Guarantee”).

Prior to the date of entering into the Investment
Agreements in which New Talent Media agreed to
provide the Corporate Guarantee, on 1 June 2020,
Mr. Wu and Summer Star, as counter guarantors
(collectively the “Counter Guarantors”), entered
into the counter-guarantee agreement with New
Talent Media (the “Counter-Guarantee Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Counter Guarantors agreed
to provide counter-guarantee by in respect of the
Corporate Guarantee in favour of New Talent Media
(“Counter-Guarantee”). The Counter-Guarantee
Agreement aimed to provide a back-to-back
guarantee to protect the interests of New Talent
Media, including but not limited to the aggregate
Investment Amount of RMB10 million and its interest
accrued, liquidated damages, ancillary costs and
expenses.

32.

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

HREE

R-Z-_ZTFRAZR BEXM(ARAEEEE
MEAE)  REREE(TREED (ERBEEE
FREEBRNARAB([RELEE ) &ZRABE) &
AaETREE([EMREEDITLREBH(TRE
W&l EER/REETAEERE L HHCEM - RiE
BREWS  EFREEERER_T_—F A=+
BZA S ERMNNER LT » SEEMIREERE
RIB-—FRNAZTHZARBRERENEE
EZBRMEETE=Z N REREKE - BIRLLEN
HERNREEBEARK0BET((RERDNLER
—E-RAFAAREERMNAHEEANENR
BEREHMREESANREEZRD  FHNXR
4.35% - EREEBEH R ERELENEAEER
£ AR MEBERARE SR AEEHARE
BHER THBIRMEN RN REBAEESEE( L
RHERD -

ERERXERBRECXERNREHERER
Al - R -T-_TFRA—HB REERBREEZ(E
SRERA (BRI RERAD) BBEICFI L RE
R ([ REFRBZE]) - Bl RERARERR
PEERABREAZ T ARBRERRE
R - RERBHE ER/BE LRI RRE
HAg  BREATEREREBRARBI0OBELR
HEFHE - B0  WERAKRER -

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

WIN

ARE SRR T ot

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

32.

Creative China Holdings Limited

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

To secure the performance of Mr. Wu and its
obligations as a Counter-Guarantor, Summer Star
would assume the guarantee responsibility towards
New Talent Media by using its entitlement to the
income to be derived from its interest in a project
under the Group. Any amount paid by New Talent
Media due to the performance of its obligations as a
guarantor under the Investment Agreements would
be deducted from the Summer Star’s entitlement
on a priority basis. Subsequent to entering into the
Counter Guarantee Agreement, Summer Star’s
entitlement to the income from the Project amounted
to approximately RMB37.1 million has been held by
the Group and included in “other payables” line item.

As the listing of the shares of Summer Star did not
take place before 30 June 2021 and Mr. Wu did
not purchase Other Investors’ Summer Star Shares,
Other Investors initiated a claim against Mr. Wu, New
Talent Media and other guarantors. The amount
jointly and severally guaranteed by New Talent Media
and other guarantors was approximately RMB13.7
million, consisting of (i) aggregate Investment Amount
of RMB10 million; and (i) the total interest accrued
in the amount of approximately RMB3.7 million.
Pursuant to the judgments of the People’s Court of
Futian, Shenzhen dated 30 March 2023, 26 May
2023 and 5 June 2023, on three cases of claims
initiated by the Other Investors, it was held that Mr.
Wu, New Talent Media and other guarantors, should
pay the aggregate Investment Amount of RMB10
million and the total interest accrued in the amount
of approximately RMB3.7 million according to the
terms of the Investment Agreements. Appeals have
been filed on 22 May 2023, 18 June 2023 and 18
June 2023, respectively, for the three cases with
the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court and
judgments of the appeals are pending as of the date
of this report.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RS ER R M

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 32. RAAEGE)

RNEBBREHNITRIER @ BRI RN FRIBIEE
SE - WREAEERECEERESINNZIHE
B8 o [RIER 45 AL S0 BT R AR £ B IR 4 > IR AR
EOEARR - REENHEAREBHEENE
B AEBBAREE TR RN RIER A MNER
AMEANTARE - ARAREERAE  LEER
B RAAMEL TEK °

The Group will enforce the Counter-Guarantee to
recover all the amounts which the Group is liable to
pay under the Corporate Guarantee by offsetting the
corresponding amounts against the payables. The
Counter-Guarantee would be able to mitigate any
risk associated with the provision of the Corporate
Guarantee by the Group. Based on the information
currently available up to the date of this report,
the payables to Summer Star held by the Group is
sufficient to cover any claims due to the litigation.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
fair value of the Corporate Guarantee is considered
insignificant.

33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. EMIARAAEBEITEZHE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

TRIFNIRE MREZN SR T AL -

E=1%

The following table shows the categories of financial
instruments recognised at end of reporting period:

2024 2023
—ECOEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Financial assets ERMEE
At amortised cost LRSI A S AR
— Bank balances and cash —SRITEHR MRS 11,837 25,660
— Trade and other receivables — 85 LEMERFRIA 165,163 160,580
— Amount due from a non-controlling — FEYOEIR R 2R 2R TE
interest 126 126
Financial liabilities -l =R
At amortised cost Vs gzl
— Trade payables — B S ENFIA 41 4,006
— Other payables — H b T 5RIE 21,120 26,920
— Amount due to a director — B —REERE 6,138 5,995
- Amount due to a related company — B —FEIRERE A R FRIE 10,099 -
- Bank borrowings —IRITIEFK 16,000 17,710
— Lease liabilities —HEa’ 2,166 659
FRASZERERAT —ToNEFERE 216
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRA SRR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

33.

34.

Creative China Holdings Limited

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
include bank balances and cash, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
interests, trade and other payables, amounts due to
a director and a related company, bank borrowings
and lease liabilities.

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of
these financial instruments approximates to its fair
value.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments in the normal course of the Group’s
business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk
and currency risk.

(@) Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, bank balances and amounts
due from non-controlling interests. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group identified debtors that are credit-
impaired of which the ECL are assessed
individually. The remaining debtors are assessed
for ECL under collective assessment. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

In respect of trade and other receivables, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of
each debtor and significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At
the end of reporting period, 50% (2023: 19%)
and 63% (2023: 37%) of trade receivables was
due from one debtor and two largest debtors
respectively. 79% (2023: 61%) and 92% (2023:
98%) of other receivables was due from one
debtor and five largest debtors respectively.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Trade
receivables other than those identified as credit-
impairment of which the ECL are assessed
individually, are assessed under collective
assessment based on the Group’s internal
credit rating, repayment history and pass due
status, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate. In this regard, the directors
of the Company considered that the credit risk
for trade receivables is significantly reduced at
the end of the reporting period.

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

34. BERREREE)

(a)

FERRKRERE ()

MBS REMEVRZEMNS  A5ENEE
BEREIEZEZSEHAFAFGOZE MK
EEEERNEFEERRRE  TBELS
REEEFRER - RIRER - B HEKGIE
1950% (ZF = =4F : 19%) k63% (=T ==
F:37%)DRIRE —BEBARREHEKRE
A MEMERKIENT7I%(Z T == :
61%)K92%( — T == : 98% )N HIRA—%
BEHEARABERERA °

BESEKNE

HESERKREMS - ARECEAEEMS
HELRFORMABCTTE - IR HFEME
EEEERERE - EHRUIA(E R
HEEREERI - HEMEEERETER
HE) DERAEENAFEEFH - ERE
St BB IR A A R T UET TR - R
BERANEERSR - BREENRARNEE
B EVE ATA R R AR T AR RS (B E
REEE(ER) ) EHHTRE - Bt - AR 7]
B2/ RBEEHR  BEHRUGANEE
[\ B A ARUE ©
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for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Creative China Holdings Limited

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables

Management measured the expected credit
loss of other receivables by using 12m ECL,
unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Management has a credit policy in place where
individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s background, past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers
operate.

With strict credit control and monitoring of
exposures of trade and other receivables to
credit risks on an ongoing basis, management
believe the Group’s credit risk exposure to trade
and other receivables has been appropriately
mitigated.

Amount due from a non-controlling
interest

For amount due from a non-controlling interest
with gross carrying amount of RMB126,000
(2023: RMB126,000), the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of the amount based on
historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. During the year ended
31 December 2023, amount due from a non-
controlling interest amounting to RMB1,750,000
was written off due to the deregistration of the
subsidiary during the year. The directors of the
Company believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of the amount since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Bank balances

For bank balances, no allowance for impairment
was made since the directors of the Company
consider the probability of default is negligible as
such amounts are receivable from or placed in
banks in Hong Kong and the PRC having good
reputation.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

Bt B ()
FERRKRERE ()
RITAIER

RERTTREBRT S - RN AESRWEE TR
REENTEARFBENRT  ARAES
RABELH AR E O - 3 8 1E R E
g

AEBENAREERRFTRNOFERIE TR
Al :

Internal credit rating Description

R EREE TR Bl

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and debtors sometimes
repay after due dates but usually settle in full.

{li9ENE HFHEHRBE BEEAGRRIEAZERE RSB
wEt

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full

BRAE ERALERE R RENE RS BBEN

Doubtful There have been significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition through information developed internally or external
resources

52~ FHBARHINDEIRZIZER - FERR B VIRHERIARE KX
8 &N

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired

E1E BBEETEELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

s BBEETEBARREENRE  MAKETEEEREHE

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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iR e SRR M R
for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 34. HIRERBREER(E)
(@) Credit risk and impairment assessment (a) EERRNREFE(E)
(continued)
The table below details the credit risk TREFAEEEZZEREEBET NG
exposures of the Group’s financial assets, BEEMNEERRFE
which are subject to ECL assessment:
External Internal 12m ECL or Gross carrying amount
creditrating  creditrating lifetime ECL REARE
12BARAEEER 2024 2023
MIEETR ABEETR R2HRAFESE “EomE ZECCE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTR  ARETR
Trade recelvables ERRYFE NATESR  Lowrisk Lifetime ECL (not credit 167,462 161,738
impaired)
iveels FHRENEERS
(FEERE)
Watch list Lifetime ECL (not credit - 44
impaired)
BRAE FHRENEEFRS
(FEERE)
Other receivables EftENEE N/A Low risk 12mECL 2,868 3,606
TER el 12EREEEEEE
Amounts due from non-controling  JEAEEIRIERFE N/A Low risk 12m ECL 126 126
interests TER liveels 12EREEEEEE
Bank balances Rk Baa3-Aa3 N/A 12m ECL 11,784 25,528
NER 12MEABHEESE

Creative China Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

The following table shows the movement in

ARE M ERR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_MF+-A=+—HLEFE

34. BERREREE)
(a) EERRKBETMG(E)

TEBR:BEBERHANED - CREMS

lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade LAt E S EWFIERER - Wik12{f AFEH
receivables under simplified approach and {;fﬁféﬁéﬁiﬁ@rﬁq&z NIB N FEUR SRR AR e S Tk
other receivables and amounts due from non- IBHER
controlling interests under 12m ECL.
Amounts due
from non-
Trade Other controlling
receivables Trade receivables interests
under lifetime  receivables under 12m under 12m
ECL (non- under lifetime ECL (non- ECL (non-
credit ECL (credit credit credit
impaired) impaired) impaired) impaired)
12{8 A A
2HEH 2HEE  128AEH REFE
FEFR FEER FEER (FEERE)
(EEERE) (FERE) (FEERHE) H TR
BNES ENES EHTHEA FER
FEWRIR e IR FE ERNE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AR®Tr ARETT ARETR
As at 1 January 2023 i :—i A—AH 2,838 761 1,09 -
Changes due to financial instruments BN =F==%—H—A%ER
recognised as at 1 January 2023 SRMIAMLRED
— Impairment losses recognised —BRRRESE 10 - 7 1,750
— Impairment losses reversed - BRERESE (2,200) - (944) -
Impairment losses recognised for ~ FERRMF S B EERDAE
new financial assets originated B 3,910 - 53 -
Write-off ks - (761) - (1,750)
At 31 December 2023 WZZ-_=F+-A=t-H
and 1 January 2024 k=T-mE—-A—AH 4,552 - 212 -
Changes due to financial instruments Iﬁ/\: ToNE-A-BER
recognised as at 1 January 2024 SRMIEMLRE
- Impairment losses reversed - E%@MEE?@ (3,864) - (54) -
Impairment losses recognised for ~ EREF ¢ BEERARE
new financial assets originated BiE 4,321 - - -
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+-A=+—H 5,009 - 158 -
FEIAIZRERERAT —TNFFERS
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ARE SRR T ot

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 34. BMBEMEE(E)

(b) Liquidity risk (b)

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the parent company’s board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels
of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities. The tables reflect
the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal cash flows.

AEEBE T ZENEEERATERTERER
T BREETEHRSBKRERBEETIN
ENEHREHR - EMEKBBREEEE L
ETREKFR  ARGEBARERG 24
)& AEENBRREREZERPESFTR
HEERONERBR  BEEEF MR
iﬁ%ﬁ NENREMRBESHK -

TRAMAEETESRBELFBHEHE
HIER - KR BREAEEREREZRFH
HAEESRABIATRRERE - RBE
FRERREREME °

Weighted Within More than Total

average 1 year or 1yearbut  contractual
interest repayable less than undiscounted Carrying
rate  ondemand 2 years cash flow amount

2k -£%  GORFR
MEFLEGRE  REXKEE BRER HERELE REE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE  ARBTRT ARBTR  ARETR

At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+-A=1-H

Trade payables EHRMATE - 411 - 411 411
Other payables At ERFE - 21,120 - 21,120 21,120
Amount due to a director JEf— %ﬁ%’ﬂﬁ - 6,138 - 6,138 6,138
Amount due to a related company F N—EBH A 6.13% 10,099 - 10,099 10,099
Bank borrowings RITER 2.80% 16,324 - 16,324 16,000
Lease liabilties HEEE 5.13% 1,686 560 2,246 2,166
55,778 560 56,338 55,934
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

()

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

34. BERREREE)

Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REESEMRGE)
Weighted Within More than Total
average 1 year or 1 year but contractual
interest repayable less than  undiscounted Carrying
rate on demand 2 years cash flow amount
—FRK —¥% BORFR
METFE  REKREER BREA ReREEHE RHEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL ARBTFL ARBFTL ARBTL
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-=£+-A=+-A
Trade payables EHRMATE - 4,006 - 4,006 4,006
Other payables At EfF0E - 26,920 - 26,920 26,920
Amount due to a director [ER—2E25E - 5,995 - 5,995 5,995
Bank borrowings RITER 3.63% 18,040 - 18,040 17,710
Lease liabilties HEEE 4.74% 675 - 675 659
55,636 - 55,636 55,290
Interest rate risk (c) FEER

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings
(see note 23 for details) and lease liabilities (see
note 29 for details). The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable rate bank balances. Interest rate risk
on bank balances is considered immaterial due
to short maturity. The Group currently does not
have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
management will consider hedging significant
interest risk should the need arise.

REBEBLREE R RITRER(FRMEE23) R IE
ERE(FRME29) MR A A ERXER
AEETHFESRITESEEBRESREN KR
B o SRTITAEERA R AR I RTTAE R AE B 2 H)
MPAR R TERK o ANEE B ATHLE R X G
B o AT BEERERNTEREBEIHEANF
R

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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4=

FS SRR M et

I =2

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-_ME+-A=+—HILLFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(d)

Creative China Holdings Limited

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on
certain of its financial instruments which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which
they relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk is primarily HK$, RMB and United States
Dollar (“USD”) and their principal amounts in the
foreign currency are stated below.

34. BERRERE(E)

(d) E¥ERE

AEEHGRNEERRREEETERIA
RAESEEMZNEEEAINZERETE -
ELfRRNERTIELEBT  ARBLET
(&) MASMESHEN T ESREFIRAN

T o

2024 2023

—EMEFE o=

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Assets BE 1,227 32,891
Liabilities afE (8,205) (10,846)
(6,978) 22,045

2024 2023

g it 2 —T-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Assets BE 107,553 41,039
Liabilities afE (8,598) (10,079
98,955 30,960
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Currency risk (continued)

AR e SR MR
for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-Z-ME+-A=1+—RALFE

Assets
Liabilities

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s profit for the year
and retained profits/accumulated losses in
response to reasonably possible changes
in the foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of
reporting period. A negative number below
indicates a decrease in profit and decrease in

SR EE (1E)
ErEmps(E)

2024 2023

—EMmE —E-=F

US$’000 US$’000

ExnTr ErxFe

7 34

(350) (350)

(343) (316)

TRITAEEFREMRRBEN,RE
BRAEEEREHREAZERINEEENE
BRI MAELNBAOZES - TRAZET
WEARELEEERRE HEHERD &K
BafegRd RetBEgEm- - MARKER
BRAEKTHE - RN REENBETEE
BEHERNEFEFE M IRZEHRE/L
e

retained profits/increase in accumulated losses
where the RMB weakens against the relevant
currency. For a strengthening of the RMB
against the relevant currency, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit and
retained profits/accumulated losses, and the
balances below would be positive.

At 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
RZBZME+ZA=+t-B RIT-=F+-A=1—H
Effect on Effect on
profit for profit for
Increase in the year Increase in the year
foreign and foreign and
exchange retained exchange  accumulated
rate profits rate losses
HER HER
AR AR
SHEE= REEF HMERER Z5tER
&0 2 20 M2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
HK$ BT 5% (323) 5% 999
usb EY 5% (121) 5% (112)
RMB AR 5% (4,948) 5% (1,548)
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ARE SRR T ot

WIN

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

34.

35.

Creative China Holdings Limited

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next annual reporting date. Results of
the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on
each of the group entities’ profit or loss for the
year and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into RMB at
the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting
period for presentation purposes.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which includes the amounts due to a director and a
related company, banks borrowings, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital and reserves.
The Group’s risk management reviews the capital
structure actively and regularly. As part of this review,
the management considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital.

Annual Report 2024
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35.

B B B ()
(d) E¥EkERE)

GRS HRENBERREXE S 2 B
B#E  UEERRAREESER - ARER
TERTEER T AZERRARNZBEHE
FH - TMRRATB R E B (LR RN R ) 57

Pl E TR ENEE TFEHRHRA YIS
BE XA A REHIRG B E) 2 fFE - ERAFI
TN EREHRER TS ERIZSRINEE
ERAEURBERRERBE[AREIA
T2z BOFRBE MR 2 P E @R

i — TN

EREE

AEEZEAERERDREASENFELE -
VA 7 B BRER Ak [ 3 K 2 LAt M) 2 40 B & FR R ) 2
HFREENBEBARDERKA

BRFHABREARE  AEEXGFHBIRMNIIR
MRkEEHE BRREALDR BITHRILEEE
LARLAMETS ©

AEBEARBERRBRARRAEARGEEDZ(BRE
P Ko feéff) o

AEBMEARBEEES  ETEREEN—REF
R—HEEARIFA - RITER - REMBRSEE
WMARARNRBER AEEER(BERARFERE)
AEENRARERESEGNERBRTEERERE
ETEEEREEEAKAREREAEBRR
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ARE M ERR MR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_MF+-A=+—HLEFE

35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 35. EXREHE(H)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing AEBRBERNBBEREERERNRR - BEAE
ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by LE RIBE T F R AR s AR5 R E: o (EFSFRIRE
total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debt less BRERRe IR EEYETE
cash and cash equivalents.
The Group’s gearing ratio, as calculated by dividing RZEBZWNF+ZA=1T—H TEENEEEE
the Group’s net debt by the Group’s total equity, as tl:t(&$’§l5’ﬂ,irn SFRER AR EE S AR
at 31 December 2024 is approximately 6% (2023: B)NEC%(ZZE_=F : TEMA) °
N/A).
The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as REEER - BEBELERNT
follows:
2024 2023
—EBoNEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBT T
Debt (%7 32,237 23,705
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BeMReEEY (11,837) (25,660)
Net debt BRFHE 20,400 (1,955)
Equity s 307,015 261,265
Net debt to equity ratio (note) B FRE R R (M 5T) 6.6% N/ATE A
Note: As at 31 December 2023, the Group was in net cash Bt RZEZ=F+A=1+—0  XEEEFRMAR
position and the gearing ratio is negative. &%Etbrﬁﬁﬁ
FEEIZEERERAT T _NFEFERE

228



229

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

WIN

ARE SRR T ot

for the year ended 31 December 2024

HE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

Creative China Holdings Limited
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36. BMEEBELENEEHER
FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
Amount
Amounts Amount due to
due to due to arelated Lease Bank
shareholders a director company liabilities borrowings Total
Ef-% B -
EHRRZE ES3R  BBLANE HERE RITER &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  AREfT  ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR
At1 January 2023 WNZZ-=5-F-H 29,891 5909 4,671 4,061 26,000 70,532
Financing cash flows BERENE (30,102) - (4,959) (2,175) (8.914) (46, 144)
Non-cash changes: LRy
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ EX2E25/2 211 8 207 4 - 508
Additions AE - - - 401 - 401
Interest expenses H8Hx - - 75 112 - 187
Early termination of leases RERIHE - - - (1,744) 624 (1,120
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=E+ZA=1-F
1 January 2024 k=2-mE-A-H - 59% - 659 17,710 24,364
Financing cash flows BERERE - - 9,751 (1,777) (2.21) 5703
Non-cash changes: HREEY
Fffect of foreign exchenge rate changes ~ EZ 2875/ - 143 - 15 - 158
Addtions AE - - - 3,167 - 3,167
Interest expenses HEEY - - 348 102 561 1011
At 31 December 2024 e T = - 6,138 10,099 2,166 16,000 34,408
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38.
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AR e SRR AT

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_MF+-A=+—HLEFE

COMMITMENTS 37. A&iE
The Group had the following commitments at the end REERRE R EG A TRE
of the reporting period:
2024 2023
—EBoNE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T
Commitment in respect of Serial Program/Film BREER EEEER
Production and Film Rights Investment, Concert BERERE  BERER
and Event Organisation and Artist Management TEEE AR A LK
segments, but not provided in the consolidated EE DB ESE - ERR
financial statements AV IEmAFTIRRE 41,760 46,990
EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 38. {EHIAREE

On 15 January 2025, the Group and relevant parties
entered into a series of termination agreements,
consisting of the Exclusive Technology Consultation
and Service Agreements (18 5% £ 1l 7% 78 A1 R 75 15
# ), the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements (% 1 &
## 4 [[), the Exclusive Option Agreements (38 K &
E AR, the Powers of Attorney (IX#Z+££) and
the Business Operating Agreements (3£ 7548 & 15 %)
to terminate the series of contractual arrangements
entered into by New Talent Media, the Contractual
Entities and the Registered Shareholders as defined
in the Announcement dated 15 January 2025 (the
“Announcement”) with effect from 15 January 2025.

Upon completion of the Reorganisation as mentioned
in the Announcement, the Contractual Entities
will continue to be controlled and operated by the
Company, and therefore continue to be consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of the report, the Contractual Entities
have completed deregistration of their permits in
relation to restricted businesses.

Reference is made to the Announcement. Unless
the context otherwise required, terms defined herein
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
Announcement.

R-ZZE-_AF—A+HA  AEEEBBARRETZ
— RPN - BRBREME ARG

BEERER  BRBE#RAR BEZFEE X
B2 Lxéfyfﬂi A+HARRIERR

/j-es-mm

XACBE EE
—hfF— H-I—ﬂEIE’J"ﬁt(FE/‘iJ)ETﬁE’\J
BRIZH -

ufﬂﬂﬂX%(E%iE/ﬁﬂﬁf =
— 37

RE& R %ﬂ%&ﬁiﬂ%ﬁﬂé BHNEBKEERAN
NEES R EE - YA ESESEAREAEEDN
*/:.\ﬁﬁk#ﬁi%

BEARSBEH ANERCDTHRHESE
RARYRT A & AL e

BRI 7548

XERBRIEI » NERPTFRE
qﬂﬁﬁﬁm%ﬂ*ﬁﬁﬂigﬁ% °

TEHARERERAR T ONFFERE
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Financial Summary
G2

A summary of the consolidated results and assets, AEEBRTHEMBRFENGEREREE - BF - #
liabilities, equity and non-controlling interests of the Group NI E &5 A
for the last five financial years is set out below:

Bk

Year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=+—HLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-FF —E-—F —E-—F —E-=F ZEZNE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AR%¥Tx

RESULTS B
Revenue Wz 45,664 59,307 152,688 184,796 151,143
Profit before taxation BR A5 A1 e 20,132 25,425 59,335 43,762 24,910
Taxation FRIE (76) (1,929) (10,338) (1,909) (684)
Profit for the year F R F 20,056 23,496 48,997 41,853 24,226
Attributable to: FEAE -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZEWN 20,003 23,561 49,077 43,854 24,352
Non-controlling interests FEIERAE A 53 (65) (80) (2,001) (126)

20,056 23,496 48,997 41,853 24,226

As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—ECTF T T -F —T=F ZEDNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT ARKETT ARBTT AR®ETR

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND ¥E - &K

NON-CONTROLLING IR

INTERESTS
Total assets BEMRE 223,075 244,485 340,734 363,502 410,856
Total liabilities BfEesE (155,675) (148,977) (163,017) (102,237) (103,841)
Net assets BEFE 67,400 95,508 177,717 261,265 307,015
Non-controlling interests FERE A T 94 155 (1,498) 508 647

Equity attributable to the ZIN/NCIEZ SN
owners of the Company JE(GHE 67,494 95,663 176,219 261,773 307,662

The above summary does not form a part of the FBEE W T ER AR RIERE M ISRE N —3 5 -
consolidated financial statements of the Company.
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